IN FACULTY OF ENGINEERING

Resource Allocation for SWIPT in Multi-Service Wireless Networks

Jalalodin Faghih Mohammadi Jalali

STUDENT NUMBER: 01700966

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Ir. Heidi Steendam

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Electrical Engineering (Electronic Circuits and Systems)

Academic year 2019-2020



IN FACULTY OF ENGINEERING

Resource Allocation for SWIPT in Multi-Service Wireless Networks

Jalalodin Faghih Mohammadi Jalali

STUDENT NUMBER: 01700966

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Ir. Heidi Steendam

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Electrical Engineering (Electronic Circuits and Systems)

© Jalal Jalali 2020 Ghent University Copyright in this work rests with the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.



Acknowledgments

After an intensive year, I put the finishing touches on this Master's thesis. I have been able to discover new elements in various areas of the beautiful world of telecommunication. For this, I would like to sincerely thank a number of people who have supported me during this long journey.

First of all, I want to thank my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Ir. Heidi Steendam, for giving me the opportunity to work on this topic for my thesis. Her trust, guidance, and support helped me to successfully complete it. I was fortunate for her supervision, especially her patience, understanding, and availability for discussing how to write scientific papers.

In addition, I express my gratitude to many friends and colleagues for our fruitful discussions and friendship. Among them, my special appreciation goes to my best friend Ata for his comments and invaluable knowledge, which reaped us significant research outputs. I am so lucky and honored to have amazing friends, including Pandidan, Sirus, Khasmakhu, Mamadu, Hani, Arakani, Mahboubeh, Keyvan, and Dennis, who gave me crucial feedback. Tinus, Wim, Jacques, and Junior count among those amazing friends whose help and concern I will always remember.

Finally, I would like to express my most profound gratefulness to my beloved parents, Afsaneh and Nouri, who are always sources of strength and perseverance. I also want to thank my spiritual mother, Nancy, for being part of my life, giving me guidance and offering me help far from my home country. Lastly, I would like to thank my partner, Mary Grace, for her unconditional trust, care, admiration, and love.

Jalal Jalali June 2020

Permission to Use Content

The author grants permission for this Master's thesis to be used for consultation and for parts of it to be copied for personal use. For all other uses, however, the copyright must be respected, particularly with regard to the obligation to explicitly credit the source when quoting the results.

> Jalal Jalali June 2020

Resource Allocation for SWIPT in Multi-Service Wireless Networks

by

Jalal JALALI

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Electrical Engineering

Academic year 2019-2020

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Ir. Heidi STEENDAM Faculty of Engineering and Architecture Ghent University

Department of Telecommunications and Information Processing Chairman: Prof. Dr. Ir. Joris WALRAEVENS

Summary

The novel resource allocation for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) is presented as a means of not only helping to communicate and access information with increasing efficiency in the next generation of mobile data networks, but also contributing to minimizing a network's overall power consumption by providing a green energy source. First, a unique architecture is proposed that harvests energy from an access point (AP) without the receiver needing a splitter. In the proposed system model, a portion of the spectrum is used for information decoding (ID) while the remaining portion is exploited for energy harvesting (EH) in an orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) network. To investigate the performance gain, an optimization problem is formulated that maximizes the harvested energy of a multi-user single-cell OFDMA downlink (DL) network with SWIPT and also satisfies a minimum data-rate requirement for all users. A locally optimal solution for the underlying problem, which is essentially non-convex due to the coupling of the integer variable, is obtained by using optimization tools. Second, the proposed system model is improved in order to investigate the resource allocation problem of needing to maximize throughput based on the separated receiver architecture in an OFDMA multi-user multi-cell system that uses SWIPT. The resulting problem, which jointly optimizes the subcarrier assignment and power allocation, is a mixed-integer non-linear problem (MINLP) that is difficult to solve. Third, a state-of-the-art harvesting technique at the receiver that is based on receiver antenna selection with a co-located architecture is explored to optimize the energy efficiency (EE) of a SWIPT-enabled multi-cell multi-user OFDMA network. This is referred to as a "generalized antenna-switching technique". Extensive simulation demonstrates the superiority of the proposed methodologies and presents interesting results.

Keywords

D.C. programming, energy efficiency, energy harvesting, green communication, majorization minimization, MINLP, multi-user communication, non-convex optimization, OFDMA, resource allocation, SWIPT, throughput.

Contents

List of Figures			x۱	xvii	
\mathbf{A}	bbre	viation	IS	x	ix
O]	pera	tors an	d Symbols	x	xi
1	Inti	roducti	ion		1
	1.1	The A	rchitecture of an RF Energy Harvesting Network		2
	1.2	Energ	y Harvesting Modes		4
		1.2.1	WPT		5
		1.2.2	WPCN		7
		1.2.3	WPBC		8
		1.2.4	SWIPT	•	10
	1.3	A SW	IPT Literature Review	•	13
		1.3.1	Multi-Carrier SWIPT Systems	•	13
		1.3.2	SWIPT in Cognitive Radio Networks		15
		1.3.3	Cooperative Relaying in SWIPT Networks		16
		1.3.4	Multiple Antenna Communication in SWIPT Systems	•	17
	1.4	Thesis	Overview and Contributions		18

2	Optimization Techniques		23
	2.1	Convex Analysis	23
		2.1.1 Definitions	23
	2.2	Duality Theorem	24
		2.2.1 Weak Duality and Duality Gap	25
		2.2.2 Strong Duality and Slater condition	25
	2.3	Abstract Lagrangian Duality	26
	2.4	Complementary Slackness and KKT Optimality Conditions	27
	2.5	Interior-Point Methods	28
	2.6	MM Approach and D.C. Programming	28
	2.7	Optimization Packages	30
3	\mathbf{SW}	IPT in Single Small-Cell Networks	33
	3.1	System Model	35
	3.2	Optimization Problem Formulation	37
	3.3	Solution to the Optimization Problem	38
		3.3.1 Joint Power Allocation and Subcarrier Assignment Algorithm	38
	3.4	Complexity Analysis	43
	3.5	Simulation Results	43
		3.5.1 Total Harvested Energy versus the Maximum Transmit Power	44
		3.5.2 Average Harvested Energy versus Distance	45
		3.5.3 Average Harvested Energy versus Number of Iterations	46
		3.5.4 Harvested Energy versus Maximum Transmit Power at Different Target Data-rates	48
	3.6	Summary	48

4	SW	IPT in Multi-Cell Networks	
	4.1	System Model	53
	4.2	Optimization Problem Formulation	57
	4.3	Solution to the Optimization Problem	58
	4.4	Computational Complexity	62
	4.5 Low Complexity Algorithm Design (Lower Bound)		
		4.5.1 Low Complexity Power Control and Subcarrier Assignment	63
	4.6	Simulation Results	67
		4.6.1 Average Sum Data-rate versus Minimum Data-rate Requirement	68
		4.6.2 Average Sum Data-rate versus Maximum Transmit Power	69
		4.6.3 Average Sum Data-rate Versus Number of Iterations	70
		4.6.4 Average Sum Data-rate versus Number of Cells	71
	4.7	Summary	72
5	Gen	neralized Antenna Switching Technique in SWIPT	75
	5.1	System Model	77
	5.2	Optimization Problem Formulation	82
	5.3	Solution to the Optimization Problem	84
		5.3.1 A. Joint SBS-subcarrier Assignment and Power Allocation	85
		5.3.2 B. Antenna selection	89
	5.4	Complexity Analysis	91
	5.5	Simulation Results	92
		5.5.1 Convergence Speed	94
		5.5.2 Energy Efficiency versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power	94

		5.5.3	Energy Efficiency versus Minimum Data-rate Requirement	96
		5.5.4	Energy Efficiency versus Distance	97
		5.5.5	Average System Throughput versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power .	98
		5.5.6	Average Harvested Power versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power	99
	5.6	Summ	ary	100
6	Con	clusio	n and Future Work	101
	6.1	Conclu	nsion	101
	6.2	Future	Work	102
Bi	bliog	graphy		107

List of Figures

1.1	The block diagram of an energy harvesting device [10].	4
1.2	The WPT system model.	6
1.3	The WPCN system model.	7
1.4	The WPBC system model, where the backscatter modulation on a tag is used to reflect and modulate the incoming RF signal in order to communicate with a reader (e.g., a wireless router).	9
1.5	The separated SWIPT system model.	11
1.6	The co-located SWIPT system model	11
1.7	Integrated receiver architecture designs for SWIPT.	12
3.1	SWIPT in a DL of a co-located multi-user small single-cell OFDMA network	35
3.2	Total harvested energy versus the maximum transmit power	44
3.3	Average harvested energy versus distance.	46
3.4	Average harvested energy versus number of iterations.	47
3.5	Harvested energy versus sum transmit power at different target data-rates	47
4.1	SWIPT in a DL of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with a separated receiver architecture.	54
4.2	SWIPT in a DL of an OFDMA network consisting of $J = 2$ small cells, where there is one user of each type in each cell, i.e., $\mathcal{K}_1^{ID} = \mathcal{K}_2^{ID} = \mathcal{K}_1^{EH} = \mathcal{K}_2^{EH} = 1$.	56

4.3	Average sum data-rate versus minimum data-rate requirement	68
4.4	Average sum data-rate versus maximum transmit power	69
4.5	Average sum data-rate versus number of iteration under different initialization of the power	70
4.6	Average sum data-rate versus number of iteration under different number of sub- carriers.	71
4.7	Average sum data-rate versus number of cells	72
5.1	Antenna selection architecture.	76
5.2	SWIPT in a DL of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with generalized AS receivers.	79
5.3	SWIPT in a DL of an OFDMA network consisting of $J = 2$ small cells, where there is one user in the intersection of the two cells, i.e., $\mathcal{K}_1 = 1$. The user has for antennas; two of which are employed four ID and the rest for EH. Also, the user is served in the first cell and receives interference from the second cell	81
5.4	Convergence speed	94
5.5	Energy efficiency versus maximum allowed transmit power.	95
5.6	Energy efficiency versus minimum data-rate requirement	96
5.7	Energy efficiency versus distance	97
5.8	Average system throughput versus maximum allowed transmit power	98
5.9	Average harvested power versus maximum allowed transmit power	99

JFMJ

xviii

Abbreviations

- 5G Fifth Generation
- 6G Sixth Generation
- ABCS Ambient Backscatter Communication System
- AF Amplify-and-Forward
- AP Access Point
- AS Antenna Switching
- AWGN Additive White Gaussian Noise
- BS Base Station
- CRN Cognitive Radio Network
- CSI Channel State Information
- D.C. Difference of Two Convex Functions
- D2D Device-to-Device
- DC Direct Current
- DF Decode-and-Forward
- DL Downlink
- EE Energy Efficiency
- EH Energy Harvesting
- GI Guard Interval
- ICT Information and Communication Technology
- ID Information Decoding
- IFFT Inverse Fast Fourier Transform
- IoT Internet of Things
- ISI Inter-Symbol Interference
- KKT Karush-Kuhn-Tucker
- LoS Line of Sight
- LTE Long Term Evolution
- MEC Mobile Edge Computing

MILP	Mixed Integer Linear Programming
MIMO	Multiple-Input Multiple-Output
MINLP	Mixed Integer Non-Linear Programming
MISO	Multiple-Input Single-Output
MM	Majorization Minimization
NOMA	Non-Orthogonal Multiple Access
OFDM	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing
OFDMA	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiple Access
\mathbf{PS}	Power Switching
QoS	Quality of Service
RF	Radio Frequency
RFID	RF Identification
SBS	Small Base Station
SE	Spectral Efficiency
SISO	Single-Input Single-Output
SNIR	Signal-to-Interference plus Noise Ratio
SNR	Signal-to-Noise Ratio
SWIPT	Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer
SDMA	Spatial Division Multiple Access
TDMA	Time Division Multiple Access
TS	Time Switching
UAV	Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles
UE	User Equipment
UL	Uplink
WDT	Wireless Data Transfer
WPBC	Wirelessly Powered Backscatter Communication
WPCN	Wirelessly Powered Communication Network
WPT	Wireless Power Transfer
WSN	Wireless Sensor Network

Operators and Symbols

Operators

$ \mathcal{A} $	Cardinality of set \mathcal{A}
x	Absolute value norm of x
$[x]^+$	$\max\{0,x\}$
$[x]^{-1}$	Matrix inverse
$[x]^T$	Matrix transpose
$(\cdot)^{(t)}$	Value of a variable under the t^{th} iteration
$f(\cdot):\mathcal{A} ightarrow\mathcal{B}$	f is a function from set \mathcal{A} into \mathcal{B}
$\inf f$	Infimum of function f
$\sup f$	Supremum of function f
$\min f$	Minimum of function f
$\max f$	Maximum of function f
∇f	Gradient of function f
$\mathcal{L}(\cdot)$	Lagrangian function
$\mathcal{D}(\cdot)$	Dual function
\sum	Summation operator
$\mathcal{CN}(\mu,\sigma^2)$	Circularly symmetric Gaussian distribution with mean μ and variance σ^2

Symbols

p^*	Primal optimal value
d^*	Dual optimal value
${\mathscr B}$	Bandwidth
\mathcal{N}	Number or subcarriers
\mathcal{K}	Number or users in the network
\mathcal{J}	Number or cells in the network
h	Downlink channel gain for the wireless information transfer
g	Downlink channel gain for the wireless information transfer
a	Binary subcarrier indicators
x	Binary antenna selection indicators
EH	Amount of the harvested energy
R	Amount of the data-rate
η	Amount of the energy efficiency
ϵ	Power conversion efficiency of an energy harvesting device
κ	Power amplifier efficiency
σ^2	Noise power
p_{max}	Maximum transmit power
R_{min}	Minimum data-rate requirement
EH_{min}	Minimum harvested energy requirement

"Invention is the most important product of man's creative brain. The ultimate purpose is the complete mastery of mind over the material world, the harnessing of human nature to human needs."

– Nikola Tesla

Introduction

Wireless communication is a broad and dynamic field that is enjoying the rapid development of new technologies needed to cope with the massive growth in the number of wireless communication devices and many practical applications. In the past few decades, wireless networks and communication devices have become an indispensable part of modern life. The next generation of wireless networks (called "fifth generation" (5G) by the standardization community) is designed to communicate and access information more efficiently. 5G is being deployed to provide high data-rates for mobile users, massive internet of things (IoT) applications, device-to-device (D2D) communications, and low latency or extreme real-time tactile communications with high availability based on real-time immediate interactions. High data-rate access is extremely important, but the huge amount of power consumed by modern communication applications and networks is a major factor in global warming. This has inspired the notion of green and sustainable radio communication. New wireless ecosystems and data networks supporting higher system throughput with greater energy efficiency are needed. At the same time, they must provide a variety of services such as wireless power transfer, mobile node positioning, cooperative sensing of the surrounding environment, and distributed processing of wireless audio and video signals. In this regard, a series of procedures, specifications, requirements, and constraints concerning the delivery of each of these services is accomplished through gradual design. At best, this leads to ad-hoc treatment of just one of the many services because the lack of structure causes the wireless infrastructure to be poorly managed. In contrast, a unique shared infrastructure provides plenty of room to holistically analyze and more systematically design the complete wireless ecosystem and optimize a multi-service wireless network. This systematic approach to multi-service wireless networks is called "X-service design". In it, all the services and (computational and radio) resources are optimized adaptively and controlled cooperatively.

Today's cellular networks with approximately 6 million macro-cells worldwide consume a peak rate of almost 12 billion watts – the majority of the world's wireless information and communication technology (ICT) power consumption [1]. How can we reduce this enormous consumption of power? By remembering Nikola Tesla's late-nineteenth-century dream of a "wirelessly powered world". Radio signals convey power and can potentially also be used to deliver energy to remote devices. Tesla's seemingly far-fetched idea has recently triggered interest in wireless power transfer (WPT), which when coupled with information transfer is referred to as simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) [2]. WPT can be a by-product of wireless data transfer (WDT) networks in which devices capture ambient power, and thus contribute to minimizing a network's overall power consumption using green energy. This partially responds to the urgent question, although it is far from an ideal answer. If a certain quality of power transfer must be secured, base stations (BSs) can play an active role in power delivery and reserve part or all of their resources for this specific objective of reducing a network's overall power consumption. This is one example of positioning services [3].

Let's think for a moment of a hypothetical meeting of the minds between Claude Shannon, the father of information theory, and Nikola Tesla. Tesla tried to build a circuit to deliver power to a load wirelessly, Shannon wanted to use such a circuit just for sending information [4]. Path loss, energy harvester sensitivities that require a significant signal level, and the limits of radio transmit power mean that WPT can be effective only over distances like those found in ultradense networks [5]. Thus, network densification could be a point of convergence for positioning, WPT, and WDT networks – with the ultimate goal that could be described as "zero RF power" SWIPT-enabled networks. This is where Shannon meets Tesla.

1.1 The Architecture of an RF Energy Harvesting Network

Wireless communication systems equipped with energy harvesting (EH) receivers have increasingly been attracting attention [6]. A radio frequency (RF) EH device has a sustainable power supply from a radio environment that provides harvestable energy from RF signals for information processing and transmission. A practical example of this is wireless sensor networks (WSNs), in which ambient energy is converted to electrical energy via an EH device – not only to enable a long period of operation in WSNs but also as an alternative to replacing the battery [7]. However, traditional EH devices may not be appropriate for many applications due to their complex mechanical constraints such as form factor and cost, and they may not always be available in indoor environments. Moreover, conventional EH approaches usually depend on renewable energy sources like solar, tide, wind, thermal, geothermal, and vibrations, which are usually unpredictable and hard to control [8]. Hence, proactive WPT as an EH method that only needs an RF EH circuit and has low cost and small form factor should be considered when studying how to jointly design WPT and WDT in a SWIPT-enabled network [9, 10].

In fact, WPT presents a viable solution for facilitating sustainable communication networks serving energy-limited communication devices in which wireless devices can communicate through electromagnetic waves in the RF band. In an RF energy harvesting mode, the range from 3kHz to as high as 300GHz is designated for radio signals to carry energy as electromagnetic radiation. Thus, by recalling that the RF signals carry both information and energy, RF energy radiated by the transmitter(s) can be recycled at the receivers to prolong the network's lifetime [11].

In order to be able to harvest energy from an RF source, a general network architecture aided with a means of harvesting modules must be present. Figure (1.1), which was adapted directly from [12], illustrates the block diagram of a network equipped with an RF EH device. As can be seen in figure (1.1a), the application module provides the data to be processed by a low-power microcontroller, while the low-power transceiver is employed to either transmit the processed information or to receive data for further processing. The next major component in figure (1.1a) is the RF energy harvester that collects RF signals and converts them into electricity. The converted signal then goes to a power management module, which either stores the electricity obtained from the RF energy harvester in an energy storage device, such as a rechargeable battery, thus helping the users to save excess energy for future use (*harvest-store-use* mode), or uses it directly to transmit information without saving the energy (*harvest-user* mode) [13].

Figure (1.1b) illustrates an RF harvester device with input from an RF antenna, an impedance matching circuit, a voltage multiplier, and a capacitor to create the output. It is worth mentioning that an RF energy harvester typically operates over a range of frequencies: The RF antenna that provides input to an RF EH unit can be designed to work on either single or multiple frequency bands, facilitating the energy harvesting from single or multiple sources at the same time. To maximize the power transferred from the antenna to the voltage multiplier, an impedance matching in the form of a resonator circuit operating at the designed frequency, is utilized. Figure (1.1b) shows the diodes of the rectifying circuit that are the main component of the voltage multiplier that converts RF signals into direct current (DC) voltage levels that can be used to load an electronic circuit, where the capacitor ensures that the energy generated is smoothly delivered to the load [14, 15, 16, 17]. Since RF signals carry both energy and information, an RF



(a) General network architecture for energy harvesting



(b) RF energy harvester

Figure 1.1: The block diagram of an energy harvesting device [10].

energy harvesting device like that shown in figure (1.1), could theoretically also simultaneously perform information decoding from the same RF signal input using the same antenna or antenna array. This concept has been defined as SWIPT.

1.2 Energy Harvesting Modes

Future generation wireless networks not only have limited spectrum resources but also must operate with low-power batteries. Recently, energy-efficient communication systems, or "green radios", have been increasingly attracting attention from the research community due to their ability to improve system performance while simultaneously diminishing the energy consumption of the communication devices [18]. Reducing wireless network energy consumption is not only essential for prolonging battery lives but also crucial for the environment.

Although ICT is to blame for more than 2 percent of CO_2 emissions worldwide, it also presents

solutions for drastically diminishing the remaining 98 percent of CO_2 emissions [19]. To significantly minimize ICTs' carbon footprint and environmental impact, we need new and efficient communication techniques [20]. In recent literature, energy efficiency (EE), which measures the number of bits communicated per unit of energy consumed (bits/joules delivered to the receivers), has emerged as the performance metric to evaluate a communication system's energy consumption and guarantee green communication [21, 22]. However, today's galloping development of wireless communication technologies is increasing energy consumption and carbon emissions full tilt, further aggravating environmental concerns. According to [23], the percentage of global carbon emissions due to ICTs is estimated to reach 5 percent by the end of 2020, and the situation

In this regard, networks that harvest energy can definitely decrease the carbon consumption of high data-rate wireless systems by exploiting energy from the environment [24]. In communication devices, energy harvested from RF signals is a random parameter that depends on the channel fading coefficients using circuitry like that discussed in the previous section [4, 25]. Wireless communication energy harvesting by means of an RF EH device can be explored in a variety of ways, among which, the three most common configurations – WPT, WPCN, WPBC, and SWIPT – will be discussed below.

will only be exacerbated in coming years with the arrival of beyond 5G- and sixth generation

1.2.1 WPT

(6G)-enabled networks.

As shown in figure (1.2) in this model, RF energy is transferred in the downlink (DL) direction. A WPT-enabled network includes a transmitter connected to the main power system, such as a base station (BS) or an access point (AP), that supplies power to an electrical component (or a portion of a circuit that consumes electrical power) without any wired interconnections. The WPT-enabled network uses electromagnetic waves in the surrounding environment that can be obtained from *near-field* (non-radiative) or *far-field* (radiative) regions to power electrical components [26]. In general, near-field techniques do not support the mobility of an energy harvesting device. Therefore, it is preferable to transfer information through a far-field RF band in which the distance is much greater than the diameter of the transmit antenna, instead of using methods such as inductive coupling, capacitive coupling, or magnetic resonant coupling for a near-field that corresponds to the area of just one wavelength of the transmitting antenna [27].

WPT-enabled RF signals are anticipated to engender lots of applications and opportunities by providing cost-efficient, predictable, dedicated, on-demand, perpetual, and reliable energy supplies to energy-constrained wireless networks, where no wires, contacts, or batteries are needed. Numerous research activities are laying the groundwork for the future of wireless networking that transcends conventional communication-centric transmission. For instance, the authors in [25]



Figure 1.2: The WPT system model.

proposed a randomly deployed power-beacon-based hybrid cellular network that wirelessly powers mobile users as they recharge their devices. In [28], the total outage probability of an ad-hoc network overlaid with power-beacon was analyzed. The authors employed the stochastic geometry method in a harvest-store-use mode to study network performance in terms of the power and channel outage probability. In [29], multi-user multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) WPT was considered with a new channel learning method that requires only one feedback bit from each EH receiver to the power transmitter per feedback interval. The power transmitter uses the feedback information to coordinate the transmit beamforming in subsequent training intervals and concurrently obtains updated estimates of the MIMO channels to different EH users by solving an optimization problem. Building on that, [30] presented an adaptive directional WPT methodology for prolonging the lifetime of a WSN by offering a sustainable power supply to the distributed sensor nodes. Although today's wireless networks were designed solely for communication purposes, with their adoption of new technologies, they are evolving toward 6G. Nonetheless, WPT development is still in its infancy and has not even entered its first generation: No single standard has yet been released on far-field WPT. The WPT framework will be particularly suitable for future wireless networks with ubiquitous and autonomous low-power and energy-limited devices, massive IoT connections, and D2D communications.

6

1.2.2 WPCN

Wirelessly powered communication networking (WPCN) is a new networking paradigm in which batteries for wireless communication devices can be remotely provisioned through microwave WPT technology. Figure (1.3) shows WPCN approach of transferring energy in the downlink (DL) direction while information is communicated in the uplink (UL) direction. The receiver is a low-power device that harvests energy in the DL, and then uses the harvested energy to transfer data in the UL. WPCN can effectively reduce cost and enhance communication performance by eliminating the battery charge limit. In addition, WPCN enjoys full control over its power transfer: Transmit power waveforms can be adjusted to provide a permanent energy supply under varying physical conditions and service requirements [31].

WPCN is intended to strike a balance between energy supply limitations and data transmission in order to optimize communication network performance. WPCN could be suitable for a variety of low-power applications (up to several milliwatts) such as wireless sensor WSNs, IoT, and RF Identification (RFID) networks. WPCN enables low-power applications to operate longer while actively transmitting at much larger data-rates and from a greater distance than conventional backscatter-based communications [32].



Figure 1.3: The WPCN system model.

WPCNs promise to significantly enhance performance, but building an efficient WPCN is challenging. In [33], the authors considered a hybrid AP based on the harvest-store-use mode with a constant power supply coordinating the wireless energy transmissions in the DL direction to a set of distributed users that have no other energy sources. Once the users have havested enough energy, they send their independent information signals to the hybrid AP in the UL direction using time-division-multiple-access (TDMA). Because of WPCN's distance-dependent signal attenuation in both the DL WPT and the UL WDT, a user who is far from the hybrid AP receives less wireless energy than a user who is closer to the DL communication. In order to have reliable information transmission, the distant user must transmit more power in the UL direction. This phenomenon is known as the *doubly near-far* problem. [34] studied an optimal resource allocation policy in which WPCN had simultaneous WPT in the DL and WDT in the UL. They addressed the doubly near-far problem in which the hybrid AP operates in full-duplex. The authors in [35] considered multiple-input single-output (MISO) WPCN, in which the singleantenna users harvest energy from a multi-antenna AP in DL direction and then retransmit information to the AP in the UL direction – using the TDMA or the spatial division multiple access (SDMA) technique. With multiple antennas, the AP can utilize energy beamforming in the DL and employ the multiplexing-gain or receive beamforming-gain in the UL direction [36]. In addition to all these techniques in various directions of research, WPCNs continue to present new research problems for future applications.

1.2.3 WPBC

Although WPT and WPCN offer many advantages, these EH schemes still face critical limitations when adopted in low-power low-cost networks, such as WSN, RFID, IoT, and D2D applications. On one hand, in WPTs, users only harvest energy with no RF data transmission or reception, whereas in WPCNs, users may need lots of time to harvest the RF energy needed for data transmission, which limits the system's performance. To overcome these deficiencies, wirelessly powered backscatter communication (WPBC) networks, also known as ambient backscatter communication systems (ABCSs), are proposed as an alternative that can significantly improve network performance. This innovative technique facilitates ubiquitous communication: Devices can interact among themselves at unprecedented scales and in previously inaccessible locations by using existing ambient RF signals, rather than generating their own radio waves [37]. In WPBCs, energy is transferred to a tag in the DL direction, and information is transferred to a reader in the UL direction, as shown in figure (1.4). More specifically, the information on a tag (a tagged object) is communicated to a nearby reader (e.g., an RFID reader) via backscatter modulation (tag-to-reader UL). Since tags do not require oscillators to generate carrier signals and do not have any dedicated power infrastructure, backscatter communications – a passive method of communication – benefit from much less power consumption than conventional radio communications.



Figure 1.4: The WPBC system model, where the backscatter modulation on a tag is used to reflect and modulate the incoming RF signal in order to communicate with a reader (e.g., a wireless router).

Quite a lot of research has been conducted on the topic of WPBC networks. In [38], optimal resource allocation for the WPBC is investigated, where energy-constrained users harvest energy from RF signals transmitted by a multi-antenna source to power their future active wireless information backscatter transmission to an AP. A theoretical trade-off in WPBC networks – between the reliability of the backscatter communication and the harvested energy at the tag, measured in terms of signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) at the reader – was studied in [39]. The authors in [40] proposed a novel network architecture that enables D2D communication to be modeled as a WPBC. In [41], the authors aimed to integrate the WPBC and RFIDs to study perceptions of power and spectral efficiency with respect to energy constraints. They did this by deriving the diversity-multiplexing trade-off for RFID MIMO channels. Notwithstanding the progress gained through implementing WPBC networks, diverse issues such as security, reliability, the data-rate of communications, and the development of a global standard still need to be addressed. That is beyond the scope of this thesis.

1.2.4 SWIPT

Because RF signals can simultaneously carry information and energy, an intriguing new research domain has recently developed from multiple WPT technologies. What is called a simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) is a promising technique for wireless communication systems [8]. The SWIPT paradigm enables energy-constrained wireless user equipments (UEs) to harvest energy and process the information simultaneously by utilizing RF signals transmitted from a BS, mobile BS (e.g., a drone), or AP. In this model, energy and information signals are simultaneously transferred in the DL direction from one or multiple BSs or APs to one or multiple receivers for simultaneous information decoding (ID) and energy harvesting (EH). The ideal receiver for enabling SWIPT has circuitry to perform ID and EH at the same time [2], rather than two dissimilar types of circuitry to perform EH and ID separately at the receiver [42].

It is also worth noting that performing EH and ID operations at the same time does not necessarily mean that these operations are carried out on the same received signal: That is practically impossible since the information content of the RF domain signals would be entirely destroyed by harvesting energy on the signals. Furthermore, a single antenna receiver may not be able to create a reliable energy supply due to its limited resources for collecting energy. Enabling SWIPT requires using separate antennas for both the EH and ID receivers, or splitting the received RF signal into two separate parts, one for EH and the other for ID operations, by using a *splitter*.

EH and ID receivers for enabling SWIPT can be classified into two broad architectural categories: separated or co-located receiver. In a separated architecture, as shown in figure (1.5), the EH and ID receivers are two distinct devices with separate antennas that experience different channels from the transmitter. The EH receiver is a low-power device capable of harvesting energy and the ID receiver is only able to process data. Since the ability to harvest energy deteriorates with distance, EH receivers ought to be closer to the BS or AP than ID receivers (which have to be spatially separated). This explains why an inner radius and outer radius are used to distinguish between EH and ID receivers in figure (1.5). On the other hand, with co-located SWIPT architecture, each receiver gets identical channels from the transmitter and is a low-power device that can perform EH and ID at the same time, as illustrated in figure (1.6).

Three practical approaches to designing co-located receiver architecture for SWIPT are time switching (TS), power splitting (PS), and antenna switching (AS). The EH and ID receivers share the same antennas to realize the co-located receiver architecture, as shown in figure (1.7). The receiver in the TS approach in figure (1.7b) includes an EH module, an ID module, and a switch to periodically adjust the receiving antenna for particular operations. The receiver switches between EH and ID modes based on a pre-defined, but optimizable, time factor or TS sequence. The TS approach necessitates careful information/energy scheduling and accurate time perception. In the PS approach in figure (1.7c), the receiver divides the received signal into two streams of different power levels for EH and ID operations based on an optimizable PS ratio.



Figure 1.5: The separated SWIPT system model.



Figure 1.6: The co-located SWIPT system model.



(a) Separated receiver architecture.



(b) Time switching (TS) approach to realize co-located SWIPT architecture.



(c) Power splitting (PS) approach to realize co-located SWIPT architecture.



(d) Antenna switching (AS) approach to realize co-located SWIPT architecture.

Figure 1.7: Integrated receiver architecture designs for SWIPT.
Finally, figure (1.7d) shows how the receiver is equipped with independent antennas for EH and ID operations in the antenna switching (AS) approach to enable SWIPT by means of a low complexity AS algorithm. In general, an antenna array is configured at the receiver end to take advantage of spatial multiplexing which divides the antennas into two subsets for EH and ID operations. One subset of antennas operates on the EH mode while the rest executes the ID operation. It should be stressed that the AS approach is somewhat easier and more suitable for practical SWIPT architecture designs than the TS and PS approaches [43]. In addition, the AS approach can be similarly adopted to optimize the separated receiver architecture as shown in figure (1.7a) [44].

1.3 A SWIPT Literature Review

In this section, we review some of the relevant work in literature on SWIPT, including multicarrier SWIPT systems, SWIPT in cognitive radio networks, cooperative relaying in SWIPT networks, and multiple antenna communication in SWIPT systems. All the application areas associated with SWIPT apply the far-field WPT technique for transferring power within communication systems.

1.3.1 Multi-Carrier SWIPT Systems

The basic idea of multi-carrier modulation is to divide the transmitted bitstream into several smaller blocks, each containing the original bitstream, that are sent over many different subcarriers. Under ideal propagation conditions, the subcarriers are orthogonal. In order to alleviate the effect of inter-symbol interference (ISI) on each subcarrier, each subcarrier should have a bandwidth lower than the channel coherence bandwidth in a multi-carrier network. Orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) is one of the well-established, discrete implementations of a multi-carrier scheme for high data-rate wireless communications that is embraced in various standards such as IEEE 802.11a/g/n, IEEE 802.15 ultrawideband, WiMAX, and 3GPP-Long Term Evolution (LTE). This stimulated us to study how SWIPT can manage high date-rate interference-free communication in multi-carrier-based systems.

In this regard, [4] investigated SWIPT over a single-user OFDM channel in order to obtain the optimal trade-off between the achievable data-rate and the transferred power given a specific total available power. The authors studied a power allocation algorithm design assuming that the receiver is capable of using one received signal to simultaneously perform EH and ID operations. A heuristic algorithm was proposed in [45] in a study of resource allocation policies for maximizing the harvested energy for a single user in an OFDM SWIPT system. In [46], the EE optimization problem for OFDM-based 5G wireless networks with SWIPT was studied, with subcarrier and power allocation jointly optimized to maximize the system EE for single-user and multi-user cases using the Dinkelbach iterative and the Lagrange dual methods. The authors in [47] investigated the sum data-rate maximization problem in a multi-user OFDM system with SWIPT capability that allows the user to either perform an ID operation when it is active (served by the transmitter) or to be in an EH mode when it is idle – but not simultaneously. In order to realize SWIPT in a broadband system with transmit beamforming and PS-receiver architecture, [48] presented a novel strategy for designing power control algorithms for both single-user and multi-user OFDM systems: These exploit channel diversity to concurrently enhance throughput and WPT efficiency in DL and UL directions with variable and fixed coding rates. In [49], the weighted sum datarate optimization problem was studied taking into account TS and PS approaches in a co-located architecture. In [49], the optimal design for SWIPT in DL OFDM systems was investigated with users performing EH and ID operations on the same signals received from a fixed AP. Studying a system model very similar to that in [49], the authors of [50] sought to minimize the fraction of all users' outage when constrained by both minimum harvest energy and total transmit power.

Two types of multiple access schemes – time division multiple access (TDMA) and orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) – are studied for transmitting information in SWIPT networks in particular. TDMA permits several users to share the same frequency channel by dividing the signal into different non-overlapping time slots. Since TDMA occupies the entire available bandwidth, ISI mitigation techniques are required to handle interference. On the other hand, OFDMA technology is a promising solution for effectively dividing the available bandwidth into orthogonal sub-channels so they can be flexibly allocated among existing users. Although in OFDMA based networks, "intra-cell" interference does not exist, "inter-cell" interference arising from neighboring cells deteriorates the OFDMA networks' overall performance. In this respect, resource allocation is highly significant in TDMA/OFDMA-based SWIPT cellular wireless networks: It mitigates the effect of interference with respect to limited bandwidth, stringent power constraints, and the growing demand for wireless communication services. In [49], both TDMA and OFDMA were examined for information transmission. For TDMA-based information transmission, each user applies TS so that the ID operation is used throughout the user's scheduled information time slot and the EH operation is applied in all other time slots. For the OFDMA-based transmission strategy, authors assumed that the PS approach was employed at each receiver with all subcarriers sharing the same PS ratio at each receiver. These transmission scenarios were employed to address the problem of maximizing the weighted sum data-rate for all users by varying the power allocation in time and/or frequency and also the TS/PS ratios, subject to satisfying a maximum transmit power allowance and a minimum harvested energy constraint for each user. Following Dinkelbach's method, the authors in [51] investigated the secrecy EE maximization problem by proposing power allocation and PS optimization algorithms in an OFDMA SWIPT network with two users, where each user uses the PS receiver approach to enable SWIPT. The resource allocation algorithm design for EE optimization was studied in [52], in which an EE maximization problem jointly optimizes subcarrier and power allocation as well as the PS ratios of PS hybrid receivers in an OFDMA system with SWIPT. The underlying problem in [52], which can be solved iteratively using the Dinkelback algorithm, was expressed as a non-convex optimization problem that had to take into account the maximum transmit power, the receivers' minimum amount of EH power, and the minimum data-rate requirements of both delay constrained services and the network. Multi-carrier SWIPT is flourishing, with many exciting research directions yet to be explored.

1.3.2 SWIPT in Cognitive Radio Networks

Radio spectrum underutilization results from conventional spectrum allocation with a cognitive radio network (CRN) introduced to enable highly reliable and efficient opportunistic spectrum access while increasing the number of wireless devices. CRN allows secondary users to operate in the frequency bands allocated to primary users, as long as they cause no harmful uncontrollable interference to primary users [53]. OFDMA technology combined with a CRN can help allocate radio resources to secondary users more efficiently because it supports gained spectrum allocation by dividing the entire bandwidth into a set of subcarriers. Two different types of cognitive radio based on spectrum-sensing and full-coordination are recognized in the literature – spectralsensing to identify the channels in the radio frequency spectrum and full-coordination to assess all the attributes that a wireless network or node can be aware of during the communication process. A CRN is subdivided into two main architectural designs: infrastructure-based and infrastructure-less. In an infrastructure-based CRN, every unlicensed user transmits their data or routing parameters through a central BS, AP, or a relay, while in an infrastructure-less CRN, unlicensed users communicate with each other directly using the existing communication protocols (e.g., in a peer-to-peer fashion) that require no central entity. The combination of infrastructurebased and infrastructure-less architectures is called a "hybrid" CRN.

In order to achieve both spectrum (spectral) efficiency (SE) and EE via dynamic spectrum access in CRN, secondary users in a CRN can be accompanied by the RF EH capability, as has been described very well in [54]. Focusing on the trade-off between spectrum sensing, data transmission, and RF energy harvesting, the study provides a detailed discussion of the dynamic channel selection problem in a multi-channel EH-based CRN. The authors of [55] investigated how hybrid EH cooperative spectrum sensing in heterogeneous CRNs can enable self-sustaining green communications by reducing energy cost while capitalizing on the idle spectrum. [56] analyzed maximizing the throughput of cooperative CRNs with EH to obtain optimal time allocation between primary and secondary users, and balancing the trade-off between EH and packet transmission. Secrecy outage performance for MISO CRNs with EH in order to maximize the secrecy and EE was studied in [57]. The same secrecy outage performance for an underlay MIMO CRN by means of transmitting antenna selection was investigated in [58, 59]. In both studies, EH from the primary transmitter drives the transmitter of secondary users in order to improve both EE and SE. In [60], a joint optimization framework to distribute power among users at the secondary BS, allocate power for cooperative transmission, assign a time slot for the transmission of each user, and find the PS ratio for EH and ID receivers was explored for SWIPT-based cooperative CRNs. The authors of [61] tried to maximize the data-rate for underlay multi-hop CRNs using TS receivers. The problem of maximizing EH by taking into account an optimal resource allocation policy while also satisfying constraints of minimum data-rate, transmit power, and subcarrier was studied in [62] with respect to max-min fairness in wideband CRN with SWIPT.

1.3.3 Cooperative Relaying in SWIPT Networks

Relay techniques are proposed for facilitating communication between the source and the destination [63]. They offer a low-cost way of expanding coverage enlargements, gaining diversity, and enhancing data-rates. However, since the relay power supplies might be insufficient, it needs an additional, possibly green, energy source to cooperate. Luckily, WPT techniques have the potential to assist cooperative devices by recharging energy-limited relays to use as tokens for future cooperation. Recent research on using SWIPT for self-powered relaying has concentrated on two conventional cooperative relaying systems: amplify-and-forward (AF) and decode-andforward (DF) [64].

The past few years have witnessed new research on cooperative relaying integrated with SWIPT networks. The authors of [65] studied a cooperative relaying SWIPT network with a bidirectional relay capable of transferring wireless power in the DL direction and relaying information by AF in the UL direction. Two approaches were examined with PS and TS at the relay to maximize the user's data-rate. Energy harvesting and power consumption constraints at both the relay and the user were noted. In [66], the authors considered a cooperative PS-based SWIPT network with one source-destination pair and multiple EH DF relays that were intended to obtain a closedform formulation of the outage probability achieved by the multi-relay cooperative protocol as well as its approximation at high SNR. PS-based SWIPT in cooperative networks with spatially random DF relays was studied in [67] in order to characterize the outage probability and diversity gain by applying the stochastic geometry principle. The optimization problems of PS ratios at the relays were formulated in [68] for both DF and AF relaying protocols in a multi-relay twohop relay SWIPT system. Joint relay selection and resource allocation optimization for EE maximization was studied in [69] in order to provide a performance comparison between DF and AF relays without external power supplies in PS-enabled SWIPT. The author of [70] investigated whether a joint resource allocation would maximize the achievable data-rate in PS-based and AS-based SWIPT for a two-hop cooperative transmission in which a half-duplex multi-antenna relay adopts DF relaying strategy. Relay selection strategies for both PS- and TS-based SWIPT in a cooperative AF relaying network were studied in [71]. The authors tried to maximize either the amount of EH at the user's end under the constraint of the minimum available data-rate

in a PS-based SWIPT network or the overall user data-rate while guaranteeing a minimum EH in a TS-based SWIPT network. A novel relay selection and resource allocation in a two-hop relay-assisted multi-user PS-based SWIPT OFDMA network were analyzed in [72] to optimize the subcarrier assignment, power allocation, and users' PS ratios as well as relays to ensure maximization of the system's data-rate while also satisfying minimal EH and maximal transmit power constraints.

1.3.4 Multiple Antenna Communication in SWIPT Systems

Nowadays, new communication technologies can incorporate multiple antennas to increase datarate through multiplexing, improve performance through diversity, and use WPT techniques to generate sufficient power for reliable communication. These approaches require centralized or distributed antenna array deployment at the transmitter and/or receivers to achieve substantial array/capacity gains over single-input single-output (SISO) systems through spatial beamforming/multiplexing [73]. Multiple-input single-output (MISO) and MIMO are regarded as proper ways to boost the reliability and capacity of SWIPT-enabled communication networks. Most work that has tried to integrate SWIPT in multiple antenna wireless networks assumes that two defined user groups need to be served, one for receiving information and the other for receiving power to recharge their power sources. However, there are also cases of co-located receiver architecture. The following paragraphs present interesting research studies conducted on SWIPT in MISO and MIMO systems to help the reader understand the challenges of multiple antenna configurations in SWIPT.

In [74], the capacity region of a MISO broadcast channel featuring SWIPT was evaluated. The approach used was based on solving a sequence of weighted sum data-rate maximization problems subject to a maximum transmit power constraint for the AP, and a set of minimum harvested energy constraints for individual EH receivers. In this study a multi-antenna AP simultaneously delivers information and energy via RF signals to multiple single-antenna receivers in a separated receiver architecture. The authors of [75] studied joint power allocation and PS ratio optimization for a multi-user MISO SWIPT network with the aim of maximizing the users' minimum signal-to-interference plus noise ratio (SINR) under the maximum transmit power and the minimum energy harvesting constraints.

In [76], a multi-user MISO full-duplex system with PS-based SWIPT was proposed for a resource allocation policy design that jointly optimizes the PS ratios, the beamforming matrix, and the transmit power – subject to satisfying maximal SINR and harvested power constraints. A novel beamforming design to minimize transmission power in a multi-user MISO SWIPT system was proposed in [77] for TS and PS receiver architectures. Joint transceiver optimization of beamforming vectors and TS ratios for MISO SWIPT systems was examined in [78]. In [79], the joint

design of the beamforming vector and the artificial noise covariance matrix for a MISO SWIPT with multiple eavesdroppers was studied by analyzing a proportional secrecy EE maximization problem.

Two different scenarios for the MIMO broadcast system were investigated in [80], namely, separate and co-located receivers architecture in which all the transmitters and receivers were equipped with multiple antennas. In the first scenario (separated receivers), the best transmission strategy for MIMO SWIPT systems was designed to attain different trade-offs between maximum information data-rate and energy transfer in the boundary of a so-called rate-energy region. For the other scenario (co-located receivers), TS and PS approaches were applied to determine an outer bound for the achievable rate-energy region. The authors of [81] similarly described the trade-off between maximum energy transfer versus maximum information data-rate under the nonlinear EH model. A novel power allocation algorithm for SWIPT-enabled multiuser MIMO DL systems with separated receiver architecture was proposed in [82], based on the block diagonalization precoding technique that completely suppresses multi-user interference while maximizing a network's data-rate.

In [83], the problem of antenna selection (at the transmitter) and transmit covariance matrix design was studied in the effort to jointly maximize the data-rate of a MIMO broadcast system with SWIPT, given the multidimensional trade-off between the minimum data-rate requirement of ID users and the minimum energy harvesting of EH users in a separated architecture. A general multi-objective optimization problem, in which data-rate and harvested power are simultaneously optimized for each user, is proposed in [84] for a multi-user MIMO network implementing SWIPT. A secrecy data-rate maximization problem for SWIPT in cognitive MIMO networks was studied in [85]: An interference power constraint was imposed to protect the primary user while the secondary EH receiver had a minimum energy harvesting constraint. Unlike the MIMO SWIPT systems, the weighted minimum mean squared error criterion – rather than the data-rate of the network – was investigated in [86] for a separated SWIPT architecture. The secure transmission issue for PS-enabled SWIPT in a multi-user MIMO system with multiple external eavesdroppers is presented in [87]. Robust beamforming with imperfect channel state information (CSI) was designed with the maximum transmission power optimized subject to a minimum achievable secrecy data-rate and EH. EE maximization in SWIPT-based MIMO broadcast channels for IoT applying the TS approach was studied in [88] as a way of obtaining resource allocation policies that consider per-user minimum harvested energy constraints.

1.4 Thesis Overview and Contributions

Although studies have thus far concentrated on solving problems in wireless communication networks empowered by WPT technologies, various problems in the field remain to be answered. In this thesis, we attempt to fill in several crucial gaps in the literature by designing, analyzing, and optimizing resource allocation problems with different objectives for SWIPT in multi-service energy-constrained wireless networks. The overview and specific contributions of the main chapters are:

Chapter 2 Optimization Techniques

In our study, we refer to several basic optimization techniques. Chapter 2 discusses them and provides some approaches to optimization.

Chapter 3 SWIPT in Single Small-Cell Networks

In chapter 3, we provide a novel architecture for harvesting energy from an AP without needing a splitter at the receiver. We propose a new system model in which a designated portion of the spectrum is used for ID operation while another portion is exploited for EH operation, and investigate how much performance is gained. The main objective of this chapter is to design a resource allocation policy that maximizes the harvested energy of a multi-user DL OFDMA network with SWIPT while satisfying a minimum data-rate requirement for all users. We then use optimization tools to obtain a locally optimal solution for the underlying problem, which is essentially non-convex.

The results of this chapter with slight improvements to the system model, as presented in the extended abstract, will be submitted to *IEEE Communications Letters*:

—, "Optimal Resource Allocation for MC-NOMA in SWIPT-enabled Networks," to be submitted to *IEEE Communications Letters*.

Chapter 4 SWIPT in Multi-Cell Networks

In chapter 4, we study allocating resources to maximize the data-rate based on the separated receiver architecture in a SWIPT OFDMA multi-user multi-cell system. We distribute the users between the inner and outer cells. Nearby users can harvest energy from the AP; users at a distance get their wireless information from the nearest AP. Although it seems that the AP supports EH users by consuming some power, in this chapter, we discuss whether it is justifiable in light of the fact that this might cause the performance gain of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network to deteriorate. The resulting problem, which jointly optimizes the subcarrier assignment and the power allocation, is an intractable mixed-integer non-linear problem. Because of that, we use a minorization maximization approach based on the difference of convex functions programming with a surrogate function to approximate the non-convex objective function.

Chapter 5 Antenna Selection Technique in SWIPT

Finally, in chapter 5, we describe a new harvesting technique at the receiver that is based

on the receiver antenna selection for a multi-user multi-cell SWIPT OFDMA system with a colocated architecture. This we call a "generalized antenna switching technique". As a performance metric, we optimize EE, which is highly appreciated for investigating resource allocation in the next generation of wireless communication. The underlying problem in this chapter is nonconvex because we incorporate both interference and integer variables. We relax the integer variable, and then apply the big-M formulation to make sure that relaxed variables take binary values. After that, we use the minorization maximization approach employing a first-order Taylor approximation. As a last step to convexify the EE optimization problem, we apply the Dinkelback algorithm to transform the objective function into a non-fractional function. The simulation result concludes the amount of performance gain that can be obtained through generalized antenna switching architecture.

The results of this chapter with an improvement in the system model will be submitted to *IEEE JSTSP* (Special Issue on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Transmission of Information and Power). A very simplified version of the system model without SWIPT has already been accepted by the VTC 2020 conference:

Jalal Jalali, Ata Khalili, and Heidi Steendam, "Antenna Selection and Resource Allocation in Downlink MISO OFDMA Femtocell Networks," accepted for presentation at *IEEE VTC* 2020.

—, "Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer via a Joint Resource Allocation and Generalized Antenna Switching Strategy," to be submitted to *IEEE JSTSP*.

Chapter 6 Conclusion and Future Work

Chapter 6 summarizes the results and provides suggestions for future research.

JFMJ

2

Optimization Techniques

In this chapter, we introduce some basic properties of convex functions that can be useful for better understanding this thesis [89].

2.1 Convex Analysis

2.1.1 Definitions

Let $f(\cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex function. Then, $f(\cdot)$ is convex, if for each $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$f(\lambda \mathbf{x}_1 + (1 - \lambda)\mathbf{x}_2) \le \lambda f(\mathbf{x}_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(\mathbf{x}_2), \tag{2.1}$$

for all $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Geometrically speaking, the above inequality states that the line segment between $(x_1, f(x_1))$ and $(x_2, f(x_2))$, which is the chord from x_1 to x_2 , lies on top of the graph of $f(\cdot)$. A function $f(\cdot)$ is said to be *strictly convex* if (2.1) holds with strict inequality. Moreover, supposing that $f(\cdot)$ is differentiable, i.e., its gradient exists, then each convex function satisfies the following inequality

$$f(\mathbf{x}) \ge f(\tilde{\mathbf{x}}) + \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} f(\tilde{\mathbf{x}})^T (\mathbf{x} - \tilde{\mathbf{x}}), \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\nabla_{\mathbf{x}}$ is the gradient vector with respect to \mathbf{x} at $\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$, and \Box^T is the transpose operation on \Box . The inequality (2.2) asserts that for a convex function, a global underestimator of the function can be easily derived via its first-order Taylor approximation. Consequently, the first-order Taylor approximation of a convex function is always a global underestimator of the function. This inequality additionally confirms that global information of a convex function can be obtained through its local information, i.e., its value and derivative at a point.

2.2 Duality Theorem

We consider the following optimization problem, also known as the *primal problem*, written in its general form as

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} f(\mathbf{x})$$

$$s.t.: g_i(\mathbf{x}) \le 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., I,$$

$$h_l(\mathbf{x}) = 0, \ \forall l = 1, ..., L,$$

$$(2.3)$$

where $f(\cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is the objective function, and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the vector of optimization variables inside the feasible set \mathcal{X} . This optimization problem has I inequality constraints and L equality constraints. Furthermore, we also refer to p^* as the optimal value of the optimization problem in (2.3).

The Lagrangian duality of the objective function of (2.3) is given by

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\nu}) = f(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{i=1}^{I} \mu_i g_i(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \nu_l h_l(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (2.4)$$

where μ and ν are called the vector of Lagrangian multiplier or the dual variables with respect to inequality and equality constraints associated with the problem (2.3) that have μ_i 's and ν_l 's as the elements of the corresponding vectors. The essential purpose of Lagrangian duality is to get somehow rid of the constraints in (2.3) by adding a weighted sum of the constraint functions to the objective function. We can now define the corresponding Lagrange dual function (or just dual function), which is formally stated as

$$\mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\nu}) = \inf_{\mathbf{x}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\nu}).$$
(2.5)

Note that even though the primal problem could be non-convex, the dual problem is always a convex optimization problem since the dual function is a point-wise infimum. This infimum can be seen as the greatest lower bound of a family of affine functions with respect to μ and ν .

The Lagrange dual function in (2.5) gives us a lower bound on the optimal value p^* of the primal problem (2.3). In order to find the best lower bound for the primal problem, the following

optimization problem can be defined from the Lagrange dual function

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu}} \mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu}). \tag{2.6}$$

This problem is known as the Lagrange dual problem corresponding to the primal problem. Moreover, if μ^* and ν^* are the optimal values for the Lagrange dual problem in (2.6), they are traditionally called *dual optimal* or *optimal Lagrange*. It should also be noted since the objective to be maximized is concave in (2.6), the Lagrange dual problem is a convex optimization problem no matter the primal problem in (2.3) is convex or not.

2.2.1 Weak Duality and Duality Gap

Let \mathbf{x}^* be a feasible solution for the primal problem, i.e., p^* and $(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*)$ are a feasible solution to the dual problem, that is, d^* . According to weak duality, we have the following inequality for a general (possibly non-convex) problem

$$d^* \le p^*. \tag{2.7}$$

It must be noted that the weak duality inequality also holds when d^* and p^* are infinite. On the other hand, the difference between the primal optimal value and dual primal value, i.e., $p^* - d^*$ is called the *optimal duality gap*. It should be stated that the optimal duality gap is always non-negative. Since the dual problem is always convex, and often can be solved efficiently to determine d^* , the inequality in (2.7) is quite useful in finding a lower bound on the optimal value of a problem that is difficult to solve.

2.2.2 Strong Duality and Slater condition

If the duality gap is zero, i.e., $p^* = d^*$, the *strong duality* holds. The strong duality indicates that the best bound that can be achieved from the Lagrange dual function is tight. Moreover, in strong duality, since the gap between primal and dual is zero, solving the dual problem is equivalent to solving the primal problem.

A sufficient condition for strong duality to hold for a convex optimization problem is the *Slater* condition or *Slater's condition*. In particular, if the Slater condition holds for the primal problem, then the duality gap is zero, which implies strong duality for convex problems. And if the dual optimal value is finite, then it is attained, i.e., a dual feasible $(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*)$ exists that satisfies $\mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*) = d^* = p^*$. In general, there exist so many results that establish conditions on the optimization problem, that yield strong duality. These conditions are coined constraint qualifications, where the Slater condition is only a simple specific example of many.

2.3 Abstract Lagrangian Duality

In order to study duality in optimization models, two approaches exist historically, and the duality results are manifested as referred to as: i) *Classical Lagrangian* and ii) *Abstract Lagrangian*. Among these two forms, the classical Lagrangian form is more extensively used in the literature. What we have discussed so far is indeed the classical Lagrangian form of duality. As seen, classical Lagrangian typically starts from a primal problem while the Lagrangian and the Dual Lagrangian problems are established subsequently. However, at a more abstract level, an abstract Lagrangian function is used to derive the primal and dual optimization problems. Here, we briefly discuss an abstract version of Lagrangian duality that is elaborated in more significant details in [90]. In this version, through a certain real-valued abstract Lagrangian function, the primal and dual costs are taken into account, such that

(Primal problem)
$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x})$$
 where $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in Y} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})$,
(Dual problem) $\max_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{Y}} \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{y})$ where $\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{y}) = \inf_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})$,

where $\mathcal{L} : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \longrightarrow R$ is the abstract Lagrangian function pertaining to \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} as appropriate domains defined in some primal and dual spaces, respectively. Moreover, the supremum can be seen as the least upper bound of a family of affine functions with respect to \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{y} . This approach to duality is based on conjugate duality, where a convexity assumption is always made [91]. This approach also puts a strong emphasis on the minimax and saddle point theorems, which are given below.

• Minimax Theorem: This theorem provides the condition that guarantees the *strong max-min* property or the *saddle point* as follows

$$\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{Y}} \inf_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) = \inf_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{Y}} \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}).$$
(2.8)

It should be noted that the above equality, strong max-min property, holds only in special cases. This is, in particular, true, when for example, $\mathcal{H} : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \longrightarrow R$ is the Lagrangian of a problem where the strong duality holds.

• Saddle Point Theorem: Under suitable conditions, there exists a saddle point for $\mathcal{S}(\cdot)$ referred to as a pair $(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ such that for all $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$,

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}) \le \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*) \le \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}^*).$$
(2.9)

In (2.9), $S : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \longrightarrow R$ is the Lagrangian of a problem where the strong duality holds. In other words, $S(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*) = \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{Y}} S(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}^*)$, and $S(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*) = \inf_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}} S(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y})$. This indicates that the strong max-min property (2.8) holds with the common value of $S(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*)$.

2.4 Complementary Slackness and KKT Optimality Conditions

Suppose that both the primal and dual optimal values exist and are equal. This means the strong duality holds. We further assume that \mathbf{x}^* and $(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*)$ to be a primal optimal and a dual optimal point, respectively. Therefore, we have

$$f(\mathbf{x}^*) = \mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*) \le f(\mathbf{x}^*) + \sum_{i=1}^{I} \mu_i^* g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \nu_l^* h_l(\mathbf{x}^*) \le f(\mathbf{x}^*).$$
(2.10)

The first inequality in (2.10) holds since the infimum of the Lagrangian over \mathbf{x} is less than or equal to its value at $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}^*$. However, the last inequality follows from $\mu_i^* \ge 0$, $g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) \le 0$, $\forall i = 1, ..., I$, and $h_l(\mathbf{x}^*) \le 0$, $\forall l = 1, ..., L$. An important conclusion that one can make from (2.10) is that

$$\mu_i^* g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) = 0, \quad \forall i = 1, ..., I.$$
(2.11)

This condition is called the *complementary slackness*. It confirms that one can go from the optimal primal solution to the optimal dual solution, and vice versa, if the strong duality holds. Moreover, the complementary slackness verifies that a solution is optimal, by checking if there is a dual solution.

Now, we introduce the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions assuming that all the functions both in the objective and the constraints in (2.3) are differentiable. Just same as was assumed in (2.10), let's also suppose the primal and dual variables at the optimum point, for which strong duality obtains, are \mathbf{x}^* and $(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}^*)$, respectively. The KKT conditions have the following properties

$$g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) \le 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., I,$$
 (2.12a)

$$h_l(\mathbf{x}^*) = 0, \ \forall l = 1, ..., L,$$
 (2.12b)

$$\mu_i^* \ge 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., I,$$
 (2.12c)

$$\mu_i^* g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) = 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., I,$$
 (2.12d)

$$\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} f(\mathbf{x}^*) + \sum_{i=1}^{I} \mu_i^* \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} g_i(\mathbf{x}^*) + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \nu_l^* \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} h_l(\mathbf{x}^*) = 0, \qquad (2.12e)$$

where μ_i^* and ν_l^* are the elements of Lagrangian vectors $\boldsymbol{\mu}^*$ and $\boldsymbol{\nu}^*$, respectively. Also, $\nabla_{\mathbf{x}}$ denotes the gradient of a function with respect to \mathbf{x} in (2.12e). Note that the KKT conditions are necessary and sufficient conditions for the optimality of the convex optimization problem with differentiable objective and constraint functions. However, if the problem is non-convex, the KKT conditions would only provide the necessary conditions for optimality given that the objective and constraints are differentiable.

2.5 Interior-Point Methods

The literature on interior-point methods is very extensive, and research is still flourishing. This paragraph can only serve as a very condensed introduction. Interior-point methods can be seen as a branch in the classification of convex optimization algorithms that solve linear and nonlinear convex optimization problems. KKT conditions, another branch of optimization algorithms in this classification, obtain a collection of linear equations that can be solved analytically, for example a quadratic optimization problem with linear equality constraints. Interior-point methods, on the other hand, solve an optimization problem with linear equality and inequality constraints by the relaxation of a problem with only a set of linear equality constraints. The motivation for calling such methods an "interior-point method" lies in the fact that these methods begin their search for an optimal solution in the interior of the feasible region, and travel on a path towards the boundary, converging at the optimum.

2.6 MM Approach and D.C. Programming

MM algorithms are an appropriate tool to reduce a given optimization problem into a series of simpler problems. In this sense, an MM algorithm is not an algorithm, but rather an appropriate principal way of designing optimization algorithms for high dimensional settings, where the classical methods of optimization do not work well. MM algorithms are not new. The celebrated Expectation Maximization algorithm is a particular case of MM algorithms that is extensively used in electrical engineering applications and in other fields. The reason for selecting the MM acronym is two-fold. An MM algorithm operates on a more straightforward and simpler surrogate function that majorizes/minorizes (the first M of MM) the objective function in a minimization/maximization (the second M of MM) optimization problem. Thus, the MM stands for either *Majorization Minimization* or *Minorization Maximization*, depending on the application. In the next few paragraphs, we consider a majorization minimization problem to explain how the algorithm works.

Consider the following optimization problem

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} f(\mathbf{x}),\tag{2.13}$$

where \mathbf{x} is the optimization variable vector belonging to the feasible set \mathcal{X} . In order to majorize the function $f(\mathbf{x})$ at \mathbf{x}^n , there exists a surrogate function $g(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n)$ that satisfies two conditions

$$f(\mathbf{x}^n) = g(\mathbf{x}^n | \mathbf{x}^n), \tag{2.14}$$

$$f(\mathbf{x}) \le g(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n), \quad \mathbf{x} \ne \mathbf{x}^n.$$
 (2.15)

The first condition (2.14) is called the tangency condition at the current iteration step. This condition grantees $g(\mathbf{x}^n | \mathbf{x}^n)$ is tangent to $f(\mathbf{x})$ at \mathbf{x}^n . The second condition, on the other hand, (2.15) makes sure the $g(\mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}^n)$ is dominant in a sense that it always lies above the surface of $f(\mathbf{x})$ except at \mathbf{x}^n . Besides, if a function $g(\mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}^n)$ majorizes the function $f(\mathbf{x})$ at \mathbf{x}^n , it can be easily perceived that $-g(\mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}^n)$ minorizes $-f(\mathbf{x})$.

Another very important result of the MM algorithms is the descent property. Starting from $\mathbf{x}^0 \in \mathcal{X}$ as an initial point for the feasible set \mathcal{X} , an MM algorithm generates a sequence of feasible point \mathbf{x}^n . At point \mathbf{x}^n in the majorization step, a continuous surrogate function is constructed that satisfies the domination condition in (2.15)

$$g(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n) \ge f(\mathbf{x}) + g(\mathbf{x}^n|\mathbf{x}^n) - f(\mathbf{x}^n), \ \mathbf{x} \ne \mathbf{x}^n.$$
(2.16)

Hence, in the minimization step, the following update rule can be applied

$$\mathbf{x}^{n+1} \in \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}} g(\mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}^n).$$
(2.17)

It is easy to show that the generated sequence $f(\mathbf{x}^n)$ is non-increasing. Thus, we have

$$f(\mathbf{x}^{n+1}) \le g(\mathbf{x}^{n+1}|\mathbf{x}^n) - g(\mathbf{x}^n|\mathbf{x}^n) + f(\mathbf{x}^n) \le g(\mathbf{x}^n|\mathbf{x}^n) - g(\mathbf{x}^n|\mathbf{x}^n) + f(\mathbf{x}^n) = f(\mathbf{x}^n), \quad (2.18)$$

where the first inequality comes from (2.16), and the second inequality is the direct consequence of (2.17). The property in (2.18), the descent property, gives a remarkable numerical stability to MM algorithms. Hence, instead of minimizing the cost function $f(\mathbf{x})$ directly, the MM algorithms stably optimize a sequence of tractable approximate surrogate objective functions $g(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n)$ that minorize $f(\mathbf{x})$ as tightly as possible.

The MM algorithms can easily be connected to other algorithmic frameworks [92, 93, 94]. One of the application areas of the MM algorithms is in *Difference of Convex functions* (D.C.) programming problems. The general form of D.C. functions is

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}} f_0(\mathbf{x}) - h_0(\mathbf{x}) \tag{2.19}$$

s.t.:
$$f_i(\mathbf{x}) - h_i(\mathbf{x}) \le 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., m,$$
 (2.20)

where f_i 's and h_i 's are all convex functions. We further assume that f_i 's and h_i 's are twice differentiable, and are strictly convex without loss of generality according to (2.1). Among various algorithms having desirable properties for the solution of D.C. problems, the MM scheme, which solves a sequence of convex problems acquired by linearizing non-convex parts in the objective function as well as the constraints, is preferred. Accordingly, an approximate solution can be found that iteratively solves (2.19) through defining the following convex subproblem

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}} g_0(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n) \tag{2.21}$$

s.t.:
$$g_i(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n) \le 0, \ \forall i = 1, ..., m,$$
 (2.22)

Algorithm 1 The MM Approach

1: Initialize

iteration index n = 0 with the maximum number of iteration N_{max} and find a feasible point \mathbf{x}^0 .

2: repeat

- 3: Find \mathbf{x}^n by solving the optimization problem (2.17) and store as \mathbf{x} .
- 4: Set n = n + 1 and $\mathbf{x}^n = \mathbf{x}$.
- 5: **until** some convergence criterion is met or $n = N_{\text{max}}$
- 6: return optimal \mathbf{x}

where

$$g_i(\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}^n) = f_i(\mathbf{x}) - \left(h_i(\mathbf{x}^n) + \nabla_{\mathbf{x}}h_i(\mathbf{x}^n)^T(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}^n)\right), \quad \forall i \in \{0, ..., m\}.$$
 (2.23)

The aforementioned approximation satisfies the MM principle and is a tight upper bound of $f_i - h_i$ with equality achieved at $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}^n$. This technique is used several times throughout the thesis. Moreover, the solution methodology for the MM algorithm is summarized in **Algorithm 1**. A valid question to be asked at this point would be how good the convergence behaviors of the MM algorithms are. For the answer, the interested reader is referred to [95, 96, 97].

2.7 Optimization Packages

Many optimization tools and packages exist for solving any given optimization problem. This paragraph introduces a few of the most popular optimization packages. The GLPK is a package designated for solving large-scale linear programming (LP), mixed integer programming (MIP), and other similar problems. The Gurobi optimizer is a well-known commercial optimization solver for LP, quadratic programming (QP), and MIPs (including mixed-integer linear programming (MILP), mixed-integer quadratic programming (MIQP), and mixed-integer quadratically constrained programming (MIQCP)). The Mosek solver is another widely used optimization package that solves LP, QP, MIP, second-order cone programming (SOCP), and semi-definite programming (SDP). The SeDuMi and SDPT3 are two other leading solvers for SDPs. The list of packages goes on and on, with new packages always being added and the well-known ones continuously being updated to respond to the ever-rising demand for higher performance speed to solve problems with unimaginably large dimensions. The purpose of the thesis is not to develop such optimization solvers nor to improve them, but rather to use the existing ones to solve the problems at hand. A whole different research domain investigates and designs optimization solvers for specific needs.

3

SWIPT in Single Small-Cell Networks

As explained in the introductory chapter, wireless power transfer (WPT) provides wireless devices with continuous and stable energy. Radio frequency (RF)-enabled simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) has the capability of using an innovative way to simultaneously transfer information over a single radio waveform as power. Consequently, SWIPT-based networks contribute exceptional benefit to users by conveniently utilizing radio signals to transfer both energy and information. SWIPT is attracting ever more attention due to its ability to provide green communication services more efficiently by broadcasting information and power on orthogonal and non-orthogonal resources. Furthermore, resource allocation for SWIPT-enabled networks carefully takes into account the performance of both information and power transfer, unlike traditional wireless systems. In this sense, resource allocation in SWIPT systems can improve network performance and make maximum use of network resources while satisfying the quality of service requirement by flexibly allocating and dynamically adjusting the network's available resources.

A great deal of research has been conducted on resource allocation for SWIPT in various types of wireless communication networks. In [48] for instance, the focus was on resource allocation based on the orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) for different system configurations in a SWIPT-enabled mobile network that maximizes throughput by using separated receiver architecture. The optimal design for maximizing the weighted sum data-rate over all users for SWIPT in downlink (DL) OFDM systems was explored in [49]. In it, users harvest energy and decode information using the same receiving signals that carry both energy and information from a fixed access point (AP). Each user also applies either power splitting (PS) or time switching (TS) receiver architecture to coordinate the energy harvesting (EH) and information decoding (ID) operations. The authors in [98] investigated resource allocation for maximizing the effective capacity and effective energy efficiency (EE) of a DL multi-user OFDM system by considering both PS and TS architectures for receivers using SWIPT. In [52], the ideal resource allocation algorithm design to maximize EE of data transmission was studied by considering PS hybrid receivers in an orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) network. Most of the previous works had investigated a SWIPT system based on the splitter using PS or TS architecture to separate the received signal for either EH or ID operation. However, [45] considered a SWIPT-assisted joint subcarrier and power allocation based on an OFDM system using a heuristic solution methodology in which neither time nor power splitter was used to maximize EH. In this chapter, we aim to fill the knowledge gap in existing literature by improving the paradigm of resource allocation policy in SWIPT networks without the need for a splitter in a co-located architecture.

We study a simple scenario often found in the literature that captures the essential characteristics of SWIPT-enabled networks in this chapter: the optimal design for resource allocation in a multiuser OFDMA network with SWIPT using the same signals received from a fixed AP to perform both EH and ID operations. The complexity of the receiver is significantly reduced because there is no need for a splitter to perform appropriately: The receiver has no time or power splitter. The resource allocator only needs to know which group of subcarriers is allocated for EH and which for ID operation. This information is derived from the channel state information (CSI) and the relevant algorithm. We do not address the effect of interference in this chapter; instead we investigate the problem of resource allocation design in a single small-cell network, which allows us to address the problem of maximizing the energy harvested by all users. More specifically, the problem of joint power allocation and subcarrier assignment is investigated in order to maximize harvested energy while fulfilling the minimum data-rate requirement for each user. Since each subcarrier can be configured independently in OFDMA systems, information and power are transferred separately on different subcarriers with different waveforms. We thus try to determine a resource allocation policy that includes joint power allocation and subcarrier assignment algorithms based on an OFDMA network for a DL of a single small-cell multi-user system by means of SWIPT. The underlying optimization problem calls for mixed-integer linear programming (MILP). To tackle the problem, we employ the majorization minimization (MM) optimization approach to obtain a close-to-optimal resource allocation policy. Simulation results demonstrate that our proposed algorithm achieves excellent performance as compared to other possible solutions presented in the literature.

3.1 System Model

We consider a DL of an OFDMA network in a single small-cell scenario consisting of an indoor AP and K co-located users as shown in figure (3.1). In particular, users receive the intended signal from the AP for EH and ID operations, simultaneously. Furthermore, the AP and all the receivers are equipped with a single antenna in this configuration. We additionally assume that the entire frequency band of \mathscr{B} is partitioned into N subcarriers, each having a bandwidth of \mathscr{W} . It also needs to be stated that a portion of the spectrum is used for ID while the remaining portion is exploited for EH proclaiming a demand for the use of two separate filters at receivers [99]. Moreover, the set of users and subcarriers are denoted by $\mathcal{K} = \{1, 2, ..., K\}$ and $\mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, ..., Z, Z + 1, ..., N\}$, respectively. Let $\mathcal{N}_i = \{1, 2, ..., Z\}$ denote the set of subcarriers for ID, whereas the remaining subcarriers $\mathcal{N}_e = \mathcal{N} - \mathcal{N}_i = \{Z+1, Z+2, ..., N\}$ is used to indicate the set of subcarriers for EH. Note that the optimal value of Z, i.e. the cardinally of the set \mathcal{N}_i , can be obtained [45]. However, we choose not to adapt the problem of finding the optimal Z in our proposed problem design for the sake of avoiding repetition.



Figure 3.1: SWIPT in a DL of a co-located multi-user small single-cell OFDMA network.

Moreover, it is further assumed that all the subcarriers are considered to be perfectly orthogonal to one another, and no inter-subcarrier interference exists. Hence, the subcarrier assignment variable is given by

$$a_{n,k} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if subcarrier } n \text{ is assigned to user } k, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let $h_{n,k}$ denote the DL channel coefficient from the AP to the k^{th} user over the subcarrier n. We assume that the perfect CSI is available at a centralized resource allocator to design resource allocation policy. Specifically, it is presumed that the AP broadcasts orthogonal preambles, pilot signals, in the DL to the users. Then, through a feedback channel, each user estimates the CSI and transfers this information back to the AP. Afterward, the corresponding AP listens to the sounding reference signals communicated by the users and sends the CSI to the centralized controller for resource allocation design. Now, by denoting $p_{n,k}$ as the DL transmit power of AP to the k^{th} user over the subcarrier n, the DL signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of user k in subcarrier n is defined as

$$\gamma_{n,k} = \frac{a_{n,k} p_{n,k} |h_{n,k}|^2}{\sigma_{n,k}^2},$$
(3.1)

where $\sigma_{n,k}^2$ denotes the additive noise power. More specifically, at receiver k, the received signal on each subcarrier is corrupted by noise $n_{n,k}$. This noise is modeled as an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) random variable with zero mean and variance $\sigma_{n,k}^2$, denoted by a circularly symmetric Gaussian distribution referred to as $n_{n,k} \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_{n,k}^2)$. However, for the sake of simplicity, we consider $\sigma_{n,k}^2 = \sigma^2$ throughout this chapter meaning that the variance of the noise is the same over all subcarriers for all users. According to the Shannon capacity formula, the data-rate of the k^{th} user over the subcarrier n can be expressed as

$$R_{n,k} = \log_2\left(1 + \gamma_{n,k}\right). \tag{3.2}$$

For facilitating the presentation, we denote $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times KN}$ and $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{1 \times KN}$ as vectors of optimization problem for power allocation and subcarrier assignment, respectively. Consequently, the datarate of the k^{th} user in DL is given as

$$R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}_i} R_{n,k}.$$
(3.3)

Furthermore, to guarantee the quality of service (QoS) of users, a minimum data-rate denoted by R_{min} , should be provided for each user. That is

$$R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}.$$
 (3.4)

Moreover, the amount of the harvested energy can be stated as

$$\operatorname{EH}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \epsilon_k \bigg(\sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}_e} a_{n,k} p_{n,k} |h_{n,k}|^2 \bigg),$$
(3.5)

JFMJ

where ϵ_k is the power efficiency of the k^{th} user capable of energy harvesting, which takes its value from the interval $0 < \epsilon_k < 1$. It should be noted that σ^2 also contributes to the EH formula in (3.5). However, since its value is very small, it is neglected in the representation of the EH formula.

3.2**Optimization Problem Formulation**

The main objective persuaded in this chapter is to assign subcarrier(s) and set the transmit power(s), for each user, such that the total harvested energy in (3.5) is maximized. Thus, we can formulate the optimization problem as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p}} EH(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p}) \tag{3.6a}$$

$$s.t.: C_1: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} a_{n,k} \le 1, \qquad \forall n \in \mathcal{N}_i,$$

$$(3.6b)$$

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} a_{n,k} \le 1, \qquad \forall n \in \mathcal{N}_e, \tag{3.6c}$$

$$C_3: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} p_{n,k} \le p_{max}, \qquad (3.6d)$$

$$C_4: R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(3.6e)

$$C_5: a_{n,k} \in \{0,1\}, \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}.$$
(3.6f)

In this optimization problem, C_1 and C_2 indicate that each subcarrier can be assigned to at most one user for ID and EH operation, respectively. C_3 states that power constraint for the AP with a maximum transmit power allowance of p_{max} . The forth constraint, C_4 , guarantees the QoS for each user. Finally, by keeping in mind that the subcarrier assignment variable is binary, the last constraint, C_5 , makes sure that different subcarriers take their values from a binary set. This means whether a given subcarrier is going to be selected to maximize the energy harvesting, i.e., the objective of the optimization problem at hand.

One can readily conclude that the optimization problem in (3.6) is a non-convex mixed-integer linear programming (MILP) problem [100] due to the binary constraint for the subcarrier assignment in C_5 and the non-linearity of the QoS constraint. In general, it is impossible to find an optimal solution for a non-convex MILP in a polynomial-time. However, in the next section, we exploit an approach to find a locally optimal solution for the considered system. Furthermore, we propose a suboptimal resource allocation algorithm, which has a polynomial-time computational complexity to strike a balance between complexity and system performance.

JFMJ

3.3 Solution to the Optimization Problem

In this section, we try to solve the problem in (3.6) using the MM approach by constructing a sequence of surrogate functions to approximate the non-convex problem. The MM procedure in our setting, i.e., the problem (3.6), consists of two major steps. In the first minorization step, a surrogate function is found that locally approximates the transformed objective function with their difference maximized at the current point. That is to say, the transformed objective function is lower-bounded by the surrogate function up to a constant value. Next, the surrogate function is maximized in the maximization step. By inspiring this approach, we make a convex approximation which can be globally and efficiently solved using optimization packages incorporating the MM algorithm. Nonetheless, finding a proper surrogate function that yields a low-complexity algorithm is not a straightforward task. On the one hand, a surrogate function that attempts to mimic the form of the objective function and obtains a fast convergence speed is preferable. On the other hand, the surrogate function should be easy to maximize in such a way that the computational cost per iteration remains low. Realizing the appropriate trade-off between the above-mentioned conflicting goals necessitates experiences in applying inequalities to particular problems, as becomes evident in the next subsection. For more details please refer to [92, 101, 102, 103, 104] and the references therein.

3.3.1 Joint Power Allocation and Subcarrier Assignment Algorithm

In this subsection, we propose a locally optimal solution for the optimization problem in (3.6). It is worth mentioning that the multiplication of two variables in the objective function of the problem in (3.6) as well as the constrain C_4 are the obstacles for the design of a computationally efficient resource allocation algorithm. Since the multiplication of two variables in (3.6d), i.e., $a_{n,k}p_{n,k}$, is non-convex, we define the product terms as $\tilde{p}_{n,k} = a_{n,k}p_{n,k}$. In order to handle this difficulty of the non-convexity, we adopt the big-M formulation [105] to decouple the product terms. Therefore, the following additional constraints are imposed accordingly as

$$C_6: \tilde{p}_{n,k} \le p_{max} a_{n,k}, \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(3.7)

$$C_7: \tilde{p}_{n,k} \le p_{n,k}, \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(3.8)

$$C_8: \tilde{p}_{n,k} \ge p_{n,k} - (1 - a_{n,k})p_{max}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$

$$(3.9)$$

$$C_9: \tilde{p}_{n,k} \ge 0, \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times KN}$ is the collection of all $\tilde{p}_{n,k}$'s. Therefore, the original optimization problem in (3.6) can be recast in equivalent form as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \overline{\overline{\mathrm{EH}}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
(3.11a)

$$s.t.: C_1 - C_2, C_5 - C_9,$$
 (3.11b)

$$C_3: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{p}_{n,k} \le p_{max}, \tag{3.11c}$$

$$C_4: \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2(1 + \frac{\tilde{p}_{n,k}|h_{n,k}|^2}{\sigma^2}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(3.11d)

where, by revisiting the definition of the harvested energy in (3.5), the objective function of (3.11) is as follows

$$\widehat{\overline{\text{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \epsilon_k \bigg(\sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}_e} \tilde{p}_{n,k} |h_{n,k}|^2 \bigg).$$
(3.12)

The optimization problem of (3.11) is still a non-convex MILP problem, which is complicated to solve. To facilitate the solution design, we restate the integer variable in constraint C_5 as the intersection of the following regions [106, 107]

$$\dot{C}_5: 0 \le a_{n,k} \le 1, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$

$$(3.13)$$

$$\ddot{C}_5: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} - (a_{n,k})^2 \le 0.$$
(3.14)

The above transformations make integer optimization variables continuous with values between zero and one. Therefore, the original problem in (3.11) can be rewritten as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$

$$s.t.: C_1 - C_4, \dot{C}_5, \ddot{C}_5, C_6 - C_9.$$

$$(3.15)$$

Note that the optimization problem in (3.15) is a continuous optimization problem with respect to all variables. However, our concern is to obtain integer solutions for $a_{n,k}$. To this end, we add a penalty term to the objective function. The integer variable is now relaxed to take any values between zero to one. Thereby, the problem can be restated as follows

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}},\lambda)$$

$$s.t.: C_1 - C_4, \dot{C}_5, C_6 - C_9,$$

$$(3.16)$$

where $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \lambda)$ is the abstract Lagrangian duality [91] associated to (3.15), and is defined as

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \lambda) = \widehat{\overline{\mathrm{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \lambda \bigg(\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} - (a_{n,k})^2 \bigg).$$
(3.17)

In (3.17), λ acts as a penalty factor to penalize the objective function when $a_{n,k}$ is not an integer variable.

Proposition 1. In the abstract Lagrangian of (3.16), the λ acts as a penalty factor to penalize the objective function when the subcarrier allocation variable $a_{n,k}$ does not have a binary value. For sufficiently large values of λ , the optimization problem in (3.16) is equivalent to (3.15) with both problems yielding the same optimal results.

Proof. By using the abstract Lagrangian duality, the proof of **Proposition 1** is presented. Accordingly, the primal and dual problem of (3.15) can be written respectively as

(Primal problem)
$$p^* = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \min_{\lambda} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \lambda),$$
 (3.18)

(Dual problem)
$$d^* = \min_{\lambda} \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \lambda).$$
 (3.19)

Now, by defining $\mathcal{G}(\lambda) \triangleq \max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}},\lambda)$, the following inequality holds according to the weak duality theorem

$$p^* = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \min_{\lambda} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \lambda) \le \min_{\lambda \ge 0} \mathcal{G}(\lambda) = d^*.$$
(3.20)

Additionally, it should be pointed out that for $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}} s.t. : C_1 - C_4, C_5, C_5, C_6 - C_9$, two cases can be observed.

Case 1: In the first case, it is assumed that at the optimal subcarrier allocation point, we have

$$\ddot{C}_5: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} - (a_{n,k})^2 = 0.$$
(3.21)

Consequently, d^* becomes a feasible solution of (3.15). Afterward, substituting the optimal value of λ , i.e., λ^* , into the abstract Lagrangian duality problem of (3.16) results in

$$d^* = \mathcal{G}(\lambda^*) = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \operatorname{EH}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = p^*.$$
(3.22)

Furthermore, considering the optimization problem in (3.16) and assuring that the subcarrier allocation variable, $a_{n,k}$, takes its values in the region $\mathbf{a} \in \dot{C}_5$, \ddot{C}_5 , one can conclude that $\mathcal{G}(\lambda)$ is a monotonically decreasing function with respect to λ . On the other hand, it can be asserted that $d^* = \min_{\lambda \ge 0} \mathcal{G}(\lambda)$. Therefore, we have

$$\mathcal{G}(\lambda) = d^*, \forall \ \lambda \ge \lambda_0, \tag{3.23}$$

where λ_0 is a given value. This confirms that for any value of $\lambda \ge \lambda^*$, the solution of (3.16) can return the optimal solution of (3.15).

Case 2: In the second case, it is assumed that the subcarrier allocation variable, $a_{n,k}$, takes some value from the interval between zero and one. This is

equivalent to satisfying the following inequality

$$\ddot{C}_5: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} - (a_{n,k})^2 > 0.$$
(3.24)

In this regard, one may conclude $\mathcal{G}(\lambda^*)$ tends to $-\infty$ at the optimal point by referring to (3.16) and (3.20). Nevertheless, this cannot happen. Since the primal solution must always be greater than zero, this would be a contradiction as it states that $\mathcal{G}(\lambda^*)$ would be limited from below by the solution of (3.15). Hence, $\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k} - (a_{n,k})^2 = 0$. Therefore, the solution of (3.16) yields the optimal solution of (3.15).

Now, we can express the optimization problem in (3.15) in terms of difference of convex functions (D.C.) as follows

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{\mathrm{EH}}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}) \big)$$

$$s.t.: C_1 - C_4, \dot{C}_5, C_6 - C_9,$$

$$(3.25)$$

where

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{n,k}, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} (a_{n,k})^2, \qquad (3.27)$$

are all convex functions, and λ is the penalty factors to penalize the objective function when $a_{n,k}$ is not integer values. Although all terms in the objective function of (3.25) are convex, the subtraction of two convex functions are not necessarily convex [94, 107, 108]. To make a convex approximation for the objective function, we adopt the MM algorithm by constructing a surrogate function via a first-order Taylor approximation as

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}) \simeq \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}) + \nabla_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1})^T . (\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{a}^{t-1}) \triangleq \tilde{\mathcal{W}}(\mathbf{a}), \tag{3.28}$$

where t denotes the iteration number, the \mathbf{a}^{t-1} is the solution of the problem at $(t-1)^{th}$ iteration, and ∇_{\Box} represents the gradient with respect to \Box . Approximation (3.28), satisfies the MM criteria and is a tight upper bound of $\mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a})$ [92, 108]. Therefore, using the MM approach while constructing a sequence of surrogate functions at the t^{th} iteration, we can solve the following convex problem instead of dealing with the non-convex optimization problem in (3.25). Thus, we have

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\mathcal{W}}(\mathbf{a}) \big)$$

$$s.t.: C_1 - C_4, \dot{C}_5, C_6 - C_9.$$

$$(3.29)$$

It is easy to demonstrate that the optimization problem (3.29) is convex and can be solved efficiently via D.C. approximation based on the interior point methods [92]. As a consequence, the solution of (3.29) would be an approximation to the solution of the original problem given in (3.25). However, in D.C. programming, the iteration begins from a feasible initial point and solves the optimization problem iteratively until it eventually approaches a close-to-optimal solution [107, 108, 109]. Besides, it must be noticed that the MM approach produces a sequence of improved feasible solutions with the adopted D.C. approximation, which would ultimately converge to a locally optimal solution $(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*)$ using standard convex program solvers such as CVX.

Proposition 2. By incorporating D.C. approximation, the solution of the problem (3.29) becomes a tightly lower-bounded solution from below for the original problem (3.25) at the end of each iteration.

Proof. In the t^{th} iteration, the objective function of (3.25) is

$$\widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}^t, \mathbf{p}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^t) \big).$$

Subsequently, in the next iteration, we have

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}} & \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}, \mathbf{p}^{t+1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}) \big) \\ & \geq \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}, \mathbf{p}^{t+1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t}) \big) + \lambda \nabla_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t})^{T}.(\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{a}^{t}) \\ & = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t}) - \nabla_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t})^{T}.(\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{a}^{t}) \big) \\ & \geq \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t}) - \nabla_{\mathbf{a}} \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t})^{T}.(\mathbf{a}^{t} - \mathbf{a}^{t}) \big) \\ & = \widehat{\overline{\operatorname{EH}}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t}) - \lambda \big(\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t}) - \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{a}^{t}) \big). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof.

One can readily verify that the objective function of (3.29) takes larger values as the iteration continues. Hence, we adopt an iterative solution to tighten the obtained upper bound based on the **Algorithm 2**.

Algorithm 2 Proposed Iterative Method via D.C. Programming Based on the MM Approach

1: Initialize

MM iteration index t = 0 with maximum number of MM iteration T_{max} , feasible set vector \mathbf{a}^0 , \mathbf{p}^0 , and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^0$, and the penalty factor $\lambda \gg 1$.

2: repeat

- 3: Update $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}(\mathbf{a})$ based on (3.28).
- 4: Solve optimization problem of (3.29) and store the intermediate resource allocation policy \mathbf{a}^t , \mathbf{p}^t , and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t$.
- 5: Set t = t + 1.
- 6: Set $\{\mathbf{a}^t, \mathbf{p}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t\} = \{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}\}.$
- 7: **until** Convergence or $t = T_{max}$
- 8: return $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*\} = \{\mathbf{a}^t, \mathbf{p}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t\}$

Parameter	Value
Cell coverage (d_{max})	20 m
Reference distance (d_0)	$5 \mathrm{m}$
The number of user (K)	4
The number of subcarriers (N)	16
Noise power (σ^2)	-120 dBm
The bandwidth of each subcarrier	$180 \mathrm{~kHz}$
Path loss exponent (α)	2.76
Path loss model for cellular links	$31.7 + 27.6 \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$
Multi-path fading distribution	Rician fading with factor 3 dB
Power conversion efficiency (ϵ)	30%
The maximum transmit power of the AP (p_{max})	$30~\mathrm{dBm}$
The minimum data-rate requirement for the k^{th} user (R_{\min})	1 bps/Hz
Channel realization number	100

Table 3.1: Simulation Parameters

3.4 Complexity Analysis

As can be observed, the joint optimization problem in (3.29) involves KN variables and N + K + 5NK linear constraints. Consequently, it can be concluded that the overall computational complexity of optimization problem is $\mathcal{O}(NK)^2(N + K + 5NK)$. This is asymptotically equal to $\mathcal{O}(NK)^3$, exhibiting a polynomial-time complexity.

3.5 Simulation Results

In this section, the performance gain of the proposed joint subcarrier assignment and power allocation algorithm for SWIPT in the DL direction of a single-cell multi-user OFDMA system is evaluated through extensive simulations. The radius of the cell, d_{max} , is 20 meters, with a reference distance, d_0 , of 5 meters. Moreover, there are K = 4 uniformly and randomly located users between, d_0 , the reference distance and maximum coverage of the small-cell, d_{max} . We further assume a frequency-selective fading channel and consider the central carrier frequency is set to 3 GHz with the bandwidth of each subcarrier being 180 kHz. The number of subcarriers is N = 16, where the optimal set cardinality of subcarriers for ID and EH is determined based on [45]. The variance of the background noise at the receiver is equal to $\sigma_{n,k}^2 = \sigma^2 = -120$ dBm throughout the simulations. Since a line-of-sight (LoS) signal is expected in the received signal, the small-scale fading channel is modeled as Rician fading with Rician factor $\rho = 3$ dB. Besides, the Rician flat fading channel gains include a distance-dependent path loss model of $31.7 + 10\alpha \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$ [dB] (where d is the distance between the transmitter and the receiver) and a log-normal shadowing component with 8 dB standard deviation where the path loss exponent is equal to $\alpha = 2.8$ [110]. These parameters for propagation modeling and simulations follow the suggestions in 3GPP evaluation methodology [111]. The power conversion efficiency of all users, ϵ_k , is assumed to be the same and is equal to $\epsilon_k = \epsilon = 0.3$. The target transmission rate $R_{min} = 1$ bit/second/Hz (bps/Hz) unless otherwise stated. Moreover, we conduct Monte Carlo simulations by generating random realizations of the channel gains to obtain the average harvested energy of the network. Finally, the setting summarized in **Table** (3.1) are used unless otherwise specified.

3.5.1 Total Harvested Energy versus the Maximum Transmit Power

Figure (3.2) shows the total harvested energy versus the maximum transmit power p_{max} . As can be observed, the average total harvested energy grows monotonically as the maximum transmit power increases. Besides, harvested energy for the lower values of the maximum transmit power is low as compared to higher values. This is due to the inability of the AP to contribute to energy harvesting as it is forced to ensure the QoS requirements. Consequently, for the higher values of the maximum transmit power, yet with the same data-rate requirement, the AP can help users to harvest more energy since fewer subcarriers are assigned to ID and more to EH. Hence, excess subcarriers are utilized to provide more harvested energy.



Figure 3.2: Total harvested energy versus the maximum transmit power

For comparison, the performance of the proposed joint optimization algorithm, Method A, is compared with the following benchmark algorithms as of four Methods B-E. Method B is the proposed method in [45]. In this method, a subset of subcarriers is assigned to EH to maximize the harvesting energy based on the resource allocation design. On the other hand, the remaining ones are allocated for ID with an imposed QoS requirement. Method C examines the proposed method in [49] in which each subcarrier set is divided into two groups. Specifically, one group is employed for EH, and the other one is utilized for ID while considering fixed PS ratios. Method D is our proposed method with equal power allocation. This method is based on the proposed algorithm for the subcarrier assignment, while equal power is allocated across subcarrier for each user. Method E is our proposed method with an equal power allocation alongside a random subcarrier assignment. This method considers equal power, where the subcarrier assignment is done randomly for meeting the data-rate requirement. Once the minimum data-rate requirement is satisfied, the remaining subcarriers are assigned to EH.

It can be seen that our proposed method outperforms the other benchmark algorithms due to the joint optimization framework. As can be seen, Method B performs better than Method C. This is because Method B considers the power allocation and subcarrier assignment based on a heuristic search, while in Method C, each subcarrier is split into two streams with a fixed PS ratio. In particular, in Method C, the receiver does not adapt to the channel condition of each subcarrier, and each subcarrier splits the same ratio of power for ID and EH. This results in the degradation of the performance gain and less harvested energy comparatively. Another interesting observation is that considering a joint subcarrier assignment and power allocation in the optimization problem leads to a remarkable enhancement of the performance gain due to mitigating the harmful effect of deep fades experienced in the wireless channel as the resources allocator carefully takes this phenomenon under consideration. It should be noted that the reason the Method E performs worse than the rest is that the subcarriers are assigned randomly together with an equal power assignment to users. Although the performance can improve if the subcarriers are assigned according to the designed resource allocation policy as it is the case in Method D.

3.5.2 Average Harvested Energy versus Distance

Figure 3.3 depicts the harvested energy versus distance between transmitter and receiver. It is observed that as the distance increases, the harvested energy decreases. The reason for this is that by increasing the distance, the channel strength would become weak, and subsequently, more subcarriers with more power are needed to be assigned to meet the minimum required data-rate. Hence, less energy would be harvested by the users since the AP first needs to consume power to secure the quality of experience provisioning. Once the minimum data-rate is met, the rest of the subcarriers would be exploited for EH. It should be noted that the Methods A-E are the

same as defined in the last subsection. The explanations and superiority of Method A also stay the same and is because of our joint optimization network resource allocation framework.



Figure 3.3: Average harvested energy versus distance.

3.5.3 Average Harvested Energy versus Number of Iterations

Figure (3.4) illustrates the convergence of the proposed algorithm for different initialization for the power allocation. It can be observed that the average harvested energy rises up gradually as the number of iterations increases and tends to a stationary point no matter how the power is allocated among users over all subcarriers initially. This is because a more accurate, locally optimal solution can be found by increasing the number of iterations. Likewise, this is equivalent to saying that the algorithm is getting closer to satisfying convergence requirements. In the figure, we compare three initial selections for the power control; $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = \frac{p_{max}}{N}$, i.e., equal power is assigned to all users over all subcarriers, be it to an EH or an ID operation, $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = p_{max}$, i.e., all subcarriers have the maximum power, and $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = 0$, no power is assigned to different subcarriers to start with. Note that the last two power assignments do not satisfy the constraint C_3 in (3.11c). Moreover, even though these curves are obtained for different initial power allocations, they all converge to almost the same value. However, the convergence rate differs significantly from the different power allocation settings: while the initial setting $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = 0$ converges the slowest to the optimal harvested energy, the setting $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = \frac{p_{max}}{N}$, which satisfies the constraints of the optimization problem, converges the fastest, i.e., less than nine iterations are required.



Figure 3.4: Average harvested energy versus number of iterations.



Figure 3.5: Harvested energy versus sum transmit power at different target data-rates.

3.5.4 Harvested Energy versus Maximum Transmit Power at Different Target Data-rates

Figure (3.5) illustrates the harvested energy versus the maximum transmit power, p_{max} , for different data-rate requirements. It can be seen that less energy would be harvested by increasing the minimum data-rate requirement, R_{min} . The reason behind it is quite evident. Considering a fixed maximum transmit power at the AP, more subcarriers with more power would be required to be assigned to each user when the minimum data-rate requirement becomes larger. This means that fewer subcarriers would be assigned to EH operation with lower allocated power. This, in turn, causes less energy to be harvested by the users over the EH subcarriers as the minimum data-rate requirement increases.

3.6 Summary

In this chapter, we investigated the problem of joint subcarrier assignment and power control for SWIPT in a multi-user single small-cell network to maximize the harvesting energy while respecting the minimum required data-rate for each user. We reduced the complexity of the receiver in our proposed algorithm as the receiver does not need a splitter to perform appropriately; that is, neither time nor power splitter is utilized at the receiver. The only knowledge that the resource allocator needs to know is which group of subcarriers is allocated for EH and which group for ID operation, where this knowledge is derived based on the CSI and the designed resource allocation policy. The problem considered in this chapter was a non-convex MILP problem, which is generally difficult to solve. In order to circumvent this difficulty, we relaxed the integer variables and employed the MM approach to convexify the problem. Afterward, the problem was solved in an iterative manner to obtain a locally optimal solution. Simulation results demonstrated that the designed algorithms performed better than other algorithms that have been addressed in the literature.
4

SWIPT in Multi-Cell Networks

Most of the literature on the subject of simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) considers a single-cell network, in which users' data-rate is a function of their signalto-noise ratio (SNR). Although the absence of interference simplifies problem solving, it is clear that these kinds of system models do not accurately represent real-world networks. In contrast to chapter 3, here we examine a multi-cell network that incorporates interference in the data-rate function. It is not always the best practice to maximize energy harvesting when it could result in the network having a lower total data-rate or throughput. Data-rate is conventionally defined as the number of delivered information bits per channel use measured in bit/second/Hz (bps/Hz). In this chapter, we use a smart resource allocation policy to maximize the data-rate, subject to a minimum harvested energy constraint for users.

The problem of resource allocation in multi-cell networks has already been addressed by other researchers, for instance, the authors of [112], who studied an energy-efficient communication in the downlink (DL) of an orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) multi-cell network with large numbers of single antenna cooperative base stations (BSs). They based their work on joint BS zero-forcing beamforming with full channel state information (CSI) while looking at the trade-off between energy efficiency, backhaul capacity, and network capacity. The

authors of [113] studied an adaptive fairness scheduling algorithm in co-located SWIPT-enabled multi-cell DL networks that employs an adjustable weighted sum method as the utility function of each user to study fairness among users. With the aim of maximizing energy harvesting efficiency, the authors of [114] investigated the beamforming design for multi-cell multi-user networks with SWIPT in a co-located receiver architecture. A max-min signal-to-interference plus interference ratio (SINR) problem in the DL of a dense multi-cell SWIPT-enabled network was explored in [115], in which the users near their serving BS can perform both energy harvesting (EH) and information decoding (ID) using the power splitting receiver approach, whereas far-field users can only perform ID. In this chapter, we present a resource allocation policy in a multi-cell multi-user SWIPT-enabled network with a separated receiver architecture. In our system model design, each cell has two ring-shaped boundary regions, in which EH users are placed inside the inner boundary near small base stations (SBSs) and ID users are located in the outer region.

As described in the first chapter, the literature presents several interesting receiver designs for enabling SWIPT, of which the four most viable designs are time switching (TS), power splitting (PS), antenna switching (AS), and the separated receiver architecture. The complex circuitries associated with TS, PS, and AS receiver approaches for SWIPT add one or more additional optimization parameter(s) to the design of a proper resource allocation policy in order to segregate the received signal so it can carry out distinct or simultaneous ID and EH operations. The separated receiver architecture as an enabler of SWIPT networks could be very useful for dramatically reducing the architectural requirements within the transmit-receive operations. Separated design architecture in itself effectively reduces the design complexity of a receiver capable of SWIPT. Here, we investigate resource allocation for a SWIPT-enabled multicell multi-user OFDMA network with a separated receiver architecture. More precisely, we focus on designing a resource allocation algorithm for an OFMDA scheme with SWIPT, in which each SBS serves multiple ID and EH users with a single antenna. For this configuration, we propose a joint subcarrier assignment and power allocation optimization problem that maximizes the total data-rate of the network with the aim of satisfying a minimum data-rate requirement, fulfilling a minimum amount of harvested energy, and respecting the maximum transmit power allowance constraints. The users' data-rate is proportional to their SINR due to the shared frequency spectrum between the cells. Interference in the data-rate function would make the optimization problem non-linear and non-convex – and therefore, very challenging. Next we propose an efficient algorithm via the majorization minimization (MM) approach based on the difference of convex functions (D.C.) programming and variable relaxation. This algorithm is intended to deal with these issues and effectively help to obtain a locally optimal solution for the original problem. Simulation results confirm that our proposed algorithm achieves excellent performance as compared to other studies described in the literature.

4.1 System Model

In this section, we aim at extending the scenario of having only one small-cell, as in chapter 3, to a multi-cell case in an indoor application. As shown in figure (4.1), we consider a DL OFDMA-based network with J cells each having one serving SBS. The set of all SBSs is denoted by $j \in \mathcal{J} = \{1, 2, ..., J\}$. We further assume that each SBS is equipped with a single antenna. The single antenna assumption also holds for all receivers. Furthermore, two sets of users are distinguished in each cell. Let us define the set of ID and EH users at the j^{th} cell as $\mathcal{K}_{j}^{ID} = \{1, 2, ..., K_{j}^{ID}\}$ and $\mathcal{K}_{j}^{EH} = \{1, 2, ..., K_{j}^{EH}\}$, respectively, where $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{K}_{j}^{ID}$ indicates the total number of ID users, $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{K}_{j}^{EH}$ shows the total number of EH users, and $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}} + \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}$ gives the total number of users in the network. The receivers in this chapter are particularly configured based on the separated receiver topology in a multi-cell system using SWIPT, where each cell has two ring-shaped boundary regions. The near users inside the inner boundary can only harvest energy from the SBSs, whereas the far users only receive information signals from the SBSs in the outer region. We additionally assume that the entire frequency band of \mathscr{B} is divided for N orthogonal subcarrier, each having a bandwidth of \mathscr{W} . Furthermore, we consider that each subcarrier is assigned to at most one ID user. Moreover, we assume that the perfect CSI is available at the resource allocator to design the resource allocation policy so as to unveil the performance upper bound of the considered network. For the sake of readability, we first introduce some of the essential parameters that are used to describe the system model:

- $h_{j,n,k}^{ID}$: The DL channel gain for the wireless information transfer from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} ID user over the n^{th} subcarrier.
- $g_{j,n,k}^{EH}$: The DL channel gain for the wireless power transfer from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user over the n^{th} subcarrier.
- $a_{j,n,k}$: Binary subcarrier indicators from the j^{th} SBS corresponding to the k^{th} user when the n^{th} subcarrier is selected.
- $p_{j,n,k}$: The corresponding transmit power from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user over the n^{th} subcarrier.

Then, the received signal at the j^{th} SBS over the n^{th} subcarrier corresponding to the k^{th} ID user is given by

$$y_{j,n,k}^{ID} = a_{j,n,k} \sqrt{p_{j,n,k}} h_{j,n,k}^{ID} + \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} a_{j',n,k'} \sqrt{p_{j',n,k'}} h_{j',n,k}^{ID} + z_{j,n,k}^{ID}, \tag{4.1}$$

where $z_{j,n,k}^{ID}$ is the additive white Gaussian noise at an ID user. More specifically, $z_{j,n,k}^{ID}$ is an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) random variable with zero mean and variance $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2$



Figure 4.1: SWIPT in a DL of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with a separated receiver architecture.

denoted by $z_{j,n,k}^{ID} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2)$. Furthermore, the harvested signal from the j^{th} SBS for the EH user k over the subcarrier n is given by

$$y_{j,n,k}^{EH} = \sqrt{p_{j,n,k}} g_{j,n,k}^{EH} + z_{j,n,k}^{EH}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where $z_{j,n,k}^{EH}$ is the additive white Gaussian noise at the EH user with a circularly symmetric Gaussian distribution referred to as $z_{j,n,k}^{EH} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ED}|^2)$. According to the famous Shannon capacity formula, the data-rate of the k^{th} ID user over the subcarrier n inside the cell j can be written as

$$R_{j,n,k} = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{a_{j,n,k}p_{j,n,k}|h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{j,n,k}}\right),\tag{4.3}$$

where

$$I_{j,n,k} = \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} a_{j',n,k'} p_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2,$$
(4.4)

is the interference term arising from the co-channel effect on the subcarrier n that is emitted by unintended transmitters sharing the same frequency channel.

On the other hand, the transferred wireless energy can be harvested at each EH user when a simple linear EH model is considered. Therefore, the amount of the harvested energy of the k^{th} EH user in the cell j can be calculate according to

$$\operatorname{EH}_{j,k} = \epsilon_{j,k} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2,$$
(4.5)

where $\epsilon_{j,k}$ is the power conversion efficiency as introduced in the previous chapter. It should be noted that the contribution of the noise power, i.e., $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2$, to EH formula in (4.5) is ignored due to being reportedly small compared to the other existing term in (4.5).

Let us now define $\mathbf{p}_{kj} = [p_{j,1,k}, ..., p_{j,N,k}]$ as a row vector encompassing transmit power values assigned to the k^{th} user in the j^{th} cell for subcarriers, and $\mathbf{a}_{kj} = [a_{j,1,k}, ..., a_{j,N,k}]$ as a row binary vector for the same user indicating the selected subcarriers in the j^{th} cell. Furthermore, $\mathbf{p} = [\mathbf{p}_{1,1}, ..., \mathbf{p}_{|\mathcal{K}|,j}]^T$ and $\mathbf{a} = [\mathbf{a}_{1,1}, ..., \mathbf{a}_{|\mathcal{K}|,j}]^T$, denote a vector containing total transmit power in the j^{th} cell for all user and a binary vector representing the assigned subcarrier(s) to each user, respectively. Therefore, we can define the total data-rate as

$$R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} R_{j,n,k}.$$
(4.6)

Similarly, we can define the total harvested energy in the network as

$$\mathrm{EH}^{\mathrm{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}} \mathrm{EH}_{j,k}.$$
(4.7)



Figure 4.2: SWIPT in a DL of an OFDMA network consisting of J = 2 small cells, where there is one user of each type in each cell, i.e., $\mathcal{K}_1^{ID} = \mathcal{K}_2^{ID} = \mathcal{K}_1^{EH} = \mathcal{K}_2^{EH} = 1$.

Furthermore, to guarantee the quality of service (QoS), a minimum data-rate denoted by R_{min} should be provided for ID users. That is

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} R_{j,n,k} \ge R_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}.$$
(4.8)

Moreover, a minimum harvested energy referred to as EH_{min} is also considered for each EH user

$$\operatorname{EH}_{i,k} \ge \operatorname{EH}_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}.$$

$$(4.9)$$

4.2 Optimization Problem Formulation

In this section, we aim at finding a subcarrier assignment and power allocation policy via formulating the system data-rate or throughput maximization problem, while fulfilling a minimum harvested energy requirement for EH receivers and a minimum data-rate requirement for ID receivers. Consequently, we introduce the following optimization problem to maximize the total data-rate of the network

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p}} R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p}) \tag{4.10a}$$

$$s.t.: C_1: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} a_{j,n,k} \le 1, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(4.10b)

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{j,n,k} \ p_{j,n,k} \le p_{max}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J},$$
(4.10c)

$$C_3: \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} R_{j,n,k} \ge R_{min}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.10d)

$$C_4: \operatorname{EH}_{j,k} \ge \operatorname{EH}_{min}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}, \qquad (4.10e)$$

$$C_5: a_{j,n,k} \in \{0,1\}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}.$$
(4.10f)

In the optimization problem (4.10), C_1 indicates that each subcarrier can be allocated to at most one ID user in each cell. C_2 indicates that the total transmit power of SBSs should not exceed their maximum threshold, which is denoted by p_{max} . In C_3 , a minimum rate requirement, R_{min} , is guaranteed for each ID user in each cell and C_4 makes sure of a minimum harvested energy, EH_{min} , is satisfied for each EH user. Lastly, C_5 represents that the subcarrier indicator variable takes only binary values.

Due to the multiplication of two variables, the binary subcarrier allocation variables, and the interference included in the data-rate function, the problem (4.10) is mixed integer non-linear programming (MINLP), which is generally difficult to solve. These challenges that make the above optimization problem complicated are explained further below:

- Multiplication of two variables: Since the multiplication of two variables is non-convex, the term $a_{j,n,k}p_{j,n,k}$ poses a challenge in tackling the optimization problem in (4.10). More specifically, because the maximum total transmit power constraint in C_2 , the minimum data-rate requirement constraint in C_3 , the minimum harvested energy requirement constraint in C_4 , and also the total data-rate objective function, are multiplied by a function of both the transmit power and subcarrier allocation variables (as given in (4.10c), (4.10d), (4.10e), and (4.10a)), these mentioned constraints together with the objective function are non-convex.
- Interference: The inter-cell interference incorporated in data-rate functions, makes both the constraint C_3 and the objective function non-convex.
- Binary subcarrier assignment variable: Discrete subcarrier assignment in C_5 turns (4.10) into a complex MINLP problem.

In the following section, we first restate the problem (4.10) as a mathematically tractable form to maximize the total data-rate by considering the interference in the data-rate function. We also guarantee a minimum data-rate for ID users and a minimum harvested energy for EH users. Furthermore, we propose a suboptimal resource allocation algorithm, which has a polynomialtime computational complexity to compromise between complexity and system performance.

4.3 Solution to the Optimization Problem

In order to address the mixed non-convex and combinatorial optimization problem (4.10), we first deal with the problem of variables multiplication in constraints C_2 , C_3 , and C_4 . In order to handle this difficulty, we adopt the big-M formulation [105] to decouple the product terms. Therefore, we impose the following additional constraints

$$C_6: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \le p_{max} a_{j,n,k}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(4.11)

$$C_7: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \le p_{j,n,k}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(4.12)

$$C_8: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \ge p_{j,n,k} - (1 - a_{j,n,k}) p_{max}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(4.13)

$$C_9: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \ge 0, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(4.14)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times JNK}$ is the collection of all $\tilde{p}_{j,n,k}$'s, and $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{1 \times JNK}$ is the collection of all $a_{j,n,k}$'s. Now, by revisiting the definition of the data-rate function, the data-rate of the k^{th} ID user over the subcarrier n inside the j^{th} cell in (4.3), and also, the total data-rate of the network in (4.6) can be rewritten respectively as

$$\overline{R}_{j,n,k} = \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{p}_{j,n,k} |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} \tilde{p}_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2} \right),$$
(4.15)

$$\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \overline{R}_{j,n,k}.$$
(4.16)

Furthermore, the amount of the harvested energy of the k^{th} EH user in the cell j in (4.5) and the total amount of the harvested energy of the network in (4.7) can be restated as

$$\overline{\mathrm{EH}}_{j,k} = \epsilon_{j,k} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2, \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\widehat{\overline{\text{EH}}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}} \overline{\text{EH}}_{j,k}.$$
(4.18)

Hence, the original optimization problem in (4.10) can be modified as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
(4.19a)

$$s.t.: C_1, C_5 - C_9,$$
 (4.19b)

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \leq p_{max}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J},$$
(4.19c)

$$C_3: \overline{R}_{j,n,k} \ge R_{min}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.19d)

$$C_4: \overline{\operatorname{EH}}_{j,k} \ge \operatorname{EH}_{min}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}.$$
 (4.19e)

Through this method, we have easily and efficiently dealt with the non-convex constraints C_2-C_4 by using their equivalent convex forms. Another challenge in solving the above optimization problem is due to the incorporating interference in the data-rate functions in the constraint C_3 and objective function. This makes the resulting optimization problem in (4.19) still non-convex. To facilitate the solution design, we first rewrite the optimization problem in terms of the D.C. functions. Mathematically speaking, the problem can be restated as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
(4.20a)

$$s.t.: \dot{C}_3: \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.20b)

$$C_1 - C_2, C_4 - C_9. \tag{4.20c}$$

where $\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ and $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ are defined as

$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{n\in\mathcal{N}} \log_2\left(\tilde{p}_{j,n,k}|h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + \left|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}\right|^2 + \sum_{\substack{j'\neq j\\j'\in\mathcal{J}}}\sum_{\substack{k'\neq k\\k'\in\mathcal{K}}}\tilde{p}_{j',n,k'}|h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2\right),\tag{4.21}$$

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2 \left(\left| \sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID} \right|^2 + \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} \tilde{p}_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2 \right).$$
(4.22)

It should be emphasized that $-\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ and $-\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ are now convex functions. In addition, the problem in (4.20) belongs to the class of D.C. programming problems. Consequently, the first-order Taylor approximation can be applied to approximate the D.C. components. This facilitates the design of a computationally efficient iterative resource allocation algorithm for obtaining a locally close-to-optimal solution. Thus, for any feasible point \mathbf{a}^{t-1} and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}$, the following approximation holds [101, 108]

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \simeq \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}) + \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}}\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1})^T.(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}-\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}) \triangleq \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}),$$
(4.23)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}$ is the solution of the problem at the $(t-1)^{th}$ iteration, and ∇_{\Box} represents the gradient with respect to \Box . Accordingly, we rewrite the optimization problem in (4.20) as follows

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
(4.24a)

$$s.t.: \dot{C}_3: \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.24b)

$$C_1 - C_2, C_4 - C_9. \tag{4.24c}$$

It can be perceived that optimization problem in (4.24) is still non-convex due to the integer subcarrier allocation variable, i.e., $a_{j,n,k}$. This binary variable turns (4.24) into an MINLP problem, which makes it challenging to solve with a polynomial-time complexity. To address this issue, we adopt an approach similar to chapter 3, and substitute the constraint C_5 with the following inequalities

$$\dot{C}_5: 0 \le a_{j,n,k} \le 1, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$

$$(4.25)$$

$$\ddot{C}_5: \sum_{j\in\mathcal{J}}\sum_{k\in\mathcal{K}}\sum_{n\in\mathcal{N}}a_{j,n,k} - (a_{j,n,k})^2 \le 0.$$
(4.26)

In this regard, the constraint \dot{C}_5 converts the binary variable $a_{j,n,k}$ into a continuous variable with values in the close interval [0, 1] which contains zero, one, and all real numbers in between. However, in the constraint \ddot{C}_5 , the value of $a_{j,n,k}$ is restricted to two possible values, i.e., zero and one. These two integer numbers are the only numbers that satisfy the constraint \ddot{C}_5 , and thereby, belong to the set $\{0, 1\}$. In the same way as discussed in previous paragraphs, we can now write the constraint \ddot{C}_5 in the D.C. format as $\nu(\mathbf{a}) - \mu(\mathbf{a}) \leq 0$ where

$$\nu(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{j,n,k}, \qquad (4.27)$$

$$\mu(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} (a_{j,n,k})^2.$$
(4.28)

Similar to the approach used for the data-rate function in (4.21) and (4.22), we employ an equivalent methodology based on the MM approach to make the constraint \ddot{C}_5 convex. This is done by taking the first-order Taylor approximation of $\mu(\mathbf{a})$. Consequently, $\mu(\mathbf{a})$ can be approximated as

$$\mu(\mathbf{a}) \simeq \mu(\mathbf{a}^{(t-1)}) + \nabla_{\mathbf{a}} \mu(\mathbf{a}^{t-1})^T (\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{a}^{t-1}) \triangleq \tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a}).$$
(4.29)

Therefore, the constraint \hat{C}_5 can be restated as $\nu(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a}) \leq 0$ which is now convex. Finally, the optimization problem at hand can be reformulated as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
(4.30a)

$$s.t.: \dot{C}_3: \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.30b)

$$\ddot{C}_5:\nu(\mathbf{a})-\tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a})\leq 0,\tag{4.30c}$$

$$C_1 - C_2, C_4, C_5, C_6 - C_9.$$
 (4.30d)

The optimization problem (4.30) is convex and can be solved efficiently via D.C. approximation based on the interior point methods [92]. As a result, the solution of (4.30) would be an approximation to the solution of the original problem given in (4.10). However, in D.C. programming, the iteration begins from a feasible initial point and solves the optimization problem iteratively until it eventually approaches a close-to-optimal solution [107, 108, 109]. Besides, it worth mentioning that the MM approach produces a sequence of improved feasible solutions with the adopted D.C. approximation, which will ultimately converge to a locally optimal solution $(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*)$ using standard convex program solvers such as CVX.

Proposition 3. The solution obtained from (4.30) satisfies the constraints \dot{C}_3 and \ddot{C}_5 in (4.20b) respectively (4.26), by using the first-order concave function for $\mathcal{V}(\boldsymbol{a}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{p}})$ and the first-order convex function for $\mu(\boldsymbol{a})$.

Proof. It is straightforward to show that $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ is a concave function. Hence, the gradient of $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ is a supergradient [116]. This yields

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \le \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}).$$
 (4.31)

Subsequently, one may easily conclude from the inequality in (4.23) that

$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}).$$
 (4.32)

Similarly, since $\mu(\mathbf{a})$ is a convex function, its gradient is a subgradient [116]. Thus, we have

$$\nu(\mathbf{a}) - \mu(\mathbf{a}) \le \nu(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a}). \tag{4.33}$$

Nevertheless, it should be noted that the existence of subgradients and supergradients are closely tied to the fact that $\mu(\mathbf{a})$ and $-\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ are locally Lipschitz [116]. Accordingly, the constraint $\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \geq R_{min}$ is satisfied if $\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ is greater than R_{min} for each user. In the same way, if $\nu(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a}) \leq 0$, the inequality $\nu(\mathbf{a}) - \mu(\mathbf{a}) \leq 0$ holds as well. This completes the proof.

Proposition 4. The surrogate functions that are employed to approximate the non-convex optimization problem in (4.30) provide a tight lower bound for the objective function in (4.20). *Proof.* Borrowing the first part of the proof from the proof of **Proposition 3**, the following inequality holds for the objective function in (4.30)

$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}) + \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1})^T . (\tilde{\mathbf{p}} - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}),$$
(4.34)

where, the equality holds when $\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{a}^{t-1}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}} = \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t-1}$. Thus, the MM updates furnish a candidate subgradient in each iteration. This demonstrates the tightness of the lower bound and completes the proof.

Proposition 5. By incorporating D.C. approximation, the solution of (4.30) improves after each iteration

Proof. For the objective function in (4.20), we have the following in the t^{th} iteration

$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t)$$
(4.35)

Subsequently, in the next iteration, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}) \\ &\geq \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}^{t+1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t)^T.(\tilde{\mathbf{p}} - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) \\ &= \max_{\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t)^T.(\tilde{\mathbf{p}} - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) \\ &\geq \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t)^T.(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) \\ &= \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t) - \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t). \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

One can readily verify that the objective function of (4.30) takes larger values as the iteration proceeds. Therefore, the solution to the optimization problem improves gradually. Hence, we adopt an iterative solution to tighten the obtained upper bound based on the **Algorithm 3**. Like so, the proposed iterative resource allocation scheme generates a monotonically non-decreasing sequence of feasible solution, i.e., \mathbf{a}^{t+1} , \mathbf{p}^{t+1} , and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t+1}$, by solving the convex problem in (4.30).

4.4 Computational Complexity

In this section, we aim at investigating the computational complexity of the proposed algorithm. The optimization problem (4.30) includes NJK variables and J(1+N+K)+5JNK linear convex constraints. Therefore, the computational complexity is that of order $\mathcal{O}(NJK)^3(J(1+N+K)+5JNK))$. Despite the polynomial-time computational complexity of our proposed algorithm,

Algorithm 3 Proposed Iterative Method via D.C. Programming Based on the MM Approach

1: Initialize

MM iteration index t = 0 with maximum number of MM iteration T_{max} and feasible set vector \mathbf{a}^0 , \mathbf{p}^0 , and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^0$.

2: repeat

- 3: Update $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}), \tilde{\mu}(\mathbf{a})$ as presented in (4.23) and (4.29) respectively.
- 4: Solve optimization problem of (4.30) and store the intermediate resource allocation policy \mathbf{a}^t , \mathbf{p}^t , and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t$.
- 5: Set t = t + 1.
- 6: Set $\{\mathbf{a}^t, \mathbf{p}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t\} = \{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}\}.$
- 7: **until** Convergence or $t = T_{max}$
- 8: return $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*\} = \{\mathbf{a}^t, \mathbf{p}^t, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^t\}$

the computation cost is still high and may become unaffordable for resource allocators with predefined capabilities. However, it should not be neglected that the computational complexity of **Algorithm 3** is lower compared to the exhaustive search approaches. Moreover, it is worth mentioning that **Algorithm 3** provides a locally optimal solution that is closely approaching the optimal solution. Nevertheless, in what follows, we provide a low complexity algorithm for designing the resource allocation policy.

4.5 Low Complexity Algorithm Design (Lower Bound)

In this section, we introduce another algorithm with even lower computational complexity to improve the practicality of **Algorithm 3**. In order to handle the non-convexity of data-rate functions, we first assume that there is an upper bound for the interference term and impose the following constraint on the optimization problem

$$I_{j,n,k} \le I_{max}^n,\tag{4.36}$$

where I_{max}^n is the maximum tolerable inter-cell interference parameter. In this way, we can derive an efficient resource allocation algorithm by trimming the solution design. To improve performance, we can control the interference level in each subcarrier by the resource allocator policy through varying the value of I_{max}^n [117]. Also, we can have a concave function and therefore a computable data-rate, if we replace $I_{j,n,k}$ by I_{max}^n in data-rate functions. At this point, we describe a tractable solution methodology for the original problem in the following subsection.

4.5.1 Low Complexity Power Control and Subcarrier Assignment

In this subsection, we seek to attain a low complexity suboptimal subcarrier assignment and power allocation algorithm. To derive a cost-efficient resource allocation design, it is required to

63

relax the binary subcarrier assignment constraint. This is done by transforming the subcarrier assignment variable $a_{i,n,k}$ into a continuous constraint with values within the close interval [0,1]. In this sense, the fraction of time that subcarrier n is assigned to the user k would be the physical interpretation of the continuous $a_{j,n,k}$. Notwithstanding the non-convexity of the original optimization problem, strong duality still holds as a consequence of the time-sharing condition addressed in [118, 119]. Finally, by defining a new power allocation variable as $\tilde{q}_{j,n,k} = a_{j,n,k}p_{j,n,k}$, the modified optimization problem can be expressed as

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{q}}} \frac{\mathcal{R}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{q}})}{(4.37a)}$$

$$s.t.: C_1: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} a_{j,n,k} \le 1, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(4.37b)

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} \le p_{max}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \qquad (4.37c)$$

$$C_3: \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{q}_{j,n,k} \ |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n} \right) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}},$$
(4.37d)

$$C_4: \epsilon_{j,k} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2 \ge \mathrm{EH}_{min}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}},$$
(4.37e)

$$\leq a_{j,n,k} \leq 1,$$
 $\forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$ (4.37f)

$$C_{6}: \sum_{\substack{j'\neq j\\j'\in\mathcal{J}}}\sum_{\substack{k'\neq k\\k'\in\mathcal{K}}}\tilde{p}_{j',n,k'}|h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^{2} \leq I_{max}^{n}, \qquad \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(4.37g)

where

 $C_{5}:0$

1 5

$$\underline{\mathcal{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{q}_{j,n,k} |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n} \right).$$
(4.38)

It is easy to verify that Slater's condition holds for the above convex optimization problem. Therefore, solving the dual problem is equivalent to solving the primal problem due to strong duality. In order to obtain the corresponding resource allocation policy, the Lagrangian method is applied to the convex optimization problem in (4.37). Hence, the Lagrangian function is as follows

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}, \boldsymbol{\chi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \underline{\mathcal{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}) - \boldsymbol{\chi} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}} a_{j,n,k} - 1 \right) - \boldsymbol{\phi} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} - p_{max} \right) + \boldsymbol{\zeta} \left(\sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{q}_{j,n,k} |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n} \right) - R_{min} \right) + \boldsymbol{\tau} \left(\epsilon_{j,k} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2 - \text{EH}_{min} \right) - \boldsymbol{\theta} \left(\sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} \tilde{p}_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2 - I_{max}^n \right),$$
(4.39)

where χ , ϕ , ζ , τ , θ are the Lagrangian vectors associated with the constraints. Specifically, the Lagrange multiplier vector with respect to the OFDMA constraint, i.e., the first constraint C_1 , has its elements as $\chi_{j,n}$'s where $j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$ and $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$. The ϕ is the Lagrange multiplier vector accounting for the maximum transmit power constraint C_2 with ϕ_j 's where $j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$. The Lagrange multiplier vector ζ that corresponds to the data-rate constraint C_3 posses the elements $\zeta_{j,k}$'s, where $j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$ and $k \in \{1, 2, ..., \mathcal{K}_I\}$. The vector τ is the Lagrange multiplier vector for the constraint C_4 with the elements $\tau_{j,k}$'s, where $j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$ and $k \in \{1, 2, ..., \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{E}}\}$. Finally, the Lagrange multipliers vector for the interference threshold constraint C_6 is θ that has components $\theta_{j,n,k}$'s, where $j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$, $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, and $k \in \{1, 2, ..., \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{I}}\}$. It should be pointed out that the boundary constraints are absorbed into the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions when deriving the resource allocation policy. Thus, the dual problem of (4.37) is given by

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{\chi},\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\zeta},\boldsymbol{\tau},\boldsymbol{\theta}} \max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{q}}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{p},\tilde{\mathbf{q}},\boldsymbol{\chi},\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\zeta},\boldsymbol{\tau},\boldsymbol{\theta}).$$
(4.40)

In the following, we solve the above dual problem iteratively by decomposing it into two layers. The first layer, Layer 1, consists of subproblems with identical structures while the second layer, Layer 2, is the master dual problem to be solved with the gradient method.

Dual Decomposition and Layer 1 Solutions: By dual decomposition, the first layer can be written as follows

$$\mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\chi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}, \boldsymbol{\chi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\theta}).$$
(4.41)

For a fixed set of Lagrange multipliers, (4.41) is a convex optimization problem, for which a unique optimal solution can be obtained using the Lagrange dual function. Forming the Lagrangian, taking the derivative of the Lagrangian with respect to $\tilde{\mathbf{q}}$ and setting the derivative equal to zero, the transmit power $\tilde{\mathbf{q}}$ is obtained. Using standard optimization techniques and the KKT conditions, the power allocation for user k on subcarrier n in the cell j is obtained as

$$\tilde{q}_{j,n,k}^{*} = a_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k}^{*} = a_{j,n,k} \left[\frac{1}{\ln\left(2\right)} \left(\frac{1 + \zeta_{j,k}}{\phi_{j} + \theta_{j,n,k} |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^{2} - \tau_{j,k} \epsilon_{j,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^{2}} \right) - \frac{\left|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}\right|^{2} + I_{max}^{n}}{|h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^{2}} \right]^{+}.$$

$$(4.42)$$

The power allocation has the form of multilevel water-filling. It can be seen that the data-rate prevents energy inefficient transmission by truncating the water-levels [120].

In order to obtain the optimal subcarrier allocation, we take the derivative of the subproblem's objective function with respect to $a_{j,n,k}$, that is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}, \boldsymbol{\chi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\theta})}{\partial a_{j,n,k}} \bigg|_{\tilde{q}_{j,n,k}^*} = \mathscr{S}_{j,n,k},$$
(4.43)

JFMJ

where $\mathscr{S}_{j,n,k} \geq 0$ can be interpreted as the marginal benefit, as discussed in [121], for allocating subcarrier n to user k and is given by

$$\mathscr{S}_{j,n,k} = (1+\zeta_{j,k}) \left[\log_2 \left(1 + \frac{p_{j,n,k}^* |h_{j,n,k}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n} \right) - \frac{1}{\ln(2)} \left(\frac{p_{j,n,k}^* |h_{j,n,k}|^2}{\tilde{p}_{j,n,k}^* |h_{j,n,k}|^2 + |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n} \right) \right] + \tau_{j,k} \epsilon_{j,k} p_{j,n,k}^* |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2 - \theta_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k}^* |h_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 - \phi_j p_{j,n,k}^* - \chi_{j,n}.$$
(4.44)

It should be noted that $\mathscr{S}_{j,n,k} \geq 0$ has a physical meaning that users with negative scheduled data-rate on subcarrier n are not selected as they can only provide a negative marginal benefit to the system. Subsequently, the subcarrier allocation should satisfy the following region

$$a_{j,n,k}^* = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathscr{S}_{j,n,k} \ge \chi_{j,n}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

Solution of Layer 2 Master Problem: To find the optimum subcarrier assignment (4.45), we must first determine the threshold $\mathscr{S}_{j,n,k}$. However, the subcarrier assignment depends on the Lagrangian variables $\tilde{q}_{j,n,k}$. Therefore, we employ the subgradient method to find the Lagrangian multipliers for a given $\tilde{\mathbf{q}}$. Hence, we have

$$\phi_j^{i+1} = \left[\phi_j^i + \alpha_1 \left(\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} - p_{max}\right)\right]^+,\tag{4.46}$$

$$\zeta_{j,k}^{i+1} = \left[\zeta_{j,k}^{i} - \alpha_2 \left(\sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{q}_{j,n,k} \ |h_{j,n,k}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 + I_{max}^n}\right) - R_{min}\right)\right]^+,\tag{4.47}$$

$$\tau_{j,k}^{i+1} = \left[\tau_{j,k}^{i} + \alpha_3 \left(\epsilon_{j,k} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{q}_{j,n,k} |g_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2 - \mathrm{EH}_{min}\right)\right]^+,\tag{4.48}$$

$$\theta_{j,n,k}^{i+1} = \left[\theta_{j,n,k}^i - \alpha_4 \left(\sum_{\substack{j'\neq j\\j'\in\mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k'\neq k\\k'\in\mathcal{K}}} \tilde{p}_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^{ID}|^2 - I_{max}^n\right)\right]^+,\tag{4.49}$$

where index $i \ge 0$ is iteration index, and α_q 's, $q \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, are positive step sizes. The details of the low complexity algorithm are sketched in Algorithm 4.

Algorithm 4 Low Complexity Power Control and Subcarrier Assignment

1: Initialize

iteration index i = 0 with the maximum number of iteration \mathcal{I}_{max}

and Lagrangian variables vectors $\chi, \phi, \zeta, \tau, \theta$ for a feasible set vector $\{\mathbf{a}^0, \mathbf{p}^0, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}^0\}$.

2: repeat

- 3: Update power allocation policy using (4.42).
- 4: Calculate $\mathscr{S}_{j,n,k}$ based on (4.44) and find optimal subcarrier assignment using (4.45).
- 5: Update Lagrangian variables vectors based on (4.46)-(4.49).
- 6: Set i = i + 1.
- 7: **until** Convergence or $i = \mathcal{I}_{max}$
- 8: return $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}^*\}$

4.6 Simulation Results

In this section, the performance gain of the proposed subcarrier and power allocation algorithms for SWIPT in the DL direction of a multi-cell multi-user OFDMA system is evaluated through extensive simulations. There are J = 3 cells in the network topology with $K_j = 4$ users in each cell. From the considered four users in each cell with ring-shaped boundary regions, two are uniformly and randomly located inside the inner-circle while two are in the outer-zone, i.e., $K_i^{EH} = 2 = K_i^{ID} = 2 \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J} = \{1, 2, 3\}.$ We set the radius of a cell, d_{max} , as 20 meters, with a reference distance, d_0 , of 5 meters, where the EH users are placed in the interval $(0, d_0]$ while ID used are inside (d_0, d_{max}) . Additionally, we consider a frequency-selective fading channel and further assume the central carrier frequency is set to be 3 GHz. The number of subcarriers is N = 16, where the bandwidth of each subcarrier is set to 180 kHz. It should be noted that as the power of the background noise for both EH and ID receivers is rather small compared to maximum transmit power, p_{max} , it is assumed to have $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{EH}|^2 = |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2 = \sigma^2 = -120$ dBm in all simulations. Since a line-of-sight (LoS) signal is expected in the received signal, the small-scale fading channel is modeled as Rician fading with Rician factor $\rho = 3$ dB. Moreover, the Rician flat fading channel gains include a distance-dependent path loss component of $31.7 + 10\alpha \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$ [dB] (where d is the distance between the transmitter and the receiver) and a log-normal shadowing

Table 4.1:	Simulation	Parameters	

Parameter	Value
Cell coverage (d_{max})	20 m
Reference distance (d_0)	$5 \mathrm{m}$
The number of cell (J)	3
The number of ID user in each cell (K_j^{ID})	2
The number of EH user in each cell (K_j^{EH})	2
The number of subcarrier (N)	16
Noise power (σ^2)	-120 dBm
The bandwidth of each subcarrier	180 kHz
Path loss exponent (α)	2.76
Path loss model for cellular links	$31.7 + 27.6 \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$
Multi-path fading distribution	Rician fading with factor 3 dB
Power conversion efficiency (ϵ)	30%
The maximum transmit power of the SBS (p_{max})	30 dBm
The minimum data-rate requirement for k^{th} ID user (R_{\min})	$1 \mathrm{~bps/Hz}$
The minimum harvested requirement (EH_{min})	0 dBm
The maximum interference threshold (I_{max}^n)	-70 dBm
Channel realization number	100

component with 8 dB standard deviation where the path loss exponent is equal to $\alpha = 2.8$ [110]. These parameters for propagation modeling and simulations follow the suggestions in 3GPP evaluation methodology [111]. The power conversion efficiency of all EH users, $\epsilon_{j,k}$, is assumed to be the same and is equal to $\epsilon_{j,k} = \epsilon = 0.3$. The target transmission rate $R_{min} = 1$ bps/Hz for each ID used unless otherwise stated. The minimum harvested energy is EH_{min} for each EH user. Besides, a maximum interference threshold of -70 dBm is considered for the low complexity design algorithm [117]. Furthermore, we conduct Monte Carlo simulations by generating random realizations of the channel gains to obtain the average data-rate of the network. In fact, the channel gain between a transmitter and a receiver is calculated using independent and identically distributed Rician flat fading and the figures shown in this section are obtained by estimating the average of results over different realizations of path-loss as well as multi-path fading. The rest of the simulation parameters are given in **Table** (4.1) unless otherwise is specified.

4.6.1 Average Sum Data-rate versus Minimum Data-rate Requirement

In figure (4.3), the average sum data-rate versus minimum data-rate requirement is depicted. It is illustrated that as R_{min} increases, the average sum data-rate decreases. The reason is that when R_{min} is high, more subcarrier have to be assigned to ID users to satisfy the minimum data-rate requirement, especially to those users with poor channel conditions in an extremely deep fade. This is in conjunction with the necessity of higher transmit power for reaching a certain data-rate. However, more transmit power also means more interference that obstructs



Figure 4.3: Average sum data-rate versus minimum data-rate requirement.

the data transmission. This excess interference adversely shows itself in data-rate functions that would substantially decrease the achievable data-rate. In fact, as the maximum transmit power increases, the interference power arising from co-channel becomes more severe, degenerating the received user signals. We also observe that **Algorithm 3** outperforms both **Algorithm 4** and the alternative search method (ASM). It can be concluded that the proposed **Algorithm 3** has considerably better performance due not only to performing a joint resource allocation policy, but also acknowledging the interference term as a variable in data-rate functions, which in turn stresses the dependency between power and subcarrier allocation. For the ASM, we employ a heuristic search method in which we decouple the problem of joint subcarrier assignment and power allocation to maximize the system throughput based on [122].

4.6.2 Average Sum Data-rate versus Maximum Transmit Power

Figure (4.4) shows the average system data-rate versus maximum allowance transmit power, p_{max} , for SBSs. It can be seen from this figure that the average sum data-rate increases by raising the maximum transmit power. We also observe that the average sum data-rate grows monotonically up to 35 dBm. Nevertheless, the slope of the curve in the average sum data-rate is declined as the maximum transmit power gets larger values. Particularly, the average sum data-rate should be kept in mind: increasing the transmit power does not improve data-rate perpetually. More transmit power also means more intensified interference level that hampers the information



Figure 4.4: Average sum data-rate versus maximum transmit power.

transmission. These excess interference terms from the co-channel show itself in the data-rate functions negatively. Therefore, the slope of the sum data-rate tends to decrease at some point, which bounds the maximum achievable data-rate to an almost constant value. Furthermore, for comparison and evaluation of our proposed method, we consider two baseline schemes. Baseline scheme 1 is based on the decoupling of the subcarrier assignment and power allocation variables in which the original problem is divided into two disjoints optimization problems [122]. For baseline scheme 2, only power allocation is performed while the subcarrier assignment is done randomly. It can be seen that the proposed **Algorithm 3** outperforms the other methods due to solving the optimization problem jointly based on the MM approach. This yields a close-to-optimal solution.

4.6.3 Average Sum Data-rate Versus Number of Iterations

In figure (4.5), we examine the convergence behavior of our proposed iterative method via the MM approach under different initialization of power. It can be observed that **Algorithm 3** has a quick convergence at an equal power allocation over all subcarriers, that is $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = \frac{p_{max}}{N}$, whereas it requires a little more number of iterations for zero power, i.e., the extreme case with $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = 0$. This figure also demonstrates even though the speed of convergence differs from one case to another, our proposed method quickly converges to a stationary point only after a small limited number of iterations.



Figure 4.5: Average sum data-rate versus number of iteration under different initialization of the power.



Figure 4.6: Average sum data-rate versus number of iteration under different number of subcarriers.

To give another perspective, figure (4.6) is plotted that shows the average sum data-rate versus the number of iteration for a different number of subcarriers. It can be seen that as the number of subcarrier increases, the average sum data-rate increases as well. This is because with increasing the number of subcarriers, an ID user is more likely to choose subcarriers with higher channel quality gains, leading to more significant system throughput in agreement with the effect of channel diversity. Another interesting observation in this figure is the convergence behavior of our proposed algorithm. It should be emphasised that the number of subcarriers affects convergence behavior of **Algorithm 3**. The more the number of subcarriers, the more iterations are needed for our proposed algorithm to converge. The reason for this can be attributed to an expansion in the search region of the optimization problem in (4.30). Due to the existence of more binary subcarriers allocation variables that must accordingly be assigned to ID users, extra iterations are required for our proposed algorithm based on the MM approach to settle in a stationary point.

4.6.4 Average Sum Data-rate versus Number of Cells

Figure (4.7) investigates the sum data-rate of J small-cells when the number of small-cells varies from 3 to 7. With the number of small-cells going up, the average sum data-rate improves even more, although the total number of subcarrier is fixed in the entire network. This is because each subcarrier has more candidate users of small-cells to choose from (according to the channel



Figure 4.7: Average sum data-rate versus number of cells.

quality between the SBS and each ID user), when the number of small-cells increases. This is known as multi-user diversity. Consequently, each small-cell throughput improves, which results in an enhancement of the average sum data-rate of the whole network. Moreover, we can further conclude from the same figure that **Algorithm 3** performs better in comparison to other algorithms due to designing a joint resource allocation framework.

4.7 Summary

In this chapter, we studied throughput or data-rate maximization for indoor SWIPT-enabled OFDMA multi-user multi-cell networks. In particular, we considered the separated receiver architecture in which the ID and EH users are separated in the coverage area of a SBS and located in two distinct regions. Taking into account the subcarrier assignment and power allocation, a resource allocation problem was formulated to maximize data-rate while respecting the minimum required data-rate for each ID user and minimum harvesting energy for each EH user. The underlying problem was non-convex MINLP. We employed the MM approach, where a surrogate function serves to approximate the non-convex term. Since the computational complexity of MM approach was high, we also proposed a suboptimal subcarrier assignment and power allocation algorithm to solve the problem with lower complexity . Through simulation results, we demonstrated the excellent performance of our proposed algorithms compared to state-of-the-art algorithms that have been addressed in the literature. Furthermore, numerical results clearly

72

demonstrated that our proposed scheme would substantially improve the system throughput, although it converges to a stationary point even after small number of iterations.

5

Generalized Antenna Switching Technique in SWIPT

Most works about simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) focus either on maximizing energy harvesting, which we discuss in chapter 3, or maximizing throughput, in chapter 4. Nevertheless, deploying algorithms to reap more harvested energy in the overall network topology adversely affects information transfer, and this in turn causes the quality of service (QoS) of the system to degenerate. Besides, global commitments to sustainable development are contravened if the system design merely seeks to maximize the spectral efficiency (SE) by improving throughput in light of the inexorable increase of network power consumption. Therefore, energy efficiency (EE) maximization is the focus of this chapter. It should be noted that EE, conventionally defined as the quantity of transmitted information bits per unit energy (bits/joule), and the need for a high SE are key performance indicators in communication networks.

More features can be added to SWIPT networks by employing multiple antennas at the transmitter and receiver – commonly referred to as multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems. With respect to receivers, multiple receive antennas can help users harvest more energy because



Figure 5.1: Antenna selection architecture.

of the broadcast nature of wireless transmission. Furthermore, the efficiency of information and energy transfer can be significantly improved by using multiple transmit antennas. That is why it is not surprising that MIMO is regarded as a promising technology – not only for improving network throughput and radio communication system reliability, but also because of the distinct features of SWIPT systems. However, pre-processing and post-processing are required at both transmitters and receivers in multiple antenna systems, which increases the cost and complexity of system designs. Various antenna selection methods have been proposed in [122, 123, 124] as low-cost and simpler solutions for exploiting the performance gain, by achieving a diversity gain, that is promised by multiple antenna systems.

The fundamental idea of antenna selection is that the limited available radio frequency (RF) chains, which provide wireless links with the most reliable signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), are assigned to transmit and receive antennas. The building block of an antenna selection unit is depicted in figure (5.1). Since antenna selection is considered a novel technique that provides higher flexibility to the system operator while also offering a better policy for resource allocation, we briefly explain its basic working principle below. As can be seen, the input data stream is mapped to the corresponding symbol data at the transmitter by the symbol mapping block. A symbol data frame, generated by the symbol mapping block, goes to the subcarrier allocation block, which allocates the data to the antenna selected by the RF switch associated with a specific subcarrier. Then the output sequences from the subcarrier allocation block are applied to inverse fast Fourier transform (IFFT) blocks, and a guard interval (GI) is added to each time-domain signal being transmitted by its respective transmit antenna.

There are two basic approaches to deploying antenna selection in OFDMA systems: bulk selection and per-subcarrier selection. In bulk selection, the same antennas are chosen for all subcarriers, whereas in per-subcarrier selection the antennas for each subcarrier are selected in-

77

dependently [125]. The same principle holds for antenna selection at the receiver. This subject is developed in [126]. The uplink (UL) of the fourth generation (4G) standard of long term evolution, known as LTE-Advanced, uses the antenna selection technique because of its low implementation cost and the small amount of feedback required – compared to existing techniques such as beamforming and precoding [127].

To the authors' best knowledge, antenna selection in SWIPT networks with a focus on resource allocation design has not yet been studied. We therefore present a theoretical study of an EE optimization problem that considers an antenna selection approach in a SWIPT system. In the introduction we defined the antenna switching (AS) scheme as a SWIPT enabler, whereby the user is equipped with independent antennas for energy harvesting (EH) and information decoding (ID) operations. The antenna selection technique at the receiver can be viewed as a generalization of the AS scheme in a co-located SWIPT network with distinct subsets of antennas that could be assigned to EH and ID operations if permitted by channel quality and the channel state information (CSI). We refer to this observation as a "generalized AS technique" in SWIPT. By this we mean that the generalized AS acts as a "switch" in the operation mode of the antenna; each antenna is capable of both ID and EH operations. To further explore the EE of the generalized AS-based SWIPT system, we study this scheme in a downlink (DL) of a multiuser multi-cell orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) network. Intuitively, a higher data-rate and more harvested energy would be expected if more receive antennas were activated. The objective function of this chapter's optimization problem is under the condition of satisfying the minimum data-rate requirement and respecting the maximum power transfer constraints. This is achieved by jointly optimizing subcarrier assignment and power allocation with the receive active antenna set selection.

This particular EE optimization problem is complicated because it is non-convex and fractionalcombinatorial. We begin by dividing the main problem into two subproblems. The first subproblem concerns the joint small base station (SBS)-subcarrier assignment and power allocation while the second subproblem seeks to determine the best antennas based on the scheduling (joint SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation) chosen for ID or EH operations. We confirm the validity of our theoretical findings for the generalized AS-based SWIPT systems by providing simulation results to draw design insights and demonstrate how our proposed algorithm achieves excellent performance while also reducing the computational cost at the receiver.

5.1 System Model

In this section, we consider a DL of an OFDMA network in a multi-user multi-cell network using SWIPT, as shown in figure (5.2). We assume that the coverage area of the specific region is provided via a set of $j \in \mathcal{J} = \{1, 2, ..., J\}$ cells with one serving SBS in each cell. Moreover,

only one single transmit antenna is handling the corresponding users in the associating cell, even though all SBSs are equipped with multiple antennas. We additionally assume that the entire frequency band of \mathscr{B} is divided into N orthogonal subcarrier, each having a bandwidth of \mathscr{W} . All cells share the subcarrier set $\mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, where $|\mathcal{N}| = N$ indicates the total number of subcarriers. The set of all users in a given cell j is represented by $\mathcal{K}_j = \{1, 2, ..., K_j\}$, where the total number of users in that cell is $|\mathcal{K}_j| = K_j$. Furthermore, $\mathcal{K} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{K}_j$ gives the total number of users in the network. Besides, each user is equipped with multiple antennas, where the set of antennas is represented by $m \in \mathcal{M} = \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ with $|\mathcal{M}| = M$ for each user. It is also assumed that the perfect CSI is available at the resource allocator to design the resource allocation policy. Note that there is a centralized controller that is connected to all the SBSs. Specifically, it is presumed that each SBS broadcasts orthogonal preambles, pilot signals, in the DL to the users. Then, through a feedback channel, each user estimates the CSI and transfers this information back to the associated SBS. Afterward, the corresponding SBS listens to the sounding reference signals communicated by the users and sends the CSI to the centralized controller for resource allocation design.

Furthermore, with multiple antenna setting in each user, the best antenna can be selected for both ID and EH operation in each subcarrier based on the optimization problem. However, these operation modes cannot be done over the same antenna at the same time. Beside, we assume a per-subcarrier selection method for the generalized AS approach in this chapter. In this regard, all the assigned subcarriers can be used to receive signals from different antennas resulting in a better degree of freedom by increasing the throughput of the system. For the sake of readability, we first introduce some of the essential parameters that are used to describe the system model:

- $h_{j,n,k}^m$: The DL channel gain for the wireless information transfer from the j^{th} SBS to the user k using its m antenna over the n^{th} subcarrier.
- $g_{j,n,k}^m$: The DL channel gain for the wireless power transfer from the j^{th} SBS to the user k using its m antenna over the n^{th} subcarrier.
- $x_{j,n,k}^m$: Binary antenna selection indicators from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user over the n^{th} subcarrier when the m^{th} antenna is selected for harvesting energy.
- $a_{j,n,k}$: Binary subcarrier indicators from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user when the n^{th} subcarrier is selected.
- $p_{j,n,k}$: The corresponding transmit power from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user in the n^{th} subcarrier.

The generalized AS technique is performed to distinguish between the information and power transfer signals. Through this methodology, the receiver antennas can be separated into two



Figure 5.2: SWIPT in a DL of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with generalized AS receivers.

groups. One group of antennas is used for harvesting energy, whereas the other group handles wireless information reception. In fact, each antenna of each user can switch its operation mode in different subcarriers for either ID or EH. Then, the received ID signal from the j^{th} SBS to the k^{th} user over the n^{th} subcarrier is given by

$$y_{j,n,k}^{\text{ID}} = \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} (1 - x_{j,n,k}^m) a_{j,n,k} \sqrt{p_{j,n,k}} h_{j,n,k}^m + \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} \sum_{\substack{m' \neq m \\ m' \in \mathcal{M}}} (1 - x_{j,n,k}^{m'}) a_{j',n,k'} \sqrt{p_{j',n,k'}} h_{j',n,k}^{m'} + z_{j,n,k}^{\text{ID}},$$
(5.1)

where $z_{j,n,k}^{ID}$ is the additive white Gaussian noise at the k^{th} user when its ID antennas are switched on. More specifically, $z_{j,n,k}^{ID}$ is an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) random variable with zero mean and variance $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2$ denoted by $z_{j,n,k}^{ID} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ID}|^2)$. Moreover, the EH signal from the j^{th} SBS for the user k over the subcarrier n is given by

$$y_{j,n,k}^{EH} = \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} (x_{j,n,k}^{m}) \sqrt{p_{j,n,k}} g_{j,n,k}^{m} + \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ m' \neq m}} \sum_{\substack{m' \neq m \\ (x_{j,n,k}^{m'})} \sqrt{p_{j',n,k'}} g_{j',n,k}^{m'} + z_{j,n,k}^{EH},$$
(5.2)

where $z_{j,n,k}^{EH}$ is the additive white Gaussian noise with a circularly symmetric Gaussian distribution, referred to as $z_{j,n,k}^{EH} \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, |\sigma_{j,n,k}^{ED}|^2)$, at the k^{th} user when its EH antennas are activated. According to the famous Shannon capacity formula, the data-rate of the user k using its m antenna over the subcarrier n inside the cell j can be written as

$$R_{j,n,k}^{m} = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{a_{j,n,k}p_{j,n,k}|h_{j,n,k}^{m}|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^{m}|^2 + I_{j,n,k}}\right),\tag{5.3}$$

where

$$I_{j,n,k} = \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} a_{j',n,k'} p_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^m|^2,$$
(5.4)

is the interference term arising from the co-channel effect on the subcarrier n which is emitted by unintended transmitters sharing the same frequency channel. For facilitating the presentation, we denote $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times JNK}$, $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{1 \times JNK}$, and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^{1 \times JNK}$ as vectors of optimization problem for power allocation, subcarrier assignment, and antenna selection, respectively. Consequently, the data-rate of the user k when using all its active ID antennas can be stated as

$$R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} (1 - x_{j,n,k}^m) R_{j,n,k}^m.$$
(5.5)



Figure 5.3: SWIPT in a DL of an OFDMA network consisting of J = 2 small cells, where there is one user in the intersection of the two cells, i.e., $\mathcal{K}_1 = 1$. The user has for antennas; two of which are employed four ID and the rest for EH. Also, the user is served in the first cell and receives interference from the second cell.

Hence, the total system throughput, denoted by $R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p})$, is obtained as

$$R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}).$$
(5.6)

On the other hand, to compute the total power consumption of the network, we use the following linear model in which the transmit power consumption, circuit energy consumption, and the harvested energy are taken into account. In this model, there exist coefficients that represent the efficiency of power amplifiers in network devices as well as the power efficiency of EH antennas, which will be explained later on. In particular, the total power consumption of the considered system $P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p})$ consists of three major terms and can be expressed as

$$P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \left(\sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \left(\frac{a_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k}}{\kappa_j} + P_c^{\text{SBS}}\right)\right) - P^{\text{EH}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}),$$
(5.7)

where

$$P^{\text{EH}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \epsilon^m_{j,k} x^m_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k} |g^m_{j,n,k}|^2,$$
(5.8)

is the total harvested energy in the network topology using the active EH antenna set of each user. In the above equation, P_c^{SBS} denotes the circuit energy consumption of SBSs, where κ_j is the power amplifier of SBSs that takes its values from the interval of $0 < \kappa_j < 1$. Moreover, $0 < \epsilon_{j,k}^m < 1$ is the power conversion efficiency for the m^{th} active EH antenna of the k^{th} receiver in cell j as introduced in the previous chapters. It should also be noted that the contribution of the noise power, i.e., $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^m|^2$, to P^{EH} formula in (5.8) is ignored, since its value is very small compared to the other existing term in (5.8). In this chapter, we define the EE as the ratio of system throughput to the corresponding network energy consumption in bits/joule, and denote it by $\mathscr{E}_{eff}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$, where

$$\mathscr{E}_{eff}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \frac{R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p})}{P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p})}.$$
(5.9)

In what follows, we first formulate the problem to maximize the EE while considering the feasibility of the transmitted power, minimum data-rate requirement as well as the OFDMA constraint in multi-user multi-cell network with SWIPT. Then, we propose a solution to solve the optimization problem.

5.2 Optimization Problem Formulation

Notwithstanding the fact that EE is an effective resource allocation metric in cellular networks, some limitations might turn it into an undesired metric in many of the modern applications. In energy-efficient algorithms, the main goal is to maximize system throughput and minimize the corresponding energy consumption simultaneously, without differentiating between the priority of these competing objectives.

In this section, we first formulate the optimization problem of joint SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation together with the antenna selection for the EE maximization problem of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with a generalized AS-based SWIPT framework. Afterward, we present our proposed algorithm to solve the stated problem. Hence, we introduce the following optimization problem to maximize the system EE

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\mathbf{x},\mathbf{p}} \mathcal{E}_{eff}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{x},\mathbf{p}) \tag{5.10a}$$

$$s.t.: C_1: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} a_{j,n,k} \le 1, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$

$$(5.10b)$$

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} a_{j,n,k} \ p_{j,n,k} \le p_{max}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J},$$
(5.10c)

$$C_3: \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) \ge R_{min}, \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.10d)

$$C_4: \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} x_{j,n,k}^m = 1, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.10e)

$$C_5: a_{j,n,k} \in \{0,1\}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.10f)

$$C_6: x_{j,n,k}^m \in \{0,1\}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall m \in \mathcal{M}, \qquad (5.10g)$$

$$C_7: a_{j,n,k} + a_{j',n',k} \le 1, \qquad \forall j \neq j' \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n, n' \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}.$$
(5.10h)

In the optimization problem (5.10), constraint C_1 indicates that each subcarrier can be allocated to at most one user. The constraint C_2 makes sure that the total transmit power of SBSs should not exceed their maximum threshold denoted by p_{max} . In constraint C_3 , the minimum data-rate requirement, R_{min} , is guaranteed for each user in DL in each cell. Constraint C_4 indicates that each user utilizes only one antenna in each subcarrier. C_5 and C_6 indicate that the subcarrier assignment and the antenna selection variables take only binary values. Finally, C_7 presents that each user can be assigned to at most one SBS in each subcarrier. It is worth mentioning that this last constraint is the so-called user association in the literature [128].

Due to the binary subcarrier assignment and antenna selection variables as well as the interference included in the data-rate function, and the fractional form of the objective function, the optimization problem (5.10) is a mixed-integer non-linear programming (MINLP) problem, which is generally complicated. These challenges that make the above optimization problem difficult to solve are further explained below:

- Fractional form of the objective function: As a fractional objective function, $\mathscr{E}_{eff}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p})$ is non-convex.
- Multiplication of two variables: Since the multiplication of two variables is non-convex, the term $a_{j,n,k}p_{j,n,k}$ in constraint C_2 , poses a challenge in tackling the optimization problem

JFMJ

in (5.10). Because the maximum total transmit power constraint in C_2 , the minimum data-rate QoS requirement constraint in C_3 , and also the total data-rate objective function are multiplied by a function of joint SBS-subcarrier assignment and the transmit power variables (as given in (5.10c), (5.10d), and (5.10a)), these mentioned constraints together with the objective function are non-convex.

- Interference: The inter-cell interference incorporated in data-rate functions, makes both constraints C_3 and the objective function non-convex.
- Binary antenna selection and SBS-subcarrier assignment variable: Discrete antenna selection and SBS-subcarrier assignment variables turn (5.10) into a complex MINLP problem.

5.3 Solution to the Optimization Problem

To cope with the complexity of the MINLP problem, we decompose the optimization problem (5.10) into two subproblems: 1) joint SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation, and 2) antenna selection. In order to find the locally optimal SBS-subcarrier allocation, power assignment, and antenna selection, the following iterative procedure is employed. At the beginning of each iteration, the optimal SBS-subcarrier allocation and power assignment are obtained from an optimal antenna selection of the previous iteration, i.e., \mathbf{x}^{t-1} , using the results of layer 5.3.1.**A**. Knowing the best SBS-subcarrier allocation and power assignment, the best antenna for either EH or ID operation is selected by incorporating the results of layer 5.3.2.**B**. The corresponding update rule is summarized as follows

$$\underbrace{(\mathbf{a}^{0}, \mathbf{p}^{0}) \to \mathbf{x}^{0}}_{\text{Initialization}} \to \dots \to \underbrace{(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \mathbf{p}^{t-1}) \to \mathbf{x}^{t-1}}_{\text{Iteration } t-1}$$

$$\to \underbrace{(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t}) \to \mathbf{x}^{t}}_{\text{Iteration } t} \to \dots \to \underbrace{(\mathbf{a}^{opt}, \mathbf{p}^{opt}) \to \mathbf{x}^{opt}}_{\text{Optimal Solution}}.$$
(5.11)

After solving each subproblem by algorithms that are discussed in the following two layers methodology, an iterative procedure is employed in which the solution of the previous subproblem is used as the input of the current problem. Through this iterative procedure, we are able to enhance the accuracy of our obtained solution. The iterative algorithm in (5.11) needs an initial setting for \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x} , and \mathbf{p} . In order to converge to a locally optimal solution, these initial settings must be appropriately selected. To this end, we first note that the optimization problem (5.10) is feasible, as we can find initial settings $\mathbf{a}^0, \mathbf{p}^0$, and \mathbf{x}^0 , satisfying the constraints. Such a setting that respects all the constraints can be found as follows. First, for the initial SBSsubcarrier assignment \mathbf{a}^0 and power allocation \mathbf{p}^0 , we assume each SBS-subcarrier is assigned to the small-cell user with the highest channel gain, where equal power is allocated to all small-cell users across all subcarriers. Lastly, for the antenna selection \mathbf{x}^0 , a set of antennas are selected for
each of the small-cell users based on quasi-stationary channel statistics. The selected antennas in each user can perform either EH or ID operation accordingly.

Having equipped with the necessary background, a tractable solution procedure to the original problem (5.10) is described in a two-layer format in the next following subsections.

5.3.1 A. Joint SBS-subcarrier Assignment and Power Allocation

In this subsection, we carry out the subproblem of the SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation in order to maximize EE. Assuming the antenna set selection is given from the previous iteration, we aim to tackle the non-convexity of the multiplication of a binary variable with the transmit power in constraints C_2 and C_3 along with the objective function. In order to handle this issue, we adopt the big-M formulation [105] to decouple the product terms. Therefore, we introduce the following additional constraints into the optimization problem in (5.10)

$$C_8: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \le p_{max} a_{j,n,k}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \tag{5.12}$$

$$C_9: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \le p_{j,n,k}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.13)

$$C_{10}: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \ge p_{j,n,k} - (1 - a_{j,n,k}) p_{max}, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.14)

$$C_{11}: \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \ge 0, \qquad \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \qquad (5.15)$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times JNK}$ is the collection of all $\tilde{p}_{j,n,k}$'s. Through this method, we can easily deal with the non-convexity of the multiplication of two variables, both in the objective and also the constraints. Next, we relax the integer SBS-subcarrier assignment variable by converting it into a continuous variable between zero and one as

$$\dot{C}_5: \ 0 \le a_{j,n,k} \le 1, \ \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}.$$

$$(5.16)$$

Moreover, by inspiring the same approach in previous chapters, we impose the following region to the optimization problem

$$\ddot{C}_5: \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \left(a_{j,n,k} - (a_{j,n,k})^2 \right) \le 0.$$
(5.17)

Subsequently, the original optimization problem in (5.10) can be reformulated as follows

$$(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t}) = \arg \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \frac{\overline{R}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t})}$$
(5.18a)

$$s.t.: C_1, C_4, \dot{C}_5, \ddot{C}_5, C_7 - C_{11},$$
 (5.18b)

$$C_2: \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \tilde{p}_{j,n,k} \le p_{max}, \quad \forall j \in \mathcal{J},$$
(5.18c)

$$C_3: \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \overline{R}_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}.$$
(5.18d)

Furthermore, the numerator and denominator of the objective function in the above optimization problem (5.18) are as follows

$$\overline{R}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} (1 - x_{j,n,k}^m) \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{p}_{j,n,k} |h_{j,n,k}^m|^2}{|\sigma_{j,n,k}^m|^2 + I_{j,n,k}} \right),$$
(5.19)
$$\overline{R}_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$

$$\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \mathbf{p}) = \left(\sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \left(\frac{\tilde{p}_{j,n,k}}{\kappa_j} + P_c^{\text{SBS}}\right)\right) - P^{\text{EH}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}),$$
(5.20)

where

$$I_{j,n,k} = \sum_{\substack{j' \neq j \\ j' \in \mathcal{J}}} \sum_{\substack{k' \neq k \\ k' \in \mathcal{K}}} \tilde{p}_{j',n,k'} |h_{j',n,k}^m|^2.$$
(5.21)

Although we addressed the issue of the coupling variables in constraints C_2 (5.10c), C_3 (5.10d), and the objective function, the main problem in (5.18) is still non-convex due to existence of the interference in logarithmic data-rate functions. In order to handle this problem, we employ the majorization minimization (MM) algorithm [92] to make the constraint C_3 in (5.18a) and the data-rate function in the objective function of (5.18a) convex, as becomes clear in what follows. To do so, we first restate the constraint C_3 as a difference of convex (D.C.) functions [101, 108] as

$$\dot{C}_{3}: \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.22)

where $\mathcal{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ and $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ are

$$\mathcal{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = (1 - x_{j,n,k}^m) \log_2 \left(\tilde{p}_{j,n,k} h_{j,n,k}^m + |\sigma_{j,n,k}^m|^2 + I_{j,n,k} \right),$$
(5.23)

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = (1 - x_{j,n,k}^m) \log_2 \left(|\sigma_{j,n,k}^m|^2 + I_{j,n,k} \right).$$
(5.24)

To obtain a concave approximation for the constraint \dot{C}_3 , we apply the MM algorithm [92], and we construct a surrogate function for $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$ using first-order Taylor approximation as

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \simeq \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}^{(t-1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(t-1)}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}^{T}(\mathbf{a}^{(t-1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(t-1)}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}) (\tilde{\mathbf{p}} - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}) \triangleq \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}), \quad (5.25)$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}$ is the solution of the problem at the $(s-1)^{th}$ iteration, and ∇_{\Box} represents the gradient operation with respect to \Box . In a similar manner, we handle the total data-rate function in the nominator of the objective function in the optimization problem (5.18a) as

$$\overline{R}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathscr{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}),$$
(5.26)

JFMJ

where

$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}),$$
(5.27)

and

$$\mathscr{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} \mathscr{V}(\mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}).$$
(5.28)

With the same reasoning as before, it can be concluded that numerator of the objective function in (5.26) is not a concave function. However, equation (5.26) belongs to the class of D.C. functions. To approximate a concave function in (5.26), the MM approach is applied again to make a concave approximation via the first-order Taylor approximation as

$$\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) \simeq \mathcal{V}\left(\mathbf{a}^{(s-1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(t-1)}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}\right) + \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \mathcal{V}^{T}\left(\mathbf{a}^{(s-1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(t-1)}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}\right) \left(\tilde{\mathbf{p}} - \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{(s-1)}\right) \triangleq \tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}),$$
(5.29)

where the total data-rate of the network can be rewritten as

$$\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}) = \mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \widetilde{\mathscr{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}).$$
(5.30)

By using approximation (5.29), the MM principles is satisfied. This makes a tight lower bound of equation (5.26) [107, 108]. Now, the optimization problem in (5.10) can be restated as

$$(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t}) = \arg \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \frac{\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t})}$$

$$s.t. : C_{1} - C_{2}, \dot{C}_{3}, C_{4}, \dot{C}_{5}, \ddot{C}_{5}, C_{7} - C_{11}.$$
(5.31)

However, the optimization problem in (5.31) is still non-convex due to non-convexity of \ddot{C}_5 . Nevertheless, let us rewrite \ddot{C}_5 as the difference of two convex functions as $\mu(\mathbf{a}) - \nu(\mathbf{a})$, where

$$\mu(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} (a_{j,n,k}), \qquad (5.32)$$

$$\nu(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} (a_{j,n,k})^2.$$
(5.33)

Similar to the approach used for data-rate functions in (5.22) and (5.26), we employ the same methodology based on the MM algorithm to convexify the constraint by taking the first-order Taylor approximation from $\nu(\mathbf{a})$. Consequently, $\nu(\mathbf{a})$ can be approximated as

$$\nu(\mathbf{a}) \simeq \nu(\tilde{\mathbf{a}}^{(s-1)}) + \nabla_{\tilde{\mathbf{a}}} \nu^T (\tilde{\mathbf{a}}^{(s-1)}) (\tilde{\mathbf{a}} - \tilde{\mathbf{a}}^{(s-1)}) \triangleq \tilde{\nu}(\mathbf{a}).$$
(5.34)

Hence, the constraint \ddot{C}_5 can be restated as $\mu(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\nu}(\mathbf{a})$ that would be a convex function. Finally, the optimization problem at hand can be recast as

$$(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t}) = \arg \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \frac{\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t})}$$
(5.35a)

$$s.t.: \ddot{C}_5: \ \mu(\mathbf{a}) - \tilde{\nu}(\mathbf{a}) \le 0, \tag{5.35b}$$

$$C_1 - C_2, \dot{C}_3, C_4, \dot{C}_5, C_7 - C_{11}.$$
 (5.35c)

So far, we tackled the issues with the multiplication of two variables, the interference in datarate functions, and the binary SBS-subcarrier assignment variable. As for the last step in our solution design, we must take care of the issue with the fractional form of the objective function that makes the optimization problem non-convex. Thus, we now address the fractional objective function in the optimization problem in (5.35) by describing a technique to treat fractional programming problems. It can be concluded that the optimization problem in (5.35) can be solved via a well-known algorithm, namely, the Dinkelback method [129]. For this matter, let us denote \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* as the optimal EE point of the optimization problem (5.35) that belongs to the set of feasible solutions spanned by its constraints. Therefore, we can solve the following non-fractional optimization problem given the data from the previous round of the main loop for the chosen set of antennas, i.e., t - 1, and the i^{th} iteration for the Dinkelback algorithm. Thus, by considering the **Algorithm 5**, an optimization problem with a transformed objective function is introduced to obtain the resource allocation policy as follows

$$(\mathbf{a}^{i}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}) = \arg\max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i} \overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{*i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*i}, \mathbf{p}^{*i})$$
(5.36)
$$s.t. : C_{1} - C_{2}, \dot{C}_{3}, C_{4}, \dot{C}_{5}, \ddot{C}_{5}, C_{7} - C_{11}.$$

In the above optimization problem, we have $\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i} = \frac{\widehat{R}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}, \mathbf{p}^{i})}$ in which $\{\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}, \mathbf{p}^{i}\}$ are the corresponding resource allocation parameters. It is easy to demonstrate that the optimization problem in (5.36) is now convex with respect to all variables. Therefore, the **Algorithm 5** terminates when \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i} converges and so does the solution to problem (5.36). That is $\{\mathbf{a}^{*}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*}, \mathbf{p}^{*}\}$ are eventually achieved.

Proposition 6. The optimal EE, i.e., \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* , can be used to obtain the resource allocation policy if and only if

$$\max_{\mathbf{a},\tilde{\mathbf{p}},\mathbf{p}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}} \quad \widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i}\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i},\mathbf{p}^{i}) = \\ \widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{*},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*}) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{*}\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{*},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*},\mathbf{p}^{*}) = 0, \quad (5.37)$$

for $\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^*) \ge 0$ and $\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^*, \mathbf{p}^*) \ge 0$, where $\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^*$, and \mathbf{p}^* yield the optimal solution to the convex optimization problem in (5.36).

Proof. We define \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* and $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \mathbf{p}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*\} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}$ as the optimal EE and the optimal resource allocation policy of the original objective function in (5.10), respectively, which can be obtained as

$$\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{*} = \max_{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}} \frac{\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \mathbf{p})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}, \mathbf{p})}.$$
(5.38)

Then, the optimal EE would be

$$\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{*} = \frac{\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*})}{P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*}, \mathbf{p}^{*})} \\ \ge \frac{\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}})}{P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}, \mathbf{p})}, \forall \{\mathbf{a}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^{*}, \mathbf{p}^{*}\} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}.$$
 (5.39)

Therefore, it can easily be seen that

$$\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* \overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}, \mathbf{p}) \le 0, \qquad (5.40)$$

Hence, one can conclude that

$$\widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^*) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* \overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^*, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^*, \mathbf{p}^*) = 0.$$
(5.41)

Thus, we have

a

$$\max_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}},\mathbf{p}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}} \quad \widehat{\overline{R}}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{*}\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{x}^{t-1},\tilde{\mathbf{p}},\mathbf{p}) = 0, \quad (5.42)$$

and this would be achievable by the resource allocation policy. This completes the proof. $\hfill\blacksquare$

Since the problem in (5.36) is a convex optimization problem at each iteration, it can be solved efficiently using the optimization packages, including interior point methods such as CVX [89]. Moreover, it is worth mentioning that the proposed **Algorithm 5** can obtain an optimal solution to the problem (5.10), if the inner loop of the optimization problem in (5.36) can be solved optimally in each iteration. For solving the inner problem of (5.36), we have to check the approximations for the data-rate functions and check a condition for their convergence. Let us consider the data-rate approximation at the s^{th} iteration of the MM method as $\widehat{R}^{(s)}$. In order to make sure that the Taylor approximation is a tight lower bound, we investigate the difference of data-rate functions for two consecutive iterations of the MM method. The proof of convergence of the MM procedure in the inner loop of **Algorithm 5** is similar to the proof given in **Proposition 3** of chapter 4. We also note that the optimal solution of the Dinkelback algorithm can be considered as the solution for the $(t - 1)^{th}$ iteration of the main loop for obtaining the antenna selection set for either an ID or EH operation. In the next subsection, we discuss the solution methodology for solving the antenna selection problem.

5.3.2 B. Antenna selection

Since the system throughput is by itself a function of the transmit power, it can be perceived that the effect of total energy consumption on the EE is generally much more substantial than Algorithm 5 Resource Allocation Algorithm for Solving Joint Subcarrier and Power Assignment

1: Initialize

iteration index of resource allocation policy i = 0 with maximum allowed tolerance $\Theta > 0$, MM iteration index s = 0 with maximum number of MM iteration T_{max} and $\Psi > 0$, feasible set vector \mathbf{a}^0 , \mathbf{x}^{t-1} , $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^0$, and \mathbf{p}^0 , and the penalty factor $\lambda \gg 1$.

2: Set maximum EE for resource allocation policy $\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{0} = 0$.

3: while
$$|\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i} - \mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i-1}| > \Theta$$
 do

- Update $\tilde{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}), \tilde{\mathscr{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}), \text{ and } \tilde{\nu}(\mathbf{a}) \text{ using equations (5.25), (5.29), and (5.34), re-$ 5: spectively.
- Set s = s + 1. 6:

7: Solve
$$\mathscr{U}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}) - \tilde{\mathscr{V}}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}})$$
 to obtain the data-rate as well as \mathbf{a}^s and $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^s$

8: **until**
$$|\overline{R}^{(s)} - \overline{R}^{(s-1)}| \le \Psi$$
 or $s = T_{max}$

9: Set
$$\{\mathbf{a}^i, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^i, \mathbf{p}^i\} = \{\mathbf{a}^{s^*}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{s^*}, \mathbf{p}^{s^*}\}.$$

Set i = i + 1. 10:

11: Set
$$\mathscr{E}_{eff}^{i} = \frac{\overline{R} (\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i})}{\overline{P}^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{i}, \mathbf{x}^{t-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i}, \mathbf{p}^{i})}$$
.

12: end while

13: Set $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*, \mathbf{p}^*\} = \{\mathbf{a}^{i-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{i-1}, \mathbf{p}^{i-1}\}.$ 14: return $\{\mathbf{a}^*, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^*, \mathbf{p}^*\}$

that of the system throughput. Here, we aim at investigating the optimal antenna selection for each user among all available antennas to perform ID and EH appropriately. Assuming the SBS-subcarrier assignment and the power allocation are obtained from a previous iteration $(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})$ in the first layer, we formulate the following optimization problem to find the optimal antenna set selection for a generalized AS-based SWIPT in the DL direction of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network

$$\mathbf{x}^{t} = \arg\max_{\mathbf{x}} \frac{R^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \mathbf{x}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})}{P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \mathbf{x}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})}$$
(5.43a)

$$\propto \arg\min_{\mathbf{x}} P^{\text{Total}}(\mathbf{a}^{t-1}, \mathbf{x}^t, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})$$
(5.43b)

$$= \arg\min_{\mathbf{x}} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \sum_{n \in \mathcal{N}} \left(\frac{a_{j,n,k} p_{j,n,k}}{\kappa_j} + P_c^{\text{SBS}} \right) \right) - P^{\text{EH}}(\mathbf{x}^t, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})$$
(5.43c)

$$s.t.: C_3: \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} R_k(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) \ge R_{min}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.43d)

$$C_4: \sum_{m \in \mathcal{M}} x_{j,n,k}^m = 1, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(5.43e)

$$C_6: x_{j,n,k}^m \in \{0,1\}, \qquad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}, \ \forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, \ \forall m \in \mathcal{M}.$$
(5.43f)

Algorithm 6 Proposed Iterative Method

1: Initialize

iteration index t = 1 with the maximum number of iterations Δ_{max} .

2: repeat {Main Loop}

Joint SBS-Subcarrier Assignment and Power Control:

3: For a given antenna set \mathbf{x}^{t-1} , find the optimal subcarrier assignment \mathbf{a}^t and power allocation based on (5.36) using **Algorithm 5**.

Antenna Selection Policy:

4: For a fixed subcarrier assignment \mathbf{a}^{t-1} and power allocation \mathbf{p}^{t-1} , determine the best antenna based on (5.44).

5: Set
$$t = t + 1$$
.

- 6: **until** Convergence with \mathscr{E}_{eff}^* or $t = \Delta_{max}$
- 7: return $\{a^*, x^*, p^*\}$

It can be noticed that the first term in (5.43) is constant. Hence, the objective function in (5.43) can be restated as follows

$$\mathbf{x}^{t} = \arg\max_{\mathbf{x}} P^{\text{EH}}(\mathbf{x}^{t}, \mathbf{p}^{t-1})$$

$$s.t. : C_{3} - C_{4}, C_{6}.$$
(5.44)

It is worth mentioning that when the power and the corresponding SBS-subcarrier is fixed, the problem can be decomposed into M subproblems, where each subproblem in (5.44) can be solved using well-established optimization packages including CVX. One may conclude that the solution of (5.44) would require the knowledge of all branch SNRs. However, there are various techniques to address this issue based on the quasi-stationary property of the channel gains despite the difficulty of knowing all SNRs simultaneously. For instance, one may use a training signal in a preamble. During this preamble, when the receiver scans the antennas, the highest channel gain is selected for receiving the next data burst or power signal.

Finally, the pseudo-code of the iterative solution for the antenna selection with a joint SBSsubcarrier assignment and power control is given in **Algorithm 6**.

5.4 Complexity Analysis

Our proposed iterative algorithm includes two subproblems: 1) joint SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation and 2) antenna selection. The solution for the first subproblem includes a two-layer approach. The outer layer provides a solution according to the Dinkelbach algorithm, whereas the inner layer's solution is based on the MM algorithm. It can be seen that the inner solution to the optimization problem (5.36) includes JNK variables and

 $J + K + JN + 6JNK + J^2N^2K$ linear convex constraints. As a result, the computational complexity of the first subproblem is $\mathcal{O}(JNK)^2(J+K+JN+6JNK+J^2N^2K)$. This can be asymptotically estimated as $\mathcal{O}(JN)^4(K)^3$, showing a polynomial-time complexity. Moreover, the complexity of the outer layer is $\mathcal{O}(T_{\text{Dinkelbach}})$, where $T_{\text{Dinkelbach}}$ is the number of iterations needed for the convergence of the outer layer. Consequently, the overall complexity of our proposed scheme becomes $\mathcal{O}(T_{\text{Dinkelbach}}T_{\text{MM}}(JN)^4(K)^3)$ in which T_{MM} is the number of iterations required for reaching convergence in the MM method. Now, we aim at calculating $T_{\rm MM}$ for the D.C. programming that includes the interior point method. It should be noted that when CVX is adopted based on the interior point method to solve the optimization problem (5.36), it requires log $\frac{JN+J+K+2JNK+JNK+J^2N^2K}{t^0\phi\xi}$ iterations, where t^0 is the initial point for approximating the accuracy of the interior point method, $0 < \phi \ll 1$ is the stopping criterion, and ξ shows the accuracy of the method [130]. For the antenna selection subproblem in (5.44), the computational complexity is $\mathcal{O}(JNKM)$. This computational complexity is substantially lower than the algorithm for the joint power allocation and subcarrier assignment subproblem. Note that this subproblem can be solved via MOSEK or Gurobi solver, which provides a polynomial-time complexity. Besides, it is worth noting that this algorithm reduces the number of variables by half in each optimization subproblem and changes the original problem (5.10) into a mathematically tractable form to be solved. Furthermore, the number of iterations for this subproblem is $T_{AS} = \log \frac{K + NK + JNKM}{t^0 \phi \xi}$. Finally, the total complexity order of the optimization problem, including a two-layer approach, is $\mathcal{O}(T_{\text{Dinkelbach}}T_{\text{MM}}T_{\text{AS}}(JN)^4(K)^3)$. This denotes the total number of iteration that is required for reaching convergence of the EE optimization problem.

5.5 Simulation Results

In this section, the performance gain of the proposed scheme for a generalized AS-based SWIPT in the DL direction of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA system is evaluated under various system parameters. There are J = 3 cells in the network topology. The radius of a cell, d_{max} , is 20 meters, with a reference distance, d_0 , of 5 meters. Moreover, there are $K_j = 4$ users in each cell uniformly located between the reference distance, d_0 , and maximum coverage of the cell, d_{max} . Also, each user is equipped with two antennas (M = 2), where the receiver antennas are capable of both ID and EH operations. Additionally, we consider a frequency-selective fading channel and further assume the central carrier frequency is set to 3 GHz. The number of subcarriers is N = 16, where the bandwidth of each subcarrier is set to 180 kHz. It should be noted as the power of the background noise on all antennas of each receiver is rather small compared to maximum transmit power, p_{max} , it is assumed $|\sigma_{j,n,k}^m|^2 = \sigma^2 = -120$ dBm in all simulations. Since a line-of-sight (LoS) signal is expected in the received signal, the small-scale fading channel is modeled as Rician fading with Rician factor $\rho = 3$ dB. Moreover, the Rician flat fading channel gains include a distance-dependent path loss component of $31.7 + 10\alpha \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$ [dB] (where d is

Parameter	Value
Coverage cell (d_{max})	20 m
Reference distance (d_0)	5 m
The number of cell (J)	3
The number of user in each cell (K_j)	4
The number of antenna pf each user (M)	2
The number of subcarrier (N)	16
Noise power (σ^2)	-120 dBm
The bandwidth of each subcarrier	180 kHz
Path loss exponent (α)	2.76
Path loss model for cellular links	$31.7 + 27.6 \log(\frac{d}{d_0})$
Multi-path fading distribution	Rician fading with factor 3 dB
Power conversion efficiency of EH antennas (ϵ)	30%
Power amplifier efficiency of SBSs (κ)	20%
The maximum transmit power of the SBS (p_{max})	30 dBm
The circuit power consumption of SBSs $(P_{\rm c}^{\rm SBS})$	23 dBm
The minimum data-rate requirement for each user (R_{\min})	$1 \mathrm{~bps/Hz}$
Channel realization number	100

Table 5.1: Simulation Parameters

the distance between the transmitter and the receiver) and a log-normal shadowing component with 8 dB standard deviation, where the path loss exponent is equal to $\alpha = 2.8$ [110]. These parameters for propagation modeling and simulations follow the suggestions in 3GPP evaluation methodology [111]. The power conversion efficiency of all active EH antennas, $\epsilon_{j,k}^m$, is assumed to be the same and is equal to $\epsilon_{j,k}^m = \epsilon = 0.3$. For the power consumption model, a constant consumed circuit power, P_c^{SBS} , is considered for all SBSs and is equal to 23 dBm. The power amplifier efficiency of all SBSs is also supposed to be the same and is $\kappa_j = \kappa = 0.2$. The target transmission rate is $R_{min} = 1$ bit/second/Hz (bps/Hz) for each user. Furthermore, we conduct Monte Carlo simulations by generating random realizations of the channel gains to obtain the average data-rate of the network. In fact, the channel gain between a transmitter and a receiver is calculated using independent and identically distributed Rician flat fading and the figures shown in this section are obtained by estimating the average of results over different realizations of the path-loss and the multi-path fading. The rest of the simulation parameters are given in **Table** (5.1) unless otherwise is specified.



Figure 5.4: Convergence speed.

5.5.1 Convergence Speed

Figure (5.4) depicts the average system EE versus the number of iterations of the proposed algorithm under different initialization of the power control; $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = \frac{p_{max}}{N}$, i.e., equal power is assigned to all small-cell users over all subcarriers, $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = p_{max}$, i.e., all subcarriers has the maximum power, and $\mathbf{p}^{0}(i) = 0$, no power is assigned to the subcarriers initially. As can be seen, our proposed iterative algorithm runs until it converges to a fixed value. Moreover, the convergence rate of the proposed algorithm is considered fast as it reaches to a specific value only after a small number of iterations. This figure also demonstrates that although the speed of convergence differs from one case to another, in all cases, our proposed algorithm converges to a stationary point only after a small limited number of iterations.

5.5.2 Energy Efficiency versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power

In figure (5.5), we present the average EE versus the maximum transmit power p_{max} . As can be observed from this figure, the average system EE for the resource allocation schemes is monotonically non-decreasing with the maximum allowed transmit power. This is because the received SINR at the users can be enhanced by allocating the additional available transmit power via the solution of the problem, which leads to an improvement of the system EE. However, there is a diminishing return in the average system EE when p_{max} is higher than 30 dBm. As a matter of fact, with an increase in maximum transmit power, the interference power level arising from the other SBSs becomes more severe, resulting in a degradation of the received users' signals. Consequently, the throughput of the users deteriorates, which results in a reduction of the EE. In particular, by increasing the value of p_{max} , the system EE quickly increases at first, and then starts to saturate when p_{max} is higher than 30 dBm. The reason for this is quite evident as the resource allocator is not willing to consume more power, once the maximum EE is obtained.

This figure also consists of four baseline schemes for EE maximization, i.e., Methods B-E, and compares their performance with the proposed iterative **Algorithm 6**, that we call Method A. For Method B, we optimize the system EE maximization problem by considering the power splitting receiver architecture. In particular, Method B considers receivers with two antennas (M = 2). Each antenna in this architecture is capable of both EH and ID operations at the same time through a power splitting method with fixed power splitting ratios. Moreover, Method C examines the proposed method in [106]. It considers the EE maximization with respect to the subcarrier assignment, power allocation, and antenna selection for users without the energy harvesting capability. Furthermore, Method D is our proposed algorithm based only on the power allocation optimization when random scheduling of the subcarrier assignment and antenna selection variables is performed to obtain the resource allocation policy. Finally, Method E is the full power approach in the sense that equal power is allocated across subcarriers for each user.

It can be concluded that our proposed iterative algorithm has a better performance in comparison with other methods as we optimize the resource allocation jointly and use a generalized AS-based harvesting technique at the receiver based on the antenna selection architecture. We also observe



Figure 5.5: Energy efficiency versus maximum allowed transmit power.

that power control has a significant impact on system EE. As it can be seen in the low transmit power regime, the received power of the desired signal at receivers may not be sufficiently large for simultaneous information decoding and energy harvesting. It can be realized that in the low transmit power regime, the received power of the desired signal may not be sufficiently large for simultaneous information decoding and energy harvesting. We also note that for the higher value of the maximum allowed transmit power, the maximum EE achieved by the system via EH active antennas or EH users cannot be attained by a system without energy harvesting capabilities through increasing the transmit power. This confirms that energy harvesting contributes to the average system EE.

5.5.3 Energy Efficiency versus Minimum Data-rate Requirement

In this section, we show the maximum average EE under different data-rate requirements for different values of circuit power consumption, P_c^{SBS} , in figure (5.6). It can be acknowledged that by increasing the data-rate, the system EE stays almost the same up to a specific minimum data-rate requirement value, but starts to decline afterward. This is because the required transmit power is similarly low in order to satisfy the QoS provisioning for a lower value of the minimum data-rate requirement. However, by increasing the data-rate requirement, more subcarrier are needed and more ID antennas have to be proportionally activated in users with a more mediocre channel quality to meet the QoS requirement. This is in addition to a need for an energy-efficient design that operates at a higher transmit power for achieving the optimal system EE. Moreover,



Figure 5.6: Energy efficiency versus minimum data-rate requirement.



Figure 5.7: Energy efficiency versus distance.

we can observe that our proposed iterative **Algorithm 6** outperforms the baseline scheme algorithm in [122] due to performing a joint resource allocation policy as well as obtaining a locally optimal solution. Figure (5.6) also compares the effect of static circuit power consumption on the system EE. From there, we can see that EE decreases with increased circuit power due to higher total power consumption in the network.

5.5.4 Energy Efficiency versus Distance

We investigate the average EE versus different reference distances. As can be observed from figure (5.7), the system EE decreases with increasing the distance. Consequently, as the channel strength deteriorates by increasing the distance between transmitter and the receiver due to the effect of the path-loss, more ID antennas have to be activated, and more power must be allocated to users to meet the minimum required data-rate. Hence, the average system EE would decline due to increasing the total power consumption in addition to decreasing the total data-rate of the network. However, the system EE achieved by our proposed iterative **Algorithm 6** still has superior performance as compared to the other algorithms. It should be noted that the Methods A-D are the same as defined earlier in figure (5.5).

JFMJ



Figure 5.8: Average system throughput versus maximum allowed transmit power.

5.5.5 Average System Throughput versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power

In figure (5.8), we plot the average throughput or data-rate of the network versus the maximum allowed transmit power, p_{max} , for different schemes. For $p_{max} \leq 30$ dBm, it can be perceived that the average system throughput of the proposed iterative **Algorithm 6**, that is the Method A in the figure, raises with the maximum transmit power allowance. However, the slope of the curve of the system throughput starts to decline and reach a saturation in the high transmit power regime, i.e., $p_{max} \geq 30$ dBm. In other words, there is a diminishing return in the average system throughput when the maximum transmit power is higher than 30 dBm. In fact, as the maximum transmit power increases, the interference power level arising from the other SBSs becomes more severe, which degrades the received users' signal quality. To compare, we also plot the curve based on the alternative search method (ASM), i.e., Method B, in which the original problem is divided into three disjoint subproblems. In this method, the SBS-subcarrier assignment, power allocation, and antenna selection are selected based on the values that are determined in the previous round [122]. Method C is the proposed algorithm based only on the power allocation when random scheduling of the subcarrier allocation and antenna selection variables is performed to obtain the resource allocation policy. Method D is the full power allocation approach with equal power across subcarriers for each user in which the SBS-subcarrier assignment and antenna selection variables are chosen based on our proposed algorithm. It can be perceived that power allocation can significantly increase the performance gain due to controlling interference term arising from other SBSs.

JFMJ Chapter 5. Generalized Antenna Switching Technique in SWIPT



Figure 5.9: Average harvested power versus maximum allowed transmit power.

5.5.6 Average Harvested Power versus Maximum Allowed Transmit Power

Figure (5.9) illustrates the average harvested power versus the maximum allowed transmitting power, p_{max} . As the p_{max} increases, the harvested energy also increases in all considered Methods A-D. However, it is noticeable that for a large value of p_{max} , the amount of average harvested power gets saturated. The reason for this inclination is that the transmitter stops to increase the transmit power for the system EE maximization. In order to evaluate our performance gain, we also compare our results from the proposed iterative Algorithm 6, i.e., Method A, with three baseline Methods B-D. In Method B, we consider the proposed algorithm in [52]. Method C splits the received signal into two power streams for a finite discrete set of power splitting ratios. Method A works better than Method B and C due to using a different antenna in each subcarrier, leading to a better degree of freedom of the network. Finally, Method D is our proposed algorithm with a different objective. Specifically, we maximize the system throughput with respect to the same constraints and also further consider minimum energy harvesting requirements for each user. It can be observed that our proposed algorithm reaches higher performance gain due to employing the antenna selection strategy via the multiplexing gain. Moreover, by using the antenna selection, we enhance the performance gain due to increasing flexibility in the resource allocation design.

JFMJ

5.6 Summary

In this chapter, we addressed the EE optimization problem for the DL of a multi-user multi-cell OFDMA network with the generalized AS-based co-located receivers using SWIPT. Considering a practical linear power model in which the transmit power consumption, circuit energy consumption, and the harvested energy (by active receiver EH antennas) are taken into account, our goal was to maximize the EE whilst satisfying the minimum data-rate requirement for each user. The EE optimization problem, which involves a joint optimization of the SBS-subcarrier assignment and power allocation along with an optimal antenna selection, was non-convex and non-linear. This made the optimization problem, we employed the MM approach by constructing a sequence of surrogate functions to approximate the non-convex optimization. In particular, based on the Dinkelbach method, an optimization problem with a transformed objective function was designed that uses the MM method in its inner loop. Simulation results revealed the superiority of our proposed method over existing works. Furthermore, the proposed antenna selection scheme demonstrated that our algorithm provides a good balance of improving in terms of the throughput as well as EE.

6

Conclusion and Future Work

In this chapter, we summarize our overall conclusions. We also propose some of the future research directions that emerge from this work.

6.1 Conclusion

In chapter 3, we introduced a new approach to harvesting ambient energy. In this approach, a designated portion of the spectrum was used for information decoding (ID) and the rest for energy harvesting (EH), with two separate filters used at the receivers. We used neither splitters nor switches, which significantly simplified the complexity of the receiver. Furthermore, we formulated an optimization problem to maximize the harvested energy via a joint subcarrier assignment and power allocation using the simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) scheme for a downlink (DL) of a multi-user small single-cell orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) network, fulfilling each user's minimum data-rate requirement. Our extensive simulation results indicate that our proposed algorithm outperformed other algorithms in the literature by complying with the policy designed for resource allocation. In chapter 4, we extended the system model for SWIPT-enabled single-cell OFDMA proposed in the previous chapter to a multi-cell network based on separated receiver architecture with the goal of maximizing system throughput while respecting the maximum power transfer allowed, the minimum of energy harvested for EH receivers, and the minimum amount of data-rate required for ID receivers. The resulting problem, which jointly optimizes subcarrier assignment and power allocation, was mixed-integer non-linear programming (MINLP). This is intractable because of the multiplication of two variables, the binary subcarrier assignment variable, and the intertwingled interference term in the data-rate function. We applied the majorization minimization (MM) approach to manage resource allocation policy in this complex problem. We also analyzed the design of a low complexity algorithm with an upper bound for the interference term by imposing a limiting interference threshold in each subcarrier that can be controlled by the resource allocator to improve system performance. Simulation results showed the excellent performance gain of our suggested algorithms.

Finally, in chapter 5, we described a novel harvesting technique at the receiver that is based on the receiver antenna selection for a multi-user multi-cell SWIPT OFDMA system with a co-located architecture. This we named a "generalized antenna switching technique". We then maximized energy efficiency (EE) as a performance metric in a two-layered approach to determine a resource allocation policy that optimizes subcarrier assignment, power allocation, and antenna selection with few constraints. The underlying problem in this chapter was neither linear nor convex due to the fractional form of the objective function, the multiplication of variables, incorporating interference, and integer variables. We relaxed the integer variable and applied the big-M formulation to make sure that relaxed variables take binary values. After that, we used the MM approach based on difference of two convex functions (D.C.) programming to find a feasible solution for the inner problem, employing a first-order Taylor approximation to convexify the non-convex functions. Next we applied the Dinkelback algorithm to transform the objective function into a non-fractional function. We observed that generalized antenna switching, also known as "antenna selection strategy", increases the EE of the system by providing more degrees of freedom as a result of assigning resources via different antennas. We concluded the chapter with simulation results that demonstrate the superiority of our proposed method.

6.2 Future Work

The field of SWIPT in energy-constrained communication systems is a remarkably rich research discipline with great potential. The following fundamental research directions could be pursued in future work.

NOMA-based SWIPT:

Non-orthogonal multiple access (NOMA) has been suggested as one of the fundamental tech-

niques for beyond fifth generation (5G) and the forthcoming sixth generation (6G) in order to enhance spectral efficiency (SE) while permitting some degree of multiple access interference at receivers by having users share the same spectrum. NOMA schemes are designed to concurrently serve two or more users at the same base station (BS) or access point (AP) in a single orthogonal resource block. They can be categorized into main two classes – single-carrier NOMA and multi-carrier NOMA. The primary principle of single-carrier NOMA is allocating the same time/frequency resources to multiple users by utilizing distinct power levels ("power-domain" NOMA). In the multi-carrier NOMA scheme, multiple users are multiplexed on different subcarriers by using different codes (sparse code multiple access) and patterns (pattern division multiple access) for each subcarrier [131]. The successive interference cancellation technique is employed at the receiver end to eliminate expected interference and guarantee improved overall fairness and throughput. Most importantly, SE can be achieved in NOMA networks. It is worth noting that the resource allocation design based on SWIPT-enabled NOMA cellular networks could provide both SE improvement through NOMA and EE improvement via SWIPT. The very first attempt to maximize EE under multiple restraints and achieve energy-efficient resource management in SWIPT-enabled NOMA was conducted in [132]. Research on this topic has just begun to flourish, with many more potentials awaiting discovery [133].

Massive MIMO- and mmWave-based SWIPT:

Propagation losses of broadcasted radio waves may deteriorate SWIPT efficiency, which makes SWIPT particularly applicable to short-distance uses. Massive multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) and millimeter-wave (mmWave) technologies would enable a BS or an AP to reliably transfer power to energy-constrained users through ultra-sharp energy beams (that only concentrate transmission energy at certain points) as well as provide diversity and multiplexing gain [134, 135, 136]. Integrating SWIPT with massive MIMO and mmWave technologies can therefore help overcome SWIPT's deficiencies and further enhance performance in terms of achievable data-rate, overall SE, and EE. Since the beam-width of the massive MIMO and mmWave based SWIPT system is very small due to the shorter wavelengths (and wider bandwidths), effective initial beam association, beam selection, and beam alignment algorithms are desirable. These topics were investigated in [137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142]. Moreover, considering that the antenna selection technique in multiple antenna systems would significantly decrease the system's power consumption, an exciting research direction would be verifying its applicability to massive MIMO- and mmWave-based SWIPT-enabled networks.

UAV-based SWIPT:

Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) or remotely piloted aircraft have attracted significant attention. UAVs can improve traditional cellular communication as relays and BSs. Compared to conventional cellular communication, some of the advantages of UAVs include increased wireless connectivity, high maneuverability, extensive coverage, simple implementation, and cost-effective communication – with increasing affordability. An unobstructed line-of-sight (LoS) link might be able to help further improve the reliability of wireless communication systems. UAVs could be effectively integrated with SWIPT by virtue of the dominant presence of LoS connections – acting as flying BSs or APs – to provide a variety of services in areas lacking infrastructure. However, a major drawback to UAV-based applications is that UAV devices are typically power-hungry devices with limited energy storage performing operations in flight. Deployment, trajectory design, and resource allocation must be improved for the efficient utilization of UAVs within a reasonable range of energy-constrained receivers [143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149].

MEC-based SWIPT:

Mobile edge computing (MEC) is a new paradigm for facilitating the real-time implementation of computationally heavy tasks for massive low-power devices (e.g., sensors) by providing cloud-like computing at the edge of mobile networks. MEC offers solutions for resource-limited wireless devices with high-quality wireless services and multi-media applications because it is capable of offloading some or all the computing tasks of resource-limited devices to nearby APs or BSs, where integrated MEC servers can remotely handle their tasks [150]. Although MEC covers the computational aspect of massive computation-intensive devices via local computing or offloading, one big challenge remains: providing a sustainable and cost-effective energy supply to resource-limited energy-constrained wireless devices. Implementing resource allocation policies for mobile users with high computing tasks via MEC and SWIPT would be an interesting topic to explore, with MEC-based SWIPT permitting ubiquitous computing [151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157].

Bibliography

- S. C. Dushantha Nalin K.Jayakody, John Thompson and S. Durrani, Wireless Information and Power Transfer: A New Paradigm for Green Communications. Springer, 1993.
- [2] L. R. Varshney, "Transporting information and energy simultaneously," in 2008 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, 2008, pp. 1612–1616.
- [3] M. Salem, P. Ruppel, U. Bareth, and A. Küpper, "X-centric positioning: A combination of device-centric and multi-rat network-centric positioning approaches in ngn," in 2012 IEEE Globecom Workshops, 2012, pp. 1741–1746.
- [4] P. Grover and A. Sahai, "Shannon meets tesla: Wireless information and power transfer," in 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, June 2010, pp. 2363–2367.
- [5] M. Kamel, W. Hamouda, and A. Youssef, "Ultra-dense networks: A survey," *IEEE Com*munications Surveys Tutorials, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 2522–2545, 2016.
- [6] H. J. Visser and R. J. M. Vullers, "Rf energy harvesting and transport for wireless sensor network applications: Principles and requirements," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 1410–1423, June 2013.
- [7] H. Nishimoto, Y. Kawahara, and T. Asami, "Prototype implementation of ambient rf energy harvesting wireless sensor networks," in SENSORS, 2010 IEEE, Nov 2010, pp. 1282–1287.
- [8] I. Krikidis, S. Timotheou, S. Nikolaou, G. Zheng, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in modern communication systems," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 104–110, Nov 2014.
- [9] B. Clerckx, R. Zhang, R. Schober, D. W. K. Ng, D. I. Kim, and H. V. Poor, "Fundamentals of wireless information and power transfer: From rf energy harvester models to signal and system designs," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 4–33, Jan 2019.
- [10] T. D. Ponnimbaduge Perera, D. N. K. Jayakody, S. K. Sharma, S. Chatzinotas, and J. Li, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (swipt): Recent advances and fu-

ture challenges," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 264–302, Firstquarter 2018.

- [11] X. Lu, P. Wang, D. Niyato, D. I. Kim, and Z. Han, "Wireless networks with rf energy harvesting: A contemporary survey," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 757–789, Secondquarter 2015.
- [12] S. Ulukus, A. Yener, E. Erkip, O. Simeone, M. Zorzi, P. Grover, and K. Huang, "Energy harvesting wireless communications: A review of recent advances," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 360–381, March 2015.
- [13] Y. Wu, J. Linnartz, H. Gao, M. K. Matters-Kammerer, and P. Baltus, "Modeling of rf energy scavenging for batteryless wireless sensors with low input power," in 2013 IEEE 24th Annual International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), Sep. 2013, pp. 527–531.
- [14] J. A. G. Akkermans, M. C. van Beurden, G. J. N. Doodeman, and H. J. Visser, "Analytical models for low-power rectenna design," *IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters*, vol. 4, pp. 187–190, 2005.
- [15] M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, "Fully integrated wideband high-current rectifiers for inductively powered devices," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1976–1984, Nov 2004.
- [16] J. A. Hagerty, F. B. Helmbrecht, W. H. McCalpin, R. Zane, and Z. B. Popovic, "Recycling ambient microwave energy with broad-band rectenna arrays," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 1014–1024, March 2004.
- [17] X. Zhou, R. Zhang, and C. K. Ho, "Wireless information and power transfer: Architecture design and rate-energy tradeoff," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 4754–4767, November 2013.
- [18] Q. Wu, G. Y. Li, W. Chen, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "An overview of sustainable green 5g networks," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 72–80, Aug 2017.
- [19] M. Webb et al., "Smart 2020: Enabling the low carbon economy in the information age," *The Climate Group. London*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–1, 2008.
- [20] C. Han, T. Harrold, S. Armour, I. Krikidis, S. Videv, P. M. Grant, H. Haas, J. S. Thompson, I. Ku, C.Wang, T. A. Le, M. R. Nakhai, J. Zhang, and L. Hanzo, "Green radio: radio techniques to enable energy-efficient wireless networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 46–54, June 2011.

108

- [21] R. Mahapatra, Y. Nijsure, G. Kaddoum, N. Ul Hassan, and C. Yuen, "Energy efficiency tradeoff mechanism towards wireless green communication: A survey," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 686–705, Firstquarter 2016.
- [22] E. Oh, B. Krishnamachari, X. Liu, and Z. Niu, "Toward dynamic energy-efficient operation of cellular network infrastructure," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 56–61, June 2011.
- [23] A. Fehske, G. Fettweis, J. Malmodin, and G. Biczok, "The global footprint of mobile communications: The ecological and economic perspective," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 55–62, August 2011.
- [24] X. Lu, P. Wang, D. Niyato, and Z. Han, "Resource allocation in wireless networks with rf energy harvesting and transfer," *IEEE Network*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 68–75, Nov 2015.
- [25] K. Huang and V. K. N. Lau, "Enabling wireless power transfer in cellular networks: Architecture, modeling and deployment," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 902–912, February 2014.
- [26] I.-J. Yoon, "Wireless power transfer in the radiating near-field region," in 2015 USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting (Joint with AP-S Symposium). IEEE, 2015, pp. 344–344.
- [27] R. C. Johnson, H. A. Ecker, and J. S. Hollis, "Determination of far-field antenna patterns from near-field measurements," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 1668–1694, Dec 1973.
- [28] J. Guo, S. Durrani, X. Zhou, and H. Yanikomeroglu, "Outage probability of ad hoc networks with wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 409–412, Aug 2015.
- [29] J. Xu and R. Zhang, "Energy beamforming with one-bit feedback," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 62, no. 20, pp. 5370–5381, Oct 2014.
- [30] Z. Wang, L. Duan, and R. Zhang, "Adaptively directional wireless power transfer for largescale sensor networks," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 1785–1800, May 2016.
- [31] S. Bi, Y. Zeng, and R. Zhang, "Wireless powered communication networks: an overview," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 10–18, April 2016.
- [32] W. Zhang, Y. Qin, W. Zhao, M. Jia, Q. Liu, R. He, and B. Ai, "A green paradigm for internet of things: Ambient backscatter communications," *China Communications*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 109–119, 2019.

- [33] H. Ju and R. Zhang, "Throughput maximization in wireless powered communication networks," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 418–428, January 2014.
- [34] —, "Optimal resource allocation in full-duplex wireless-powered communication network," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 62, no. 10, pp. 3528–3540, Oct 2014.
- [35] H. Lim and T. Hwang, "User-centric energy efficiency optimization for miso wireless powered communications," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 864–878, 2019.
- [36] J. Seo and J. H. Lee, "Energy beamforming for full-duplex wireless powered communication in presence of eavesdropper," in 2017 IEEE 86th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC-Fall), Sep. 2017, pp. 1–5.
- [37] N. Van Huynh, D. T. Hoang, X. Lu, D. Niyato, P. Wang, and D. I. Kim, "Ambient backscatter communications: A contemporary survey," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 2889–2922, 2018.
- [38] P. Ramezani and A. Jamalipour, "Optimal resource allocation in backscatter assisted wpcn with practical energy harvesting model," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 12406–12410, 2019.
- [39] B. Clerckx, Z. Bayani Zawawi, and K. Huang, "Wirelessly powered backscatter communications: Waveform design and snr-energy tradeoff," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 2234–2237, 2017.
- [40] K. Han and K. Huang, "Wirelessly powered backscatter communication networks: Modeling, coverage, and capacity," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 2548–2561, 2017.
- [41] C. Boyer and S. Roy, "— invited paper backscatter communication and rfid: Coding, energy, and mimo analysis," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 770–785, 2014.
- [42] R. Zhang and C. K. Ho, "Mimo broadcasting for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," in 2011 IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference - GLOBECOM 2011, 2011, pp. 1–5.
- [43] I. Krikidis, S. Sasaki, S. Timotheou, and Z. Ding, "A low complexity antenna switching for joint wireless information and energy transfer in mimo relay channels," *IEEE Transactions* on Communications, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 1577–1587, 2014.

- [44] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Robust beamforming for secure communication in systems with wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 4599–4615, 2014.
- [45] W. Lu, Y. Gong, J. Wu, H. Peng, and J. Hua, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer based on joint subcarrier and power allocation in ofdm systems," *IEEEAccess*, vol. 5, pp. 2763–2770, 2017.
- [46] W. Lu, S. Fang, S. Hu, X. Liu, B. Li, Z. Na, and Y. Gong, "Energy efficiency optimization for ofdm based 5g wireless networks with simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 75937–75946, 2018.
- [47] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Energy-efficient resource allocation in multiuser ofdm systems with wireless information and power transfer," in 2013 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC), April 2013, pp. 3823–3828.
- [48] K. Huang and E. Larsson, "Simultaneous information and power transfer for broadband wireless systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 61, no. 23, pp. 5972–5986, Dec 2013.
- [49] X. Zhou, R. Zhang, and C. K. Ho, "Wireless information and power transfer in multiuser ofdm systems," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 2282– 2294, April 2014.
- [50] D. Xu and H. Zhu, "Outage minimized resource allocation for multiuser ofdm systems with swipt," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 79714–79725, 2019.
- [51] H. Yu, S. Guo, Y. Yang, L. Ji, and Y. Yang, "Secrecy energy efficiency optimization for downlink two-user ofdma networks with swipt," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 324–335, 2019.
- [52] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Wireless information and power transfer: Energy efficiency optimization in ofdma systems," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 6352–6370, December 2013.
- [53] E. Hossain, D. Niyato, and Z. Han, Dynamic spectrum access and management in cognitive radio networks. Cambridge university press, 2009.
- [54] X. Lu, P. Wang, D. Niyato, and E. Hossain, "Dynamic spectrum access in cognitive radio networks with rf energy harvesting," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 102–110, June 2014.
- [55] A. Celik, A. Alsharoa, and A. E. Kamal, "Hybrid energy harvesting cooperative spectrum sensing in heterogeneous crns," in 2016 IEEE Globecom Workshops (GC Wkshps), 2016, pp. 1–6.

- [56] K. Zheng, X. Liu, Y. Zhu, K. Chi, and K. Liu, "Total throughput maximization of cooperative cognitive radio networks with energy harvesting," IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 533–546, 2020.
- [57] L. Ni, X. Da, H. Hu, M. Zhang, and K. Cumanan, "Outage constrained robust secrecy energy efficiency maximization for eh cognitive radio networks," IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 363–366, 2020.
- [58] H. Lei, M. Xu, H. Zhang, G. Pan, I. S. Ansari, and K. A. Qaraqe, "Secrecy outage performance for underlay mimo crns with energy harvesting and transmit antenna selection," in 2016 IEEE Globecom Workshops (GC Wkshps), 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [59] H. Lei, M. Xu, I. S. Ansari, G. Pan, K. A. Qaraqe, and M. Alouini, "On secure underlay mimo cognitive radio networks with energy harvesting and transmit antenna selection," *IEEE Transactions on Green Communications and Networking*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 192–203, 2017.
- [60] Z. Ali, G. A. S. Sidhu, M. Waqas, L. Xing, and F. Gao, "A joint optimization framework for energy harvesting based cooperative cr networks," IEEE Transactions on Cognitive Communications and Networking, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 452–462, 2019.
- [61] C. Xu, M. Zheng, W. Liang, H. Yu, and Y. Liang, "End-to-end throughput maximization for underlay multi-hop cognitive radio networks with rf energy harvesting," IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 3561-3572, 2017.
- [62] Z. Hu, N. Wei, and Z. Zhang, "Optimal resource allocation for harvested energy maximization in wideband cognitive radio network with swipt," IEEE Access, vol. 5, pp. 23383-23 394, 2017.
- [63] M. Peng, Y. Liu, D. Wei, W. Wang, and H. Chen, "Hierarchical cooperative relay based heterogeneous networks," IEEE Wireless Communications, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 48–56, June 2011.
- [64] M. A. Hossain, R. Md Noor, K. A. Yau, I. Ahmedy, and S. S. Anjum, "A survey on simultaneous wireless information and power transfer with cooperative relay and future challenges," IEEE Access, vol. 7, pp. 19166–19198, 2019.
- [65] Y. Zeng, H. Chen, and R. Zhang, "Bidirectional wireless information and power transfer with a helping relay," IEEE Communications Letters, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 862–865, May 2016.
- [66] Z. Chen, P. Xu, Z. Ding, and X. Dai, "Cooperative transmission in simultaneous wireless information and power transfer networks," IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 8710-8715, 2016.

112

- [67] Z. Ding, I. Krikidis, B. Sharif, and H. V. Poor, "Wireless information and power transfer in cooperative networks with spatially random relays," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 4440–4453, 2014.
- [68] Y. Liu, "Wireless information and power transfer for multirelay-assisted cooperative communication," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 784–787, 2016.
- [69] S. Guo, X. Zhou, and X. Zhou, "Energy-efficient resource allocation in swipt cooperative wireless networks," *IEEE Systems Journal*, pp. 1–12, 2020.
- [70] Y. Liu, "Joint resource allocation in swipt-based multiantenna decode-and-forward relay networks," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 66, no. 10, pp. 9192–9200, 2017.
- [71] S. Gautam, E. Lagunas, S. K. Sharma, S. Chatzinotas, and B. Ottersten, "Relay selection strategies for swipt-enabled cooperative wireless systems," in 2017 IEEE 28th Annual International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), 2017, pp. 1–7.
- [72] S. Gautam, E. Lagunas, S. Chatzinotas, and B. Ottersten, "Relay selection and resource allocation for swipt in multi-user ofdma systems," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 2493–2508, 2019.
- [73] N. Chiurtu, B. Rimoldi, and E. Telatar, "On the capacity of multi-antenna gaussian channels," in *Proceedings. 2001 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory (IEEE Cat. No.01CH37252)*, 2001, pp. 53–.
- [74] S. Luo, J. Xu, T. J. Lim, and R. Zhang, "Capacity region of miso broadcast channel for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 63, no. 10, pp. 3856–3868, Oct 2015.
- [75] H. Liu, Y. Peng, D. Wang, X. Ma, Y. Yang, Y. Wu, and C. Zhang, "On optimizing power allocation and power splitting for miso swipt systems with heterogeneous users," in 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Communications Workshops (INFOCOM WKSHPS), 2017, pp. 577–582.
- [76] A. A. Okandeji, M. R. A. Khandaker, K. Wong, G. Zheng, Y. Zhang, Z. Zheng, and R. Liu, "Swipt in miso full-duplex systems," *Journal of Communications and Networks*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 470–480, 2017.
- [77] S. Wang, L. Ma, and Y. Xu, "A novel beamforming design for transmission power minimization in swipt system," in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), 2018, pp. 1–6.

- [78] H. Lee, K. Lee, H. Kim, and I. Lee, "Joint transceiver optimization for miso swipt systems with time switching," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 3298–3312, 2018.
- [79] Y. Dong, M. J. Hossaini, J. Cheng, and V. C. M. Leung, "Robust energy efficient beamforming in misome-swipt systems with proportional secrecy rate," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 202–215, 2019.
- [80] R. Zhang and C. K. Ho, "Mimo broadcasting for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1989– 2001, 2013.
- [81] K. Xiong, B. Wang, and K. J. R. Liu, "Rate-energy region of swipt for mimo broadcasting under nonlinear energy harvesting model," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 5147–5161, 2017.
- [82] W. Wang, L. Li, Q. Sun, and J. Jin, "Power allocation in multiuser mimo systems for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," in 2013 IEEE 78th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Fall), 2013, pp. 1–5.
- [83] S. Zhao, Q. Li, Q. Zhang, and J. Qin, "Antenna selection for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in mimo systems," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 789–792, 2014.
- [84] J. Rubio, A. Pascual-Iserte, D. P. Palomar, and A. Goldsmith, "Joint optimization of power and data transfer in multiuser mimo systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 212–227, 2017.
- [85] B. Fang, Z. Qian, W. Zhong, and W. Shao, "An-aided secrecy precoding for swipt in cognitive mimo broadcast channels," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 1632–1635, 2015.
- [86] C. Song, C. Ling, J. Park, and B. Clerckx, "Mimo broadcasting for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer: Weighted mmse approaches," in 2014 IEEE Globecom Workshops (GC Wkshps), 2014, pp. 1151–1156.
- [87] X. Wang, W. Feng, Y. Chen, Z. Chu, and N. Ge, "Energy-efficiency maximization for secure multiuser mimo swipt systems with csi uncertainty," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 2097–2109, 2018.
- [88] J. Tang, D. K. C. So, N. Zhao, A. Shojaeifard, and K. Wong, "Energy efficiency optimization with swipt in mimo broadcast channels for internet of things," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 2605–2619, 2018.
- [89] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe, *Convex optimization*. Cambridge university press, 2004.

- [90] C. Goh, Duality in optimization and variational inequalities. CRC Press, 2002.
- [91] R. T. Rockafellar, Conjugate duality and optimization. Siam, 1974, vol. 16.
- [92] Y. Sun, P. Babu, and D. P. Palomar, "Majorization-minimization algorithms in signal processing, communications, and machine learning," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 794–816, Feb 2017.
- [93] L. J. Hong, Y. Yang, and L. Zhang, "Sequential convex approximations to joint chance constrained programs: A monte carlo approach," *Operations Research*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 617–630, 2011.
- [94] A. L. Yuille and A. Rangarajan, "The concave-convex procedure," Neural computation, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 915–936, 2003.
- [95] M. Razaviyayn, "Successive convex approximation: analysis and applications," Ph.D. dissertation, University of Minnesota, 2014.
- [96] B. R. Marks and G. P. Wright, "A general inner approximation algorithm for nonconvex mathematical programs," *Operations research*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 681–683, 1978.
- [97] Q. T. Dinh and M. Diehl, "Local convergence of sequential convex programming for nonconvex optimization," in *Recent Advances in Optimization and its Applications in Engineering*. Springer, 2010, pp. 93–102.
- [98] M. Sinaie, P. Lin, A. Zappone, P. Azmi, and E. A. Jorswieck, "Delay-aware resource allocation for 5g wireless networks with wireless power transfer," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 67, no. 7, pp. 5841–5855, July 2018.
- [99] M. Konstantinos, A. Adamis, and P. Constantinou, "Receiver architectures for ofdma systems with subband carrier allocation," in 2008 14th European Wireless Conference, 2008, pp. 1–7.
- [100] M. R. Bussieck and S. Vigerske, "MINLP solver software," Wiley encyclopedia of operations research and management science, 2010.
- [101] D. T. Ngo, S. Khakurel, and T. Le-Ngoc, "Joint subchannel assignment and power allocation for OFDMA femtocell networks," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 342–355, Jan. 2014.
- [102] Y. Shen, X. Huang, B. Yang, and S. Wang, "Alternate convex search method for resource allocation in OFDMA AF relay networks with energy harvesting," in *Proc. ICCC*, Shenzhen, China, pp. 1-6, Nov. 2015.

- [103] M. F. Hanif, Z. Ding, T. Ratnarajah, and G. K. Karagiannidis, "A minorizationmaximization method for optimizing sum rate in the downlink of non-orthogonal multiple access systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 76–88, Jan 2016.
- [104] T. Wang and L. Vandendorpe, "Iterative resource allocation for maximizing weighted sum min-rate in downlink cellular ofdma systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 223–234, Jan. 2011.
- [105] J. Lee and S. Leyffer, Mixed integer nonlinear programming. Springer Science & Business Media, 2011, vol. 154.
- [106] A. Khalili, M. R. Mili, M. Rasti, S. Parsaeefard, and D. W. K. Ng, "Antenna selection strategy for energy efficiency maximization in uplink ofdma networks: A multi-objective approach," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, pp. 1–1, 2019.
- [107] E. Che, H. D. Tuan, and H. H. Nguyen, "Joint optimization of cooperative beamforming and relay assignment in multi-user wireless relay networks," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 5481–5495, 2014.
- [108] H. H. Kha, H. D. Tuan, and H. H. Nguyen, "Fast global optimal power allocation in wireless networks by local d.c. programming," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 510–515, February 2012.
- [109] A. Khalili, S. Zarandi, and M. Rasti, "Joint resource allocation and offloading decision in mobile edge computing," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 684–687, April 2019.
- [110] J. B. Andersen, T. S. Rappaport, and S. Yoshida, "Propagation measurements and models for wireless communications channels," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 42–49, 1995.
- [111] 3GPP, "Further advancements for E-UTRA physical layer aspect," 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP), Technical Specification (TS) 36.814, 2010, v9.0.0.
- [112] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Energy-efficient resource allocation in multi-cell ofdma systems with limited backhaul capacity," in 2012 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC), April 2012, pp. 1146–1151.
- [113] Y. Kim, B. C. Jung, I. Bang, and Y. Han, "Adaptive proportional fairness scheduling for swipt-enabled multicell downlink networks," in 2019 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC), April 2019, pp. 1–6.

- [114] S. Jang, H. Lee, S. Kang, T. Oh, and I. Lee, "Energy efficient beamforming for multi-cell miso swipt systems," in 2018 IEEE 88th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC-Fall), Aug 2018.
- [115] A. A. Nasir, D. T. Ngo, H. D. Tuan, S. Durrani, and D. I. Kim, "Secure beamforming for max-min sinr in multi-cell swipt systems," in 2016 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference Workshops (WCNCW), April 2016, pp. 404–409.
- [116] K. Lange, MM Optimization Algorithms. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics Philadelphia, 2016.
- [117] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Energy-efficient resource allocation in multi-cell ofdma systems with limited backhaul capacity," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 3618–3631, 2012.
- [118] L. Zheng and C. W. Tan, "Maximizing sum rates in cognitive radio networks: Convex relaxation and global optimization algorithms," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 667–680, Mar. 2014.
- [119] H. Zhang, C. Jiang, N. C. Beaulieu, X. Chu, X. Wen, and M. Tao, "Resource allocation in spectrum-sharing ofdma femtocells with heterogeneous services," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 62, no. 7, pp. 2366–2377, 2014.
- [120] D. Tse and P. Viswanath, Fundamentals of Wireless Communication. Cambridge university press, 2005.
- [121] Wei Yu and J. M. Cioffi, "FDMA capacity of gaussian multiple-access channels with ISI," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 102–111, Jan 2002.
- [122] J. Jalali, A. Khalili, and H. Steendam, "Antenna selection and resource allocation in downlink miso ofdma femtocell networks," *Accepted for presentation in IEEE VTC Spring*, 2020.
- [123] S. Zhao, Q. Li, Q. Zhang, and J. Qin, "Antenna selection for simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in MIMO systems," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 789–792, May 2014.
- [124] Z. Ding, C. Zhong, D. Wing Kwan Ng, M. Peng, H. A. Suraweera, R. Schober, and H. V. Poor, "Application of smart antenna technologies in simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 86–93, April 2015.
- [125] M. Sandell and J. Coon, "Performance of combined bulk and per-tone antenna selection precoding in coded ofdm systems," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 655–660, 2012.

- [126] N. P. Le, F. Safaei, and L. C. Tran, "Antenna selection strategies for mimo-ofdm wireless systems: An energy efficiency perspective," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 2048–2062, April 2016.
- [127] N. B. Mehta, S. Kashyap, and A. F. Molisch, "Antenna selection in lte: from motivation to specification," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 144–150, 2012.
- [128] E. Hossain, M. Rasti, H. Tabassum, and A. Abdelnasser, "Evolution toward 5g multitier cellular wireless networks: An interference management perspective," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 118–127, 2014.
- [129] W. Dinkelbach, "On nonlinear fractional programming," *Management science*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 492–498, 1967.
- [130] A. Khalili, S. Akhlaghi, H. Tabassum, and D. W. K. Ng, "Joint user association and resource allocation in the uplink of heterogeneous networks," *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, pp. 1–1, 2020.
- [131] J. Zeng, T. Lv, R. P. Liu, X. Su, M. Peng, C. Wang, and J. Mei, "Investigation on evolving single-carrier noma into multi-carrier noma in 5g," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 48268–48288, 2018.
- [132] H. Zhang, M. Feng, K. Long, G. K. Karagiannidis, V. C. M. Leung, and H. V. Poor, "Energy efficient resource management in swipt enabled heterogeneous networks with noma," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 835–845, 2020.
- [133] J. Jalali and A. Khalili, "Optimal resource allocation for mc-noma in swipt-enabled networks," *IEEE Commun. Lett, Early Access*, June 2020.
- [134] E. G. Larsson, O. Edfors, F. Tufvesson, and T. L. Marzetta, "Massive mimo for next generation wireless systems," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 186– 195, 2014.
- [135] A. L. Swindlehurst, E. Ayanoglu, P. Heydari, and F. Capolino, "Millimeter-wave massive mimo: the next wireless revolution?" *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 56–62, 2014.
- [136] J. G. Andrews, T. Bai, M. N. Kulkarni, A. Alkhateeb, A. K. Gupta, and R. W. Heath, "Modeling and analyzing millimeter wave cellular systems," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 403–430, 2017.
- [137] T. A. Khan, A. Alkhateeb, and R. W. Heath, "Millimeter wave energy harvesting," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 6048–6062, 2016.

- [138] W. Hao, G. Sun, Z. Chu, P. Xiao, Z. Zhu, S. Yang, and R. Tafazolli, "Beamforming design in swipt-based joint multicast-unicast mmwave massive mimo with lens-antenna array," *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1124–1128, 2019.
- [139] F. Zhu, F. Gao, Y. C. Eldar, and G. Qian, "Robust simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in beamspace massive mimo," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 18, no. 9, pp. 4199–4212, 2019.
- [140] W. Hao, G. Sun, F. Zhou, D. Mi, J. Shi, P. Xiao, and V. C. M. Leung, "Energy-efficient hybrid precoding design for integrated multicast-unicast millimeter wave communications with swipt," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 68, no. 11, pp. 10956–10968, 2019.
- [141] L. Dai, B. Wang, M. Peng, and S. Chen, "Hybrid precoding-based millimeter-wave massive mimo-noma with simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 131–141, 2019.
- [142] M. Alageli, A. Ikhlef, F. Alsifiany, M. A. M. Abdullah, G. Chen, and J. Chambers, "Optimal downlink transmission for cell-free swipt massive mimo systems with active eavesdropping," *IEEE Transactions on Information Forensics and Security*, vol. 15, pp. 1983–1998, 2020.
- [143] X. Wang and M. C. Gursoy, "Coverage analysis for energy-harvesting uav-assisted mmwave cellular networks," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 2832–2850, 2019.
- [144] D. N. K. Jayakody, T. D. P. Perera, A. Ghrayeb, and M. O. Hasna, "Self-energized uavassisted scheme for cooperative wireless relay networks," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 578–592, 2020.
- [145] S. Yin, Y. Zhao, L. Li, and F. R. Yu, "Uav-assisted cooperative communications with time-sharing information and power transfer," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 1554–1567, 2020.
- [146] X. Sun, W. Yang, and Y. Cai, "Secure communication in noma-assisted millimeter-wave swipt uav networks," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1884–1897, 2020.
- [147] Z. Yang, W. Xu, and M. Shikh-Bahaei, "Energy efficient uav communication with energy harvesting," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 1913–1927, 2020.
- [148] J. Kang and C. Chun, "Joint trajectory design, tx power allocation, and rx power splitting for uav-enabled multicasting swipt systems," *IEEE Systems Journal*, pp. 1–4, 2020.

- [149] X. Wang, M. C. Gursoy, and I. Guvenc, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in uav-assisted cellular iot networks," in 2020 IEEE 17th Annual Consumer Communications Networking Conference (CCNC), 2020, pp. 1–6.
- [150] Y. Mao, C. You, J. Zhang, K. Huang, and K. B. Letaief, "A survey on mobile edge computing: The communication perspective," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 2322–2358, 2017.
- [151] H. Zheng, K. Xiong, P. Fan, Z. Zhong, and K. B. Letaief, "Fog-assisted multiuser swipt networks: Local computing or offloading," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 5246–5264, 2019.
- [152] J. Liu, K. Xiong, P. Fan, Z. Zhong, and K. B. Letaief, "Optimal design of swipt-aware fog computing networks," in *IEEE INFOCOM 2019 - IEEE Conference on Computer Communications Workshops (INFOCOM WKSHPS)*, 2019, pp. 13–19.
- [153] A. I. Akin, H. Mirghasemi, and L. Vandendorpe, "Swipt-based mobile edge computing systems: A stochastic geometry perspective," in 2019 IEEE 30th Annual International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), 2019, pp. 1–7.
- [154] F. Chen, J. Fu, Z. Wang, Y. Zhou, and W. Qiu, "Joint communication and computation resource optimization in fd-mec cellular networks," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 168444–168454, 2019.
- [155] P. Cai, F. Yang, J. Wang, X. Wu, Y. Yang, and X. Luo, "Jote: Joint offloading of tasks and energy in fog-enabled iot networks," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, pp. 1–1, 2020.
- [156] J. Fu, J. Hua, J. Wen, H. Chen, W. Lu, and J. Li, "Optimization of energy consumption in the mec-assisted multi-user fd-swipt system," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 21345–21354, 2020.
- [157] J. Fu, J. Hua, J. Wen, K. Zhou, J. Li, and B. Sheng, "Optimization of achievable rate in the multi-user satellite iot system with swipt and mec," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, pp. 1–1, 2020.
